
 

 

MEETING: Planning Regulatory Board 

DATE: Tuesday, 20 October 2020 

TIME: 2.00 pm 

VENUE: VIRTUAL VIA CONNECT REMOTE 

 
AGENDA 
 
1.   Declarations of Interest   

 
To receive any declarations of pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest from Members 
in relation to items on the agenda.  
 

2.   Minutes  (Pages 3 - 4) 
 
To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 1st September 2020 
 

Planning Applications  
 
Any planning applications which are to be the subject of individual representation(s) at the 
meeting will be dealt with prior to any other applications. 
 
If you have any queries in respect of the planning applications included within this pack, or if you 
would like to register to speak at the meeting, please contact the Planning Department directly at 
developmentmanagement@barnsley.gov.uk or by telephoning (01226) 772593. 
 
3.   Land to the west of Sheffield Road, Hoyland, Barnsley - 2020/0647 - For approval   

 
4.   Mount Vernon Hospital Mount Vernon Road, Worsborough - 2019/0577 - For 

approval  (Pages 5 - 20) 
 

Enforcement 
 
5.   Proposed Listed Building Enforcement (Repairs) Notice, Worsbrough Hall, 

Worsbrough Village  (Pages 21 - 58) 
 

Planning Appeals 
 
6.   Planning Appeals - August and September 2020  (Pages 59 - 64) 

 
Consultations 
 
7.   Member Consultations September 2020  (Pages 65 - 66) 

 
 
 
To: Chair and Members of Planning Regulatory Board:- 
 

Councillors Richardson (Chair), T. Cave, Danforth, Eastwood, Fielding, Frost, Gillis, 
Gollick, Green, Greenhough, David Griffin, Hand-Davis, Hayward, Higginbottom, 
Leech, Makinson, Markham, McCarthy, Mitchell, Noble, Phillips, Smith, Spence, 
Stowe and Wright 
 
Matt Gladstone, Executive Director Place 

Public Document Pack

mailto:developmentmanagement@barnsley.gov.uk


 

Paul Castle, Service Director Environment and Transport 
Joe Jenkinson, Head of Planning and Building Control 
Matthew Smith, Group Leader, Development Control 
Andrew Burton, Group Leader (Inner Area), Development Management 
Bob Power, Senior Legal Officer (Locum) 
 
Parish Councils 

 
Please contact Elizabeth Barnard on email governance@barnsley.gov.uk 
 
Monday, 12 October 2020 
 



 

MEETING: Planning Regulatory Board 

DATE: Tuesday, 1 September 2020 

TIME: 2.00 pm 

VENUE: THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD 
VIRTUALLY 

 

 
1 

 
MINUTES  
 
Present  Councillors Richardson (Chair), T. Cave, Danforth, 

Eastwood, Fielding, Frost, Gillis, Green, Greenhough, 
Hayward, Higginbottom, Leech, McCarthy, Mitchell, 
Noble, Phillips, Smith, Spence, Stowe and Wright  
 

  
  
 

1. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of Pecuniary/Non-Pecuniary interests with regard to any 
of the items on the agenda.   
 

2. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 28th July 2020 were taken as read and signed by 
the Chair as a correct record. 
 

3. Land at Higham Lane/Capitol Close and Whinby Road, Barnsley - 2020/0040 - 
For Approval  
 
The Head of Planning and Building Control submitted a report on Planning 
Application 2020/0040 - Land at Higham Lane/Capitol Close and Whinby Road, 
Barnsley. 
 
RESOLVED that the application be approved in accordance with the Officer 
recommendation, subject to the conditions in the report and the imposition of the 
additional conditions reported verbally at the meeting, including a barrier to prevent 
traffic utilising the Capitol Close arm of the roundabout until the Claycliffe Link Road 
has been brought into use, amendment to condition 3 to include construction working 
times and a pre and post development highway condition survey. 
 

4. Land off St Michaels Avenue, Monk Bretton, Barnsley - 2019/1546 - For 
Approval  
 
The Head of Planning and Building Control submitted a report in respect of Planning 
Application 2019/1546 - Land off St Michaels Avenue, Monk Bretton, Barnsley 
 
A statement was read out to the Board from Ms Rachel Stewart, which opposed the 
Officer recommendation to approve the application. 
 
RESOLVED that the planning application be approved in accordance with the Officer 
recommendation.  The approval is subject to additional conditions being in place to 
ensure the planning obligations outlined in the report are delivered. 

Page 3



 
2 

 
5. Member Planning Consultations July 2020  

 
The Head of Planning and Building Control presented a report summarising the 
outcomes of the planning applications agenda pack issued as a Board Member 
consultation in lieu of the Planning Regulatory Board meeting held on 28th July 2020. 
  
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 

6. Planning Appeals - 1st to 31st July 2020  
 
The Head of Planning and Building Control submitted an update regarding 
cumulative appeal totals for 2020/21. 
  
The report indicated that one appeal was received in July 2020.   
  
No appeals were withdrawn in July 2020 and 3 appeals were decided in July 2020.  It 
was reported that 9 appeals have been decided since 1st April 2020 , 9 of which 
(100%) have been dismissed and none of which have been allowed. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

------------------------------------------ 
Chair 

 
 

Page 4



Ref 2020/0647 
 
Applicant: Mr G Pardoe/Newlands Developments Ltd 
 
Description: Hybrid planning application for a development up to 103,086sqm of employment 
uses (use classes B1/B2 and B8) and associated works including access roads, drainage 
and landscaping, a) Outline seeking approval over means of access and scale across 2 
development plots (plots 2&3) of up to 71,515sqm floorspace; and b) full application for the 
development of plot 1 (31,571 sqm floorspace for use B8), associated earthworks and 
creation of access points including new roundabout to link with Hoyland south Masterplan 
Area (Local Plan references HS68, HS65, HS61, HS58,HS6, SL5) 
 
Site Address: Land to the west of Sheffield Road, Hoyland, Barnsley 

 
96 representations have been received from local residents. 
 
Site Description 
 
The site lies immediately to the south of Junction 36 of the M1, the centre of Hoyland is 
approximately 1.5 km away with public transport along Tankersley Lane and Hoyland Road.  
Hoyland Common Primary school lies just outside the site on the north-eastern edge.  The 
site is former colliery land and the majority is in agricultural use with some hedgerows and 
trees.  The site also incorporates part of the Rockingham Sports Ground field currently used 
for football and archery, which is proposed to be relocated. 
 
The site is 53.5 hectares in extent and has an irregular elongated shape abutting the M1 to 
the west along its longest boundary.  The northern end adjoins the roundabout system that 
links the Dearne Valley Parkway and the M1 roundabout at J36.  Tankersley Lane runs east-
west through the site with the dwellings on Tankersley Lane lying just outside the site 
boundary.  The site extends south to abut Bellground Wood and east to Sheffield Road 
(A6135).  A small southern extension to the south will provide an attenuation pond. 
 
Topography is undulating with a high point in the north east  and middle of the site of 
approximately 150mAOD falling to 120mAOD in the southwest.  Potter Holes Local Nature 
Reserve (LNR) is designated for recreation within semi-natural and replanted woodland and 
lies approximately 540m west of the site and Elsecar Reservoir LNR is designated for 

recreation within Willow Carr and wetland and lies approximately 1.8km east of the site. 
 
There are several listed buildings within close vicinity of the site within Tankersley, Birdwell 
and Hoyland. This includes Grade ll* listed St Peter’s Church, Tankersley, along with a 
Grade ll listed sundial and mounting platform within the grounds; Dovecote at Glebe Farm to 
the north along Tankersley Lane approximately 0.25-0.3km away respectively. Within 
Birdwell there are three Grade ll listed buildings within close proximity to the Site. Stone Bar 
Farmhouse with Attached Stable and Barn (0.2km from Site), Tankersley Mine Rescue 
Station (0.4km from Site) and Birdwell Obelisk (0.5km from Site). The closest Grade ll listed 
building within Hoyland is the Church of St Peter which is 1km away. To the south of the site 
is a Milepost along Sheffield Road, Tankersley Old Hall and Old Hall Farmhouse and the 
Cottage approximately 0.4km from Site. 
 
The site would be accessed via a new access road from Birdwell Roundabout at Junction 36 
of the M1 and lies southwest of the Hoyland North masterplan area.   Planning permission 
has recently been granted for employment under 2019/1573 for 38.5 ha land lying to the 
north and south of Dearne Valley Parkway. The site also lies immediately to the west of the 
Hoyland South Masterplan Framework area of the Local Plan. 

Page 5

Item 3



Planning History 
 
No directly relevant planning application history but the Hoyland West Masterplan 
Framework covers the site and was recently adopted by the Council. 
 
Proposed Development 
 
A hybrid application has been submitted for the site covering 53.42 ha for the following: 
 

 Outline with all matters reserved, apart from means of access for up to 71,515 sq.m 
of employment uses (B1, B2, B8).  A parameters plan has been submitted which 
proposes maximum building heights on plots 2 and 3 up to 18m  Although only in 
outline at this stage, plot 2 shows a building of 46,154 sqm (496,800 sqft) in size with 
parking for 35 cars, 120 HGV’s and 64 loading docks. 

 

 Full application proposed for cut/fill earthworks to provide development platforms, a 
new link road from Sheffield Road south of Parkside Road to the J36 gyratory and  
linking with the Hoyland South Masterplan area, (Local Plan references HS68, HS65, 
HS61, HS58,HS6, SL5) including pedestrian refuges and bus stop locations.  This 
would be part funded by the Sheffield City Region Investment Fund. 
 

 Full planning permission for a new distribution centre (Plot 1) of 31,571 sq.m (use 
class B8 - Hermes), drainage infrastructure, and landscaping.  This is proposed to be 
a maximum height 16.4 metres (12.5 to underside of haunch and 15m to parapet), 
370m long and 75m wide.  Offices at the south end would be 3 storeys high and be 
of grey and blue.  There would be parking for 650 cars and 595 HGV’s (with 163 
loading docks) with cycles, motorbike and accessible spaces.  34 EV charging points 
and ducting for a further 130 together with designated car share spaces.   

 
The proposed earthworks and site infrastructure include the following: 
 

 Bulk earthworks to form three development platforms 

 Creation of a surface water attenuation pond 

 Site wide surface water drainage linking the attenuation pond to the development 
platforms 

 Site wide foul sewer including a foul sewer pumping station 

 Construction of a Link Road between Birdwell Roundabout and Sheffield Road 

 Construction of a new roundabout on Sheffield Road 

 Reconfiguration of Tankersley Lane junction 

 Site wide Infrastructure Landscaping 
 

The proposal is expected to generate over 2000 new job in total with 500 permanent jobs 
with a further 800 temporary/agency jobs at the proposed Hermes Distribution Centre on 
Plot 1, which would be operational 24 hours a day probably working 3 shifts.  Of the 500 
permanent jobs to be created (112 jobs) 22% will be management/team leader roles with a 
salary of between £23K and £80K.  
 
A draft S106 Heads of Terms for a s106 agreement has been submitted covering: 
 

1. To reconfigure the remaining area of Rockingham Sports Ground, including turning 
the football pitch through 90 degrees 

2. To provide a replacement sports facility at land south of Parkside Road as per the 
specification approved through a separate planning application (as well as commuted 
sums for seeding and initial maintenance) or, if planning permission is not 

Page 6



forthcoming, to provide a commuted sum of £850k to be used by the Council to 
create a replacement facility.  

3. Biodiversity offsetting measures required to achieve 10% net biodiversity gain.  This 
includes land to the south west of the site close to the motorway and land close to 
Broomhill Flash. 

 
The proposed development is EIA development and is accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement, together with a comprehensive list of supporting documents and plans. 
 
Policy Context 
 
Planning decisions should be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Local Plan was adopted by the Council in 
January 2019 and the Council has also adopted a series of Supplementary Planning 
Documents and the Hoyland West Masterplan Framework, which are other material 
considerations. 
 
The Local Plan 
 
Site Specific Policy ES13  
 
The development will be subject to the production of a Masterplan Framework including 
housing site reference HS57. The development will be expected to: 
 

 Provide a link road between the new Birdwell roundabout linking to Tankersley Lane 
and from there to Sheffield Road; 

 Relocate the area of Rockingham Sports Ground that falls within the site boundary to 
an appropriate location within Hoyland Principal Town. The replacement pitch and 
associated facilities must be constructed and available for use before development 
on the existing sports ground site commences; 

 Consider impact on residential amenity and include appropriate mitigation where 
necessary; 

 Retain the mature trees and hedgerows; 

 Provide a buffer strip at least 10 metres wide along the common boundary with the 
M1; 

 Ensure that development respects the landscape and wider countryside, and 
incorporates appropriate mitigation measures to address impacts on the adjacent 
Green Belt and countryside, including the planting of a substantial tree belt at the 
southern boundary in order to define the new Green Belt boundary; 

 Undertake necessary drainage works; and 

 Provide air quality assessments in accordance with Policy Poll 1. 

 Archaeological remains are known/expected to be present on this site therefore 
proposals must be accompanied by an appropriate archaeological assessment 
(including a field evaluation if necessary) that must include the following: 

1. Information identifying the likely location and extent of the remains, and the 
nature of the remains; 

2. An assessment of the significance of the remains; and 
3. Consideration of how the remains would be affected by the proposed 

development. 
 

GD1 General Development – Proposals for development shall be approved if there will be no 
adverse effect. 
 

Page 7



SD1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development – Planning applications that accord 
with other relevant policies will be approved without delay. 
 
LG2 Location of Growth – Urban Barnsley is the highest priority location to accommodate 
growth in accordance with the adopted settlement hierarchy. 
 
Policy E3 (Uses on Employment Land) on allocated employment sites the Council will allow 
the following uses: research and development (B1b) and light industry (B1c); general 
industry (B2); or storage or distribution (B8). The supporting text to the policy advises that 
the provision of well-located employment land is key to the Borough’s future economic 
growth and it is therefore essential that both new employment land and land currently in use 
or last used for employment purposes, is protected and safeguarded from non-employment 
uses. 
 
Other relevant policies include:- 
 
CC1 - Climate Change 
CC2 - Sustainable design and Construction 
C3 - Flood Risk 
D1 - Design 
E1 - Providing Strategic Employment Locations 
E2 - The distribution of New Employment Sites 
E3 - Uses on Employment land’ 
T3 - New Development and Sustainable Travel 
T4 - New development and Transport Safety 
T5 - reducing the Impact of Road Travel 
D1 - High Quality Design and Place Making 
CC1 - Climate change 
CC2 - Sustainable Design and Construction 
CC3 - Flood Risk 
CC4 - SUDS 
GI - Green Infrastructure 
GS2 - Green ways and Public Rights of way 
Bio1 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
HE1 – The Historic Environment 
HE6 - Archaeology 
RE1 - Low Carbon and Renewable Energy 
CL1 - Contaminated and Unstable Land 
Poll1 - Pollution Control and Protection 
SD - Presumption in favour of Sustainable development 
I1 - Infrastructure and Planning Obligations 
 
Hoyland West Masterplan Framework 
 
The Hoyland West Masterplan Framework is relevant to the planning application. 
The masterplan was adopted on 24th September 2020 and covers the west of Hoyland, 
between Sheffield Road and M1, at Junction 36.  It consists of two allocated sites: ES13 
which will deliver 49.3 ha of Employment Land; and the HS57 site of 2.53 ha which will 
deliver approximately 101 dwellings and links to the Hoyland  South and Hoyland North 
Masterplan Framework areas of the Local Plan. 
 
The ambition for the Hoyland West Masterplan Framework area is to enable future 
sustainable, high-quality development on the western edge of Hoyland, that provides a 
pleasant environment in which to live and work. It includes: 
 

Page 8



 An alignment for the link road as well as a preferred solution for the junction with 
Tankersley Lane and a proposed roundabout further south on Sheffield Road to  
divert trips away from existing residential roads and provide direct connectivity to 
Hoyland South Masterplan Framework area. 
 

 A strategy for relocating Rockingham Sports Ground in phases. 
 

 Requires full visual assessments to be undertaken to ensure that careful 
consideration of building massing and ensure that building heights should be 
commensurate with proposed footprints  

 

 A requirement to provide a minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain 
 

 Promotes a naturalistic colour palette, requires substantial planting along access 
road and elsewhere on the site 

 

 Limits the amount of B8 use to plots 1 and 2 only and limits building heights 
 

 For the large sale employment sites, the masterplan requires efficient and logical 
arrangement of well-designed buildings, sustainable materials and introduction of 
green infrastructure and greenspace to soften the plots and assimilate the built form 
in its context.   

 

 A requirement for a network of accessible pedestrian and cycle routes along the new 
link road to link to existing public rights of way.  

 
The masterplan also recognises that even with mitigation in place, development of the site 
will result in unavoidable harm to landscape character given the need for the site to 
accommodate larger buildings that generate sufficient value to cover the extensive 
infrastructure costs. 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

 Parking 

 Residential amenity and the siting of buildings 

 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Sustainable Travel 

 Trees and Hedgerows 

 Planning Obligations 
 
NPPF 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies for 
England and how these are expected to be applied. At the heart is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. Development proposals that accord with the development plan 
should be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where the 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, permission should be 
granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework as a whole; or 
where specific policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted or unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that there are three objectives to achieve sustainable 
development: economic, social and environmental. 

Page 9



 
Paragraph 80 states that planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions 
in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on 
the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local 
business needs and wider opportunities for development. 
 
Paragraph 92 of the NPPF states that to provide the social, recreational and cultural 
facilities and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should (inter-
alia) ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and community facilities and services.  
 
Paragraph 97 states that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, 
including playing fields, should not be built on unless:  
 
a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings 
or land to be surplus to requirements; or  
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or  
c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of which 
clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused 
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 
Paragraph 122 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should support 
development that makes efficient use of land. 
 
Paragraph 124 of the NPPF makes specific reference to good design as a key aspect of 
sustainable development. 
 
Paragraph 163 states that when determining any planning applications, local planning 
authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, 
applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. 
 
Paragraph 170 states that planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by (inter-alia) preventing new and existing development 
from contributing to unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. 
The paragraph also states that decisions should minimise impacts on and provide net gains 
for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient 
to current and future pressures. 
 
Paragraph 174(b) states that plans should promote the conservation, restoration and 
enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery of 
priority species; and identify and pursue opportunities for securing measurable net gains for 
biodiversity. 
 
Consultations 
 
Air Quality – No objections subject to a condition  
 
Biodiversity – Satisfied 10% biodiversity net gain can be achieved through on and off-site 
proposals secured by way of planning conditions and a S106 agreement 
 
Barnsley Biodiversity Trust – Have sought clarity on how mitigation will be provided. 

Page 10



 
The Bishop of Sheffield -Concerned as to how parishioners will travel to church should 
Tankersley Lane be closed echoing the objection by Tankersley Parish Council (see below).   
 
Conservation Officer –  Concerned about the cumulative impact this development and 
Hoyland South will have on the historic landscape and the associated change in setting 
towards Wentworth.  Applicant needs to carefully consider elevation treatments that reduce 
visibility of units, especially Plot 2 
 
Coal Authority – No objection. 
 
Contaminated Land – No land contamination issues and so confirm that no conditions are 
required. 
 
Enterprising Barnsley – Support the application, which will bring many new jobs and 
significant investment into Barnsley. 
 
Forestry Officer – No objection subject to conditions  
 
Highways DC – There are no highway related objections to the proposed application subject 
to conditions 
 
Highway Drainage – No objection subject to conditions 
 
Highways England – No objection subject to conditions 
 
Historic England – No comments have been received. 
 
Miriam Cates MP – Has raised issues relating to the proposed closure of Tankersley Lane 
East consistent with the representations made by Tankersley Parish Council (see below) 
 
National Grid – No objection but developer should contact national Grid as there is 
apparatus in the site 
 
Pollution Control – Proposed mitigation for noise and dust is acceptable subject to conditions 
 
Public Rights of Way – No objections subject to a planning condition.  Temporary closure 
orders would be required and an informative is proposed. 
 
Urban Design Officer – Has made several suggestions for improving the design following the 
proposal being considered by the Design Panel.   
 
Rotherham MBC – No objections 
 
Sheffield City Council – No comments have been received. 
 
South Yorkshire Archaeology Service – No comments have been received  
 
South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive – No comments have been received 
 
South Yorkshire Police – Would wish to see the developed built to secured by design 
standards. 
 

Page 11



Sport England -   No objections subject to conditions and provisions in S106 relating to 
replacement sport facilities but a holding objection remains in place until a S106 agreement 
is signed. 
 
Superfast Broadband – No objection, subject to condition 
 
South Yorkshire Mining Advisory Service – No objection subject to condition 
 
Tankersley Parish Council - Object on a number of grounds consistent with their concerns 
regarding the Hoyland West Masterplan.  They are particularly opposed to closure of 
Tankersley Lane to the east of the junction with the proposed link road.  They deem a T 
junction to be unsafe and are concerned about possible rat running through Tankersley and 
Pilley by drivers looking to avoid the M1 J36 roundabout and queuing on the A61 
westbound.  They are strongly advocating a signal-controlled crossroad junction that would 
ban all movements other than ahead thus preventing drivers from turning onto Tankersley 
Lane from the proposed link road and vice versa.  In turn, this would maintain the existing 
vehicular link between Tankersley/Pilley and Hoyland Common rather than requiring drivers 
to detour up or down the proposed link road.  
 
Yorkshire Water – No objection subject to conditions 
 
Yorkshire Wildlife Trust – Have requested further retention/compensation/mitigation 
 
Ward Councillors – no comments received 
 
Representations 
 
The application was advertised by press notice, by five site notices and by 435 individual 
letters to neighbours and on the Councils website. Prior to the submission of the application 
the masterplan was also subject to a 6-week public consultation period. 
 
The Council is aware of a petition on the change.org  website.  The title of the petition is  
“Stop the mass building of Hoyland North/West & South Framework South Yorkshire and 
MyHermes”.  At the time of writing the report the petition has 1,722 signatures 
 
There have been 96 representations received at the time of writing the report, albeit some 
objectors made more than one representation and in a couple of instances more than one 
person in a dwelling made a representation.  Of these, over 20 object to the closure of 
Tankersley Lane to the east of the junction with the link road as per the objection by 
Tankersley Parish Council.  The other matters cited in representations were as follows: 
 

 Increase in traffic – this was considered to be an issue on the motorway gyratory 
which, objectors stated, is already congested, and also along Sheffield Road, 
increase in risk of accidents, particularly due to proximity of school 

 loss of green belt – although the site was previously allocated as green belt in the 
Unitary Development Plan, the site is now allocated for employment uses in the 
adopted Local Plan which has been through several public consultations and 
examination in Public by an Independent Inspector. 

 Pollution – in particular air pollution (from additional traffic) and including light 
pollution from a 24-hour operation  

 Loss of countryside and change of character from rural and residential area to 
industrial estate, including loss of country walks 

 Increase in noise pollution from vehicles, alarms, construction etc, with concerns 
about increases in night-time noise 

Page 12



 Location is not suitable – whilst objectors considered that employment uses are 
needed many considered it should be on the Dearne Valley Parkway or elsewhere, 
and that if it should be on Green Belt land then why not Cawthorne or Wentworth 
rather than Hoyland.  Other objectors considered that there are already empty 
employment/industrial buildings in the area which should be used first instead of 
building new ones.  

 The cumulative effect of development in the Hoyland area is unacceptable. 

 Poor quality jobs from storage and distribution uses. 

 Impact on local infrastructure such as schools, doctors, dentists etc 

 Closure of the recreation ground. 

 Masterplan process – a sizeable number of objectors raised concerns about the 
masterplan procedure including the Parish Council, concerns raised included 
publicity and the nature of public involvement, inadequate public consultation and 
that it is a “whitewash” .   

 A few objectors considered the sale of the development was too great and one 
considered the plot outlines on the plan are too large and should be smaller so easier 
to mitigate.  

 Objectors considered there would be an impact on public health including mental 
health and that people were losing their human rights. 

 Some objectors expressed concern about on-line public consultation only.  

 Comments were also made in relation to impact on house prices, that the Council is 
selling of this land to make money,  that the application should be supported as there 
is opposition by the community, drainage issues, and one objector had proposed 
suggestions including moving them to avoid visual impacts from the local dwellings, 
hipped roofs and green roofs. 

 
Assessment 
 
The Principle of Development 
 
The whole application site is designated for employment in the adopted Local Plan. As such 
the proposal is acceptable in principle, but consideration needs to be given to the 
aforementioned policy requirements and material planning considerations. The Hoyland 
West Masterplan is a material consideration. This, and other material considerations are 
discussed in more detail below. 
 
In considering the full application part of the proposal, significant engineering works in the 
form of cut and fill activities are proposed in order to achieve suitable development platforms 
for the employment uses. The proposed link road and access which is required as part of the 
masterplan and the site-specific plan policy are also part of the full application. Without these 
engineering works the land could not reasonably be utilised efficiently for employment uses 
due to significant level changes and the lack of existing accesses. It is likely that there would 
be temporary impacts whilst the engineering operations take place. Some negative weight 
must be attached to the consideration of this temporary impact which must be balanced 
against the benefits of the proposals.   
 
In considering the outline part of the application, the whole site is allocated for employment 
use, and the principle is therefore acceptable. If outline permission is granted, detailed 
proposals will follow in subsequent reserved matters applications. 
 
Having established that the principle is acceptable, it is therefore necessary to balance the 
beneficial of social, economic and environmental considerations and against adverse 
impacts that would arise from the proposal.  The main issues are therefore as follows: 
 

Page 13



 Economic impacts of the proposal 

 Proposed link road and associated highway works 

 Impact on Rockingham Sports Ground 

 Design and visual impact 

 Landscape impact 

 Impact on residential amenity 

 Climate change and sustainability considerations, including biodiversity 
 
There are also a number of other issues, including air quality, archaeology, mining legacy 
and impact on public rights of way which are considered and assessed within this report. 
 
Economic Impacts of the Proposal 
 
The site is designated within the Local Plan as Employment use and is in a highly strategic 
location close to the motorway and key trunk roads.  At 49.3 ha, the employment allocation 
accounts for over 16% of all of the land allocated for employment in the Local Plan and 
almost half the land allocated for employment in Hoyland.  It therefore has the potential to 
generate significant numbers of jobs both during construction and operationally. Once built 
out, the proposal would lead to significant private sector investment being secured on plot 1 
and platforms readied for further inward investors and/or to accommodate local companies 
wishing to expand.  For the plot 1 alone, 1,300 jobs are proposed of which 500 would be full 
time and 800 flexible/temporary. Although objectors considered these are low quality poorly 
paid jobs the applicant has stated that of the 500, 22% would be team leader/management 
roles with a salary of between £23K and £80K.  For future development, the Masterplan 
limits B8 uses to plots 1 and 2 only, with plot 3 being for B2 and what was B1a employment 
uses. 
 
A key objective of the Local Plan is to provide opportunities for the creation of new jobs and 
protection of existing jobs.  This plan goes on to state this this will be achieved by providing 
the opportunity to grow the economy by 28,840 jobs, which represents a one third increase 
in the number of jobs within the borough during the plan period (Nomis estimate that there 
were 87,000 jobs in 2014).  The latest Nomis data is for the year 2018 and shows an 
increase of 10,000 jobs in the first 5 years of the plan period suggesting that the authority 
was on a trajectory that would have resulted in the target being achieved but the recent 
economic shock created by the pandemic is clear and obvious. 
 
The spatial strategy in the Local Plan seeks to focus growth in Urban Barnsley and the 
Principal Towns, particularly to the east of the M1.  Locating growth in this way was deemed 
necessary to maintain the viability of these settlements through increased local spending 
power in the case of residential growth and supply chain and service sector opportunities 
arising from employment growth on sites allocated for manufacturing and logistics use.  Sites 
ES13 is particularly well placed in this regard being in close proximity to Hoyland Common 
Local Centre. 
 
Paragraph 80 of the NPPF states that significant weight should be placed on the need to 
support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs 
and wider opportunities for development.  Based on the direct and indirect economic benefits 
arising from the proposal it will both demonstrably support local economic growth and help to 
sustain the local centre at Hoyland Common.  Combined, these positive socio-economic 
impacts arising from the proposal attract substantial weight. 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



Proposed Link Road and Associated Highway Works 
 
Link Road 
 
The Masterplan states that “the provision of a link road is fundamental to the success of the 
scheme, as it would not only take advantage of the sustainable nature of the site location 
(adjacent to M1 J36 and Hoyland Common Local Centre), but this will also provide direct 
connectivity to Hoyland South Masterplan Framework area. This infrastructure will also divert 
trips away from existing residential roads.” 
 
The application proposes a new link road running between the A6195 Cross Keys 

Roundabout to the north and the A6135 Sheffield Road to the south. In addition to providing 

a number of access junctions along the link road to plots allocated within the Hoyland West 

Masterplan Framework (HWMF), the application also proposes a new roundabout junction 

just north of Parkside Farm, linking to the southern extent of the site to enable future access 

to the Hoyland South Masterplan area. The existing Sheffield Road will be truncated at that 

point.   It also proposes a new junction with Tankersley Lane that current dissects the site 

across an east-west alignment (discussed and assessed below). Alterations are proposed to 

the current A6135 Sheffield Road/Parkside priority junction through the creation of a new 

four arm mini roundabout, providing access to the link road and to a future access point to 

relocated sports facilities.   

The Transport Assessment is accompanied by an additional VISSIM Microsimulation 

Modelling assessment report covering the A6195, J36 and A61 Westwood New Road, (the 

last two under Highways England Control).  Highways England accept the report and no 

mitigation is required by the applicant on their network (M1, A61, A616). The implications for 

any additional journey time on the A6195 have been reviewed and are considered 

acceptable in relation to the proposed expected future transport movements for which the 

2016 ‘Birdwell Improvements’ were intended to accommodate. 

The link road and associated junctions have been designed in accordance with relevant 
design standards with the alignment mirroring that shown in the masterplan framework.  As a 
direct free flowing alternative to Sheffield Road, it will take through traffic away from the 
centre of Hoyland Common and Hoyland Common Primary School.  This is all the more 
significant given it will also carry traffic from the Hoyland South Masterplan area and will help 
to alleviate congestion on local roads. This therefore goes some way to addressing 
objections citing existing congestion and potential for this to worsen, increase in traffic and 
highways safety concern with the development being so close to the school. 
 
Crucially, the traffic associated with the proposed development, in particular HGVs, will be 
not have to use the existing road network in Hoyland Common to gain access to and from 
the M1, Dearne Valley Parkway or the A61.  The traffic modelling assessments used to 
demonstrate this are considered to be appropriate and robust.   
 
The inclusion of the link road, as per the alignment shown in the Masterplan Framework, is 
therefore a major benefit of the proposal which attracts significant weight. 
 
Tankersley Lane 
 
Where the proposed link road meets Tankersley Lane the application mirrors the preferred 
option in the Masterplan Framework, which closes Tankersley Lane to traffic immediately to 
the east of the link road therefore creating a cul de sac for residents living on that section of 
Tankersley Lane.  To the west of the link road Tankersley Lane is to remain open with the 

Page 15



creation of a T junction.  This element of the application has provoked a significant amount 
of opposition and objections, including from Tankersley Parish Council. 
 
The Parish Council have instead presented an alternative junction arrangement whereby 
Tankersley Lane would remain fully open and that the junction with the link road would be 
signalised with all movements other than straight ahead being banned.  They argue that this 
would retain the existing vehicular connection between Tankersley and Hoyland Common as 
is and would reduce the risk of rat running to the west of Tankersley Lane by preventing 
vehicles travelling up and down the link road from making a left or right turn onto Tankersley 
Lane.  They also consider it a safer alternative to a T junction. 
 
The link road and junctions nonetheless comply with relevant design standards and as a 
free-flowing route, the transport modelling predicts that the link road will operate effectively 
as a by-pass to reduce congestion at the existing Sheffield Road/Tankersley Lane/Hoyland 
Road junction known locally as “Allott’s Corner”.   
 
Whilst this may seem to sever some of the existing local traffic movements along Tankersley 
Lane, the proposals seek to promote the Link Road as the main north-south route and 
divert/deter through traffic from the current A6135 Sheffield and the Hoyland Road traffic 
signal-controlled junction. With this in mind, the proposals align with the Highway Authority’s 
statutory duty to keep traffic moving.  It also maintains a highway route between the local 
adjacent settlements of Tankersley/Pilley and Hoyland/Elsecar. Whilst it is noted that this 

would no longer be as direct a route as existing, any additional severance is reduced 
through options to travel north via the Cross Keys Roundabout or south via a new link 
between the Link Road and Sheffield Road/Parkside Road. 
 
In contrast, the Tankersley Parish Council proposal would not divert traffic away from this 
junction to the same extent.  In addition, signals would impact on the free-flowing nature of 
the proposed link road potentially undermining its effectiveness as a bypass.   
 
The banning of left and right turns onto Tankersley Lane as per the Parish Council proposals 
would admittedly prevent drivers on the spine road from using Church Lane to reach the 
A616 thereby avoiding the A61.  However, a possible consequence of this would be for 
drivers to still use Church Lane by accessing Tankersley Lane at Allott’s Corner therefore 
compounding the situation for Hoyland Common residents living on Tankersley Lane and 
Sheffield Road.  Accordingly, although the Tankersley Parish Council proposal has some 
merit for Tankersley and Pilley residents who use Tankersley Lane to access local services 
at Hoyland Common, it does not represent an appropriate solution having regard to all road 
users and residents in Hoyland Common who are likely to be most affected by the 
development. 
 
Layout/Parking 

For plot 1 it is proposed to take access from the Link Road at two points, with a roundabout 

provided for operational vehicle access. A gatehouse is provided at a suitable distance from 

the highway to enable internal queuing away from the highway should vehicles arrive 

simultaneously. A second access point taking the form of a priority junction is provided 

directly from the link road and is intended for staff and visitor vehicle access. The application 

does however provide an oversubscription of staff/visitor parking spaces within the proposed 

layout. The total number of spaces is based on the expected maximum number of daily 

employees to the site and takes account of the levels of parking required to accommodate 

the expected shift changeover periods.  This will help maximise productivity and reduce 

idling of engines as staff wait for a free space. This is based on a similar site operating 

Page 16



elsewhere in the UK and, the proportion of mobility and cycle parking spaces meets the 

standards in the Council’s parking SPD, this is deemed acceptable. 

Impact of the highway network during construction 
 
The applicant has submitted a Construction Method Statement for enabling works to the site 
which will allow works on Plot 1 to be brought forward.   This is deemed acceptable subject 
to the necessary licences and agreements to allow authorisation of works to permit safe 
working adjacent to or crossing the public highway.  An additional Construction Method 
Statement is nonetheless required for the remaining construction activities and a planning 
condition is therefore proposed. 
 
Summary 
 
For the reasons outline above there are no highways related objections to the proposed 
application with significant weight afforded to the benefits that would arise from the proposed 
link road (facilitating development of the site, diverting traffic away from Allotts Corner, 
creating access to the Hoyland South residential sites).  It is therefore considered that the 
proposals are in accordance with the adopted Masterplan, Local Plan Policy T3 and T4 and 
paragraph 109 of the NPPF 
 
Relocation of Rockingham Sports Facility (part)  
 
Part of the Rockingham Sports Facility (football pitch and archery facility) is situated within 
the application site. The land associated with the current sports facilities is required to 
construct the link road as per the alignment shown within the Masterplan Framework.  This is 
designed as a free flowing 40mph road in order for it to be sufficiently effective as a bypass 
diverting traffic away from Sheffield Road.  This key piece of infrastructure will be delivered 
as part of the proposal in accordance with site specific policy ES13 and could not be aligned 
to avoid the sports ground due to the design standards required for a 40mph road.  
 
Local Plan Policy GS1 and paragraph 97 of the NPPF also require existing pitches to be 
relocated where they are to be lost as part of new development.  Site specific policy ES13 
also requires the replacement sports facility to be operational before development on the 
existing pitch commences. It is proposed to reconfigure Rockingham Sports Ground by 
turning the football pitch through 90 degrees prior to the land being surrendered for the link 
road and providing replacement facilities at Parkside nearby.  This will ensure continuity of 
use for existing clubs.  However, having the new facilities at Parkside operational is not 
entirely feasible given the timescales for a new pitch to be laid and the timescales the 
developer is working to in order to accommodate the occupier of plot 1, and make use of the 
Sheffield City Region funding.  In recognition of this, the adopted Masterplan states that 
these new facilities will need to be relocated in phases since part of the existing sports 
pitches are required to accommodate the route of the new road. The S106 proposes that the 
works for  temporary sports facilities are undertaken before the occupation of the Hermes 
building on Plot 1. 
 
Several objections have been received regarding the closure of the recreation ground. 
In discussions between the applicant, LPA, Forge Community Partnership who run the 
Rockingham Sports facilities, BMBC’s estates team and Hoyland Developments (who have a 
legal interest in part of the land to the north of Tankersley Lane) the following has been 
agreed: 

 Turn the remaining football pitch through 90 degrees at the end of the current football 
season to allow continuity of use 

 To retain the cricket pitch 

 To retain the archery temporarily until a replacement is provided (see below) 

Page 17



 The S106 will provide certainty that the replacement facilities will be provided 
 
On an accessible site nearby south of Parkside Road, the following are proposed under a 
separate planning application which has been submitted: 

 1 x adult football pitch 

 1 x youth pitch 

 1 x mini soccer pitch under 7/8 

 Separate archery zone with 5 x 5m lanes with 90m range plus overshoot area 

 A section 106 agreement will set out the specifications and of the works and will 
require the developer and/or the Council to construct the replacement facilities in 
accordance with those specifications.  

 
Adopted Local Plan Policy GS1 states that although the loss of green space is not normally 
allowed, it can be acceptable where “an appropriate replacement green space of equivalent 
or improved quality, quantity and accessibility is provided which would outweigh the loss”. 
 
In this case, the Council  is of the opinion that the replacement facilities will provide an 
improved quantity of facilities and accessibility for not only local residents, but the wider 
Hoyland area and residents elsewhere in Barnsley due to the highway improvements 
brought about by the link road proposed as part of the development.  The Council is also 
satisfied that increased quality will be achieved over the current offer at Rockingham 
recreation ground in providing a separate suitably designed archery zone and 3 no. football 
as a result of implementation through detailed specifications which will be set out the S106 
agreement for the replacement pitches.   
 
A planning application for Phase 1 of these works has been submitted under planning 
application reference 2020/0999 and is currently under consideration. 
 
A S106 legal agreement will ensure the delivery of these facilities and the applicant will 
make a contribution to the provision of the new sporting facilities as follows:- 

 £15,000 to enable Forge to continue to maintain the existing and temporary facilities 

 £50,000 as a contribution towards seeding the replacement facilities 

 £800,000 in the event that planning permission for the  Parkside facility 2020/0999 is 
not granted by 31st March 2021, in order to allow the Council to undertake the works. 

 
Further contributions will come forward from the housing development on HS57 residential 
allocation when it come forward. The cricket pitch will be relocated as part of the Hoyland 
North Masterplan proposals and located on housing allocation HS64. It is acknowledged that 
the replacement facilities may not be completed before the construction of the link road is 
commenced, however, sufficient accommodations and safeguards have been put in place to 
ensure that there will be a continuity of sports facilities in the interim. 
 
Sport England is the statutory consultee in such cases and in providing comments, sought 
the views of the Football Federation and the England Cricket Board.  The Football 
Federation are satisfied that providing an agronomist oversees the formation of replacement 
pitches and a PQS good standard is achieved, there are no objections. This would be 
secured through the S106 agreement.  The England Cricket Board have no objections 
subject to a planning condition relating to ball-stop mitigation. 
 
Sport England considers that the creation of a new area for football and archery at Parkside 

described above are acceptable in principle (subject to a positive determination of planning 

application 2020/0999), and is content that there is a fall-back position requiring the 

developer to provide £800k to be used at Parkside if planning permission for the new 

application is not in place by the end of March 2021.  This is to ensure the S106 agreement 

Page 18



is not seen to be prejudging the outcome of planning application 2020/0999.  A further 

condition is proposed to ensure the remaining pitch area at Rockingham is re-seeded 

appropriately to allow continuity of play. 

Overall it is considered that suitable measures will be put into place in order to provide 
suitable replacement sports facilities to suitable timescale and are in in accordance with 
Local Plan Policies ES13 and GS1 and paragraph 97 of the NPPF.  
 
Design and Visual Impact 
 
Some objectors consider the scale of the development is too great and one considered the 
plot outlines on the plan are too large and should be smaller so that adverse impacts are 
easier to mitigate.  However, when the Masterplan was being considered it was recognised 
that, because of its proximity to M1 J36, it is inevitable the site will appeal to the logistics 
sector, which is one of the few sectors holding up during a period of unprecedented 
economic uncertainty. Logistics buildings are increasingly larger in footprint and height. The 
site does not lend itself to the 500,000 sqft + buildings that could potentially be 
accommodated on the large employment allocation at Goldthorpe (site ES10) but, due to its 
topography and relationship with the settlement, it is better suited for 200,000 to 400,000 sqft 
buildings than either the Hoyland North or MU1 sites. 
 
The masterplan states that the existing setting of Hoyland Common is relatively small scale 
(predominantly two-storey residential) next to a rural landscape (to the west and south).  The 
insertion of large-scale employment units into this setting needs to be done with sensitivity 
and care in their design and layout. There is a need to visually reduce the scale and massing 
of the employment buildings through modelling, depth, materials and the sensitive use of 
colour. The use of soft landscaping to help filter views of the buildings is also an essential 
element. The same materials and colours should not be used across all the employment 
buildings as this would create the visual impression of a large-scale business park. The 
external design of each employment building should be considered in relation to its wider 
landscape and built form setting.  Well-designed Green Infrastructure that incorporates 
structural planting will help to filter views to the build development, or (in some cases) screen 
it entirely from view. 
 
The adopted masterplan also states that detailed consideration should be given to the 
heights and massing of employment buildings, to avoid any unacceptable harm on visual 
amenity. Larger buildings should occupy the western extent of the site and should be set 
back from residential receptors. Employment buildings closer to Sheffield Road should be of 
a more human scale, with careful consideration given to materials and the way these 
buildings relate to existing landscape and dwellings.  Building heights should be 
commensurate with proposed footprints (i.e. smaller footprints are expected to be lower in 
height).  
 
However, the masterplan acknowledges that even with mitigation in place, development of 
the site will impact adversely on visual amenity.  Indeed, the parameters plan shows 
buildings of plots 2 (up to 18m)  in the south which is arguably most visible, when driving 
north along Sheffield Road as it would be located on a high development platform,  and in 
the north of the site in plot 3 (up to 18m), visible as a gateway site from the  gyratory. 
 
An indicative layout for the overall site is included with the application submission. Although 
one objector suggested that the building should have a hipped roof and green roofs, the 
applicant states that the detailed design of the B8 (Hermes) distribution centre (full 
application) is largely dictated by the functional requirements of the occupier. They argue 
that the proposed design has been carefully considered to provide interest to the visual 
appearance of the building and reduce the visual scale, with differing roof levels and 

Page 19



elevational treatment to reduce the visual scale of the building and create interest within the 
elevations. The applicants design philosophy is to create a striking modern appearance, 
adding quality and aesthetic enhancement. The horizontal emphasis to the warehouse with 
overlapping building elements and differing roof levels helps to locate the building into its 
surroundings.  
 
The masterplan was considered by the Design Panel on 2 April 2020, and again on 5th 
August 2020, together with the application proposals.  The Panel requested that the 
elevational treatment of the Hermes building be made more interesting due to its extremely 
long length, e.g. by using more shades of blue; a request for darker roofs to reduce impacts 
from long distance views; for an external soft landscaped amenity space for use by 
employees during breaks, increasing the width of soft landscaping along the link road and 
surrounding roads; and a firmer pledge towards the provision of features such as stone walls 
and public art, to ensure that these will be included in costings and followed through. 
 
These comments were endorsed by the Council’s Urban Design Officer who also 
emphasised the importance of a wide soft landscaping strip on either side of the new link 
road, in order to help shield or at least filter views from the link road of the future large 
employment buildings.  Ten areas were therefore identified where this was an issue and 
should be improved. 
 
In response, the elevational treatment to the Hermes building has been amended to provide 
more visual interest on views of the long elevations with more shades of blue/grey and to 
assist in breaking up the building massing; the roof will be a darker colour( secured by 
condition).  External soft landscaped areas as breakout area for staff have also been 
relocated from the gatehouse to immediately adjacent Hermes Building and enlarged, to 
approximately 10m x 50m with indicative seating and landscaping; and the width of 
landscaping strips along the link road has been increased in a number of the locations 
identified by the Urban Officer.  
 
The other employment units are proposed  in outline only and the layout, design and scale 
will be considered at reserved matters stage The masterplan also  requires that the colour 
palette should tend towards naturalistic colours such as neutral greens, browns, beiges and 
that there should be no uniform consistency in colour of the buildings within the masterplan 
area. 
 
Overall, the visual impact of the proposal is consistent with that envisaged in the masterplan 
framework in that the large building on plot 1 is located distant from existing residential 
properties and is broken up by an appropriate contrast of colours and materials.  The impact 
is then mitigated by appropriate soft landscaping.  However, the unit of plot 2 will have a 
more significant impact that will require further consideration at the reserved matters stage.  
Even then though, it will not be possible to avoid some negative visual impacts.  Accordingly, 
whilst the scheme does comply with the masterplan framework in terms of design and visual 
impact, the identified adverse impacts do weigh against it. 
 
Landscape Impact 
 
General Landscape Impact 
 
The site lies within the E4 Hoyland Settled Wooded Farmland character area, which is 
generally open, but there is localised enclosure by woodland, depressions in the landform 
and built development.  Visibility into the character area from open land in adjacent character 
areas is limited due to enclosure by built development around the boundaries of E4 
character area.  Nonetheless, a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been 
prepared on behalf of the applicant to assess the impact of the proposals (including the 

Page 20



cumulative impact of the Hoyland West sites) on the wider area and a further assessment 
was also submitted with a reduced plot 2 to 15m eaves due to concerns about potential 
impacts on the landscape when approaching from the south. 
 
The applicant’s assessment therefore indicates that built development would have limited 
visual impact on adjacent character areas but would be conspicuous from parts of this 
character area.  It indicates that because the character area is already quite urbanised, it 
can more readily accommodate built development without adverse effects on its character 
than less developed landscape character areas of this type. However, it recognises that it 
would not be possible to develop a high proportion of the area without adverse effects on its 
character.  In view of the above, the applicant concludes that landscape sensitivity to further 
built development is judged to be low and landscape capacity is considered to be medium. 
 
The masterplan recognises that the character of the existing landscape has been much 
altered over the years, primarily due to mining activity. The site landscape comprises a 
combination of arable and permanent pasture farmland as well as deciduous woodland 
blocks of varying sizes.  A number of hedgerows and trees are found within the site and 
future development is anticipated to result in loss of open farmland, the removal of some 
hedgerows and trees, and a change in character resulting from built development. The 
masterplan goes on to state that the loss of existing landscape features should be mitigated 
through the introduction of significant new native structure planting between development 
plots. Wide native planting belts should be proposed to help visually contain future 
development on the southern and western boundaries.  
 
The Masterplan concludes that “Nonetheless, even with mitigation in place, development of 
the site will result in unavoidable harm to landscape character given the need for the site to 
accommodate larger buildings… Larger buildings should occupy the western extent of the 
site and should be set back from residential receptors. Employment buildings closer to 
Sheffield Road should be of a more human scale, with careful consideration given to 
materials and the way these buildings relate to Sheffield Road”. 
 
In addition to the masterplan, Local Plan Policy D1 expects development to be of high quality 
design and will be expected to respect, take advantage of and reinforce distinctive local 
character and features of Barnsley including landscape character, views and vistas to key 
buildings, landmarks, and skylines. 
 
The proposal will inevitably lead to a significant change due to the substantial earthworks 
required to create development platforms removing much of the vegetation and physically 
changing the landform to a series of benches; and also the long term changes that will result 
in extensive built development of employment units replacing the mixed urban/countryside 
feel of the site currently. 
 
The LVIA concludes that the effect of the development on the landscape character of the site 
and its immediate context has been judged to be moderate adverse upon completion, 
reducing to moderate/ minor adverse by Year 15. Although the magnitude of change is 
initially high, the sensitivity of the receptor is medium/low, and therefore the impact on 
landscape character is not judged to be significant. It is admitted that the proposed 
development will result in some notable landscape and visual effects, yet these will be 
predominantly confined to the site and its immediate context and to a limited number of 
properties, Public Rights of Way (PRoW) and roads. The most notable landscape effects will 
arise from direct changes to the landscape character of the site. Visually, the most notable 
effects will occur for a number of properties located close to the site and for users of a 
limited number of PRoWs and roads within the immediate context of the site.  
 

Page 21



Specifically, the receptor identified as experiencing significant (major or moderate) effects 
are identified as residential properties off Sheffield Road, Tankersley Lane, Parkside Farm, 
and Public Rights of Way CP12 and 26. 
 
An independent assessment of the LVIA found there were some other viewpoints which had 
been underassessed.  These were from the A6195; Tankersley Lane, Black Lane; PROW 33 
and there was no assessment from the school or the Rockingham Recreation Centre. It was 
also considered that overall the mitigation seems to rely on maturing of the landscape 
screening to assimilate the development into the localized context alongside earthworks, 
rather than attempting to design the buildings to be assimilated into the landscape.  It is 
considered that there is a risk that without fully understanding the landscape, the negative 
impacts might be increased rather than reduced by such measures.  
 
Overall, despite the proposed planting, which would not reduce the significant negative 
impacts for a number of years, it is considered that the very large scale large buildings  on 
these significant engineered development platforms would still cause transformative effects 
on the topography, would appear dominant adjacent to the green belt, to public rights of way 
and on residential properties, particularly during the winter months. The change from a rural 
landscape of pasture hedgerows and trees to an industrial area with transformational 
engineering works, very large-scale buildings with attendant hardstanding for parking will 
fundamentally alter the nature of the landscape locally.  It is not considered that tree planting 
will significantly reduce the visual and landscape impacts, and even where they do, there will 
be a significant period before the screening effect is fully felt as the trees mature. 
 
In an effort to minimise landscape impacts, conditions are nonetheless proposed to ensure 
future reserved matters proposals fully consider landscape and visual impacts requiring the 
submission of photomontages, perspective views and elevational drawings of proposals in 
their settings.   A condition to limit the height of buildings to 12.5m to eaves for 20,000sqm or 
less and 15m for buildings over 20,000sqm is also proposed. 
 
Impact on Historic Landscape 
 
The Conservation Officer has reviewed the landscape and Visual Impact assessment which 
states that: the development would be visible from the following historic monuments:  

 Keppel’s Column – both at ground level and from the top. This is a long-distance 
view (5.5km)  

 from the top of Hoober Stand, but not from the base, or from nearby footpaths. This 
is also a long-distance view (4.98km) 

 from limited locations on the north-western edge of Wentworth, on the edge of the 
Conservation Area (2.7km) 

 glimpsed from the western edge of Harley (1.6km) 

 There is no opportunity for views of the development from Black Lane, in the vicinity 
of Tankersley hall ruins. 

 When trees are in leaf, Tankersley church is well screened 
 

However, he also considers that Plot 1 and Plot 2 will strongly change the immediate 
environs of this part of Hoyland where views are possible, particularly when considering the 
cumulative impact with Hoyland South and considers that despite the long distances 
involved, views from the sites mentioned above around Wentworth and Wentworth Park will 
change.  
 
The Conservation Officer acknowledges that the change is likely to be seen against a fairly 
urban backdrop, but such a large-scale development will be visible.  He considers that this 

Page 22



will cause a small but perceivable change to the setting of the historic buildings that 
represents a degree of minor harm.  
 
He considers that the elevational treatments, colour and decoration of the units and 
landscaping / planting will have an important role to play in mitigating impacts. Whilst design 
is a reserved matter, he considers that any excessive scale of development here could be 
intrusive and could represent harm to the historic settings described above.  Overall the 
proposal is considered to be contrary to Local Policy HE1 and HE4 in that it affects in a 
minor way, the settings of historic monuments and the Registered Garden and Park at 
Wentworth. 
 
Summary 
 
Adverse landscape impacts were anticipated when the masterplan was adopted but, 
nonetheless, these adverse impacts on both the general landscape and the historic 
landscape weight against the proposal, particularly given the conflict with Local Plan Policies 
D1 and GD1.  The cumulative adverse impacts on visual amenity and landscape attract 
significant weight when balancing the merits of the proposal. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
Overshadowing, Overlooking and Loss of Outlook 
 
The adopted masterplan seeks to ensure adequate levels of amenity are retained for 
existing residents and that new residents would also enjoy adequate levels of amenity as per 
Local Plan Policy GD1.  This is to be achieved by siting the larger buildings towards the west 
of the site so that they do not appear overbearing, result in excessive levels of 
overshadowing or result in a significant loss of privacy as a result of potential overlooking 
from upper floor office windows.   
 
The relationship between the proposed new development and the adjacent existing 
residential properties has therefore been considered in detail. Guidance is found in the 
adopted SPD Residential Amenity and the Design of Buildings but detailed design of plots 2 
and 3 would be considered at the reserved matters stage. 
 
In relation to plot 1, there would be a significant distance between the building and the 
existing residential properties such that it would not result in significant overshadowing, loss 
of privacy or appear overbearing despite its extremely long elevation.  Most local objections 
have instead focussed on loss of view.  Members will be aware that there is no legal right to 
a view but given the scale of the proposal issues of landscape and visual impact have been 
assessed in detail. 
 
With respect to the outline indicative plans (for plots 2 and 3), there are no issues with plot 3 
but there are dwellings to the north and north east of Plot 2 (proposed 18.0m) at Parkside 
Road and Sheffield Road which would only be approximately 60m from the indicative 
building. From these dwellings there would be a more significant impact on outlook changing 
from rural pasture and trees to large scale employment buildings.  This would therefore 
warrant further consideration at the reserved matters stage. 
 
At Parkside Farm to the south of plot 2 outlook would be noticeably impacted given that the 
development platform would be only approximately 55m to the north of the Parkside Farm 
Cottages and would create a landform between 7m and 13m above existing levels which 
itself is rising to the north.  On top of this would be a large-scale building proposed to be up 
to 18m high according to the submitted documents. Whilst the design, height and scale of 
the building on plot 2 would be considered at reserved matters stage, the changes to the 

Page 23



landform to create a development platform between 7m and 13m above existing ground 
level is a matter to be considered in the full application at this stage. A steep embankment of 
this size and extent would  have a severe impact on residential outlook, mitigated only by the 
fact that it is to the side of Parkside Cottage and would be planted with trees which, over 
time, would soften the created landform and eventually help to screen the future employment 
building.  
 
In terms of overshadowing of Parkside Cottage and loss of outlook the proposed 
embankment and development platform would be situated to the north, thus ensuring there 
would be no significant overshadowing and through detailed design to be considered at 
reserved matters stage it would be possible to avoid overlooking. 
 
Overall, for plot 1, as the proposals adhere to the masterplan framework in terms of the 
precise location of the building on plot 1 and the indicative locations shown on the other 
plots, it is considered that there will be no significant adverse effects on living conditions and 
residential amenity when considering these various matters.  In this regard, the proposal is 
considered to comply with Local Plan Policies D1 and GD1 regarding residential amenity, 
providing mitigation is implemented.  
 
There will inevitably be a greater impact associated with plot 2 with suitable controls on scale 
and height of the building required and close consideration given to detailed design at the 
reserved matters stage.  A condition is therefore proposed to limit heights to eaves in 
accordance with Chapter 6 of the adopted Masterplan Framework.   
 
Construction Phase Impacts (Noise/Dust) 
 
The engineering operations proposed would change the existing varied landform to produce 
3 no. level development platforms being lowest to the south and rising to the north, in 
readiness for the erection of commercial buildings. The operations would comprise cut and 
fill activities and would entail moving material within the site to produce the required levels. It 
is anticipated that the operations will be neutral i.e. that no material will be required to be 
brought onto or leave the site to achieve change in ground levels 
 
There are several elements of the proposal to consider in relation to these activities including 
the noise and dust from the cut/fill operations; the noise and dust generated by construction 
operations; and the noise and potential light pollution during operational activities.  Dwellings 
at Green Lane Farm would particularly be at risk of impacts during the engineering 
operations.  Other than the enabling works mentioned above, a comprehensive Construction 
Method Statement will be required by condition to control limit the noise and dust impacts 
from the full application for the following operations: 
 

 Bulk earthworks to form three development platforms 

 Creation of a surface water attenuation pond 

 Site wide surface water drainage linking the attenuation pond to the development 
platforms 

 Site wide foul sewer including a foul sewer pumping station 

 Construction of a Link Road between Birdwell Roundabout and Sheffield Road 

 Construction of a new roundabout on Sheffield Road 

 Reconfiguration of Tankersley Lane junction 

 Site wide Infrastructure Landscaping 
 
The works are expected to be undertaken in four phases: 
 

1. Site clearance and earthworks: Oct 2020 

Page 24



2. External works: mid Jan 21 
3. Drainage and substructure: Feb 21 
4. Superstructure and envelope mid: Mar 21 

 
A noise impact assessment has been undertaken for both construction noise and operational  
noise using locations around the site as receptors including a sensitivity test for the most 
affected dwellings.  It concluded that for the construction phase, there would be no 
significant adverse effects but it is recognised that when works are close to receptors the 
levels will be higher for a temporary period. 
 
This assessment and the enabling works method statement have been assessed  Pollution 
Control .  They are content that the measures proposed will ensure that nearby residents will 
not experience excessive levels of noise and dust during the construction phase subject to 
the measures proposed being adhered to throughout. 
 
Noise – Operational Phase 
 
Local Plan Policy POLL1 seeks to protect residents from the impact of new industrial and 
warehouse development.  Objectors have raised concerns about the increase in noise 
pollution from vehicles, alarms, and other noisy activities once the site is operational and 
particularly during the night-time given the proposals on plot 1 are for a 24/7 operation.   
 
For the operational phase, the noise impact assessment determined that Green Farm Lane 
(approximately 10m from the proposed link road) has the potential to be significantly 
impacted by operational noise from the proposed development and link road.  As a result, an 
acoustic barrier is proposed to be placed on the east of the new link road to mitigate the 
effects, made up of bunding and/or a close boarded barrier up to achieve a 4m height. 
 
The assessment of operational noise and the proposed mitigation has also been considered 
in detail by Pollution Control  
 
They confirm that the noise assessment in line with BS4142;2014 and has included the 
relevant noise penalties to generate a Noise Rating level for the proposed site. Generally, 
the predicted noise rating level is below the existing background sound levels at the majority 
of the receptors for both daytime and night time noise, except at one which is Green Lane 
Farm where the acoustic barrier should result in no adverse effect from the operational noise 
levels from the link road.  Conditions are also proposed to ensure that fixed and mobile plant 
etc during the operational phase do not exceed acceptable levels.   
 
Elsewhere, many properties towards the centre of Hoyland Common are likely to experience 
an improvement in noise levels arising from traffic being diverted away from Sheffield Road 
and Tankersley Lane (the link road would be 25m further west than Sheffield Road at 
Parkside Road, 40m west at 111 Sheffield Road). 
 
Light Pollution 
 
Temporary lighting has the ability to be intrusive during construction operations and a 
condition is proposed.  With respect to the potential for light pollution during the operational 
phase, this would be an aspect to be considered at reserved matters stage for the outline 
plots and a planning condition is proposed to ensure light pollution does not affect residential 
amenity or harm wildlife.  
 
 
 
 

Page 25



Summary 
 
Overall, and taken in context that this site is allocated as a strategic employment site, it is 
considered that noise, dust and light pollution impacts can be adequately controlled during 
all phases of the development, subject to planning conditions where appropriate. As a result, 
the proposal is unlikely to cause significant negative impacts on people’s lives and wellbeing 
and is considered to accord with Local Plan Policy POLL 1. 
 
The proposal is therefore more marginal in respect of its compliance with the residential 
amenity requirements in Local Plan policy GD1 in that some adverse impact is unavoidable, 
but this is not considered to be a significant adverse effect as per the text in policy GD1. 
 
Climate Change and Sustainability Considerations, Including Biodiversity 
 
Ecology/Biodiversity 
 
One of the key objectives of the Local Plan is to protect and enhance Barnsley’s natural 
assets and achieve net gains in biodiversity.  The Masterplan Framework therefore requires 
a minimum 10% net gain to biodiversity, consistent with the Government’s Environmental 
Bill. This is above and beyond our Local Plan requirement, which is for an unspecified net 
gain to biodiversity. 
 
Inevitably,  development of the scale proposed will have impacts on existing vegetation.   
Trees and hedgerows are proposed to be removed as a result of the need to undertake 
cut/fill engineering operations to create the development platforms which is contrary to the 
requirements of the Local Plan policy ES13.  Ecology surveys of the existing trees and 
hedgerows have not however found them to have significant ecological value but in order to 
mitigate against this loss,  detailed ecological  mitigation is proposed on site and off site to 
provide achieve 10% biodiversity net gain.  In addition, a planning condition is proposed to  
require ecological mitigation and enhancement within each plot to be submitted at reserved 
matters. 
 
The masterplan requires that introduce Green Infrastructure including new native planting 
and greenspace around the perimeter of the plots to ‘soften’ and assimilate the built form 
into its context. Planting at the top of the embankment on the southern perimeter of Plot 2 
should include a higher percentage of native evergreen species, such as Pine and Yew, to 
help maintain a degree of screening during winter. 
 
Although the site is reclaimed colliery land, it has regenerated significantly and now 
comprises mainly agricultural land and several objectors raised concerns about the impact 
on ecology and loss of wildlife.  A programme of ecological surveys including for protected 
species was undertaken to inform an ecological assessment.  
 
The environmental impact of the loss of habitat has been assessed as part of the 
Environmental Statement. The assessment also considers the wider cumulative impact of 
the development when combined with the other Hoyland West sites.  The Ecology Appraisal 
proposes the site design will provide a network of green corridors through and around the 
proposed commercial development plots, outside of plots, green corridors will buffer existing 
woodland at the western and southern boundaries will provide broad native structural 
planting boundaries and more open native grassland creation facilitating wildlife movement 
and incorporating enhancements for a variety of wildlife. 
 
It also suggests that the design should incorporate native woodland, thicket and hedgerow 
planting including use of Wych elm to provide new breeding habitat for white-letter hairstreak 
recorded in the locality, native species-rich grassland linked to structural planting attenuation 

Page 26



providing some permanent water enhanced with native aquatic flora, native flower-rich short 
grassland such as on the slopes and ornamentals within plots, linked to be linked to the off-
plot green corridor features such as provision of ‘insect hotels’ provided for additional 
enhancement. A scheme of bat and bird boxes was also suggested, with an overarching 
landscape and ecology management plan document to help ensure long-term benefits to 
biodiversity.  This can be secured by condition. 
 
The remainder of the 10% biodiversity net gain is proposed to be achieved through 
enhancements of two off-site locations; one adjacent the southern application site boundary 
and Bell Ground (wood); and the other south east of Darfield between the River Dearne and 
existing woodland associated with a disused railway corridor. 
 
Long term management will be secured through S106 agreement – for on site biodiversity 
this will be through a contractor for the duration of the development; for off-site, this will be 
managed by an experienced landscape contractor for a period of 30 years. A Biodiversity 
Enhancement Management Plan has been sets out the conservation objectives, 
management and monitoring objectives. 
 
It is therefore considered that the proposals are in accordance with paragraph 174(b) of the 
NPPF and technically they go beyond Local Plan Policy BIO1 by providing a scheme to 
deliver a minimum of 10% net gain to biodiversity as per the masterplan framework.  This is 
a key environmental benefit that attracts significant weight.  
 
Impact on Trees  
 
The masterplan requires the veteran tree on the edge of Bell Ground should be retained. In 
order to compensate for the vegetation lost, new areas of native woodland planting will be 
incorporated into the design including a woodland buffer (min 10m wide) running parallel to 
the M1 on the western boundary of the site.  Site specific policy E13 also requires this buffer, 
together with a substantial tree belt on the southern boundary.  A landscape scheme 
proposing the required buffers has been submitted.  The masterplan further requires:  
Trees and native hedgerows will be planted across the site. In addition, amenity ornamental 
shrub planting will be located within the plots. Extra heavy standard trees should be planted 
along the link road. 
 
The Forestry Officer notes that the veteran tree is proposed to be retained but that the tree 
protection documents submitted are not adequate.  Although they provide a good overview, 
much of the application is in outline where design and layout can change, therefore specific 
documents should be submitted at reserved matters stage.  A condition is proposed for tree 
protection for plot one and provided at reserved matters for the remaining plots. 
 
The assessment of the LVIA has made it clear that substantial amounts of tree planting are 
necessary to reduce harm to visual amenity and the landscape character area.  The Forestry 
Officer supports the submitted details for tree planting and landscaping but requires a 
condition to ensure all areas are covered including those which would be considered at the 
reserved matters stage.   
 
Although detailed landscape schemes have been submitted, the species proposed are not 
satisfactory in that to ensure maximum longevity and amenity and environmental benefit as 
well as screening (also with regard to winter screening), a high proportion of large growing 
native species is required.  The documents are also required to show what species are being 
utilised in which location and provide total numbers of each species to be planted. 
 
 
 

Page 27



Sustainable Travel 
 
A key aspect of achieving a well-connected development is the objective of promoting 
sustainable travel and reducing the need to travel by private vehicle including provision for 
public transport. 
 
The proposed infrastructure provides an adequate level of pedestrian and cycle 
infrastructure across its length, with appropriate width crossing points (refuge islands) at key 
intervals. A number of bus stops are sited along the length of the proposed link road and the 
TA provides information on consultation with SYPTE/Operators on the support for the 
application and the willingness to route existing and future bus services along the Link Road. 
The bus stops are currently identified as being provided as on carriageway stops but final 
details for this arrangement have yet to be agreed. The proposed layout does however 
protect space between the carriageway and development plots for bus stops to be provided 
in lay-bys, which would allow a final decision this to be agreed through s.38 works, 
addressable by an appropriately worded planning condition.  
 
In order to promote use of sustainable modes of transport a framework Travel Plan has been 
submitted and reviewed. The intention is to appoint a travel plan coordinator for each unit to 
ensure that adequate provisions are put in place in relation to the provision of Electric 
Vehicle charging points, secure cycle parking, shower facilities, car sharing schemes, 
provide loans in respect of public transport season tickets and prepare and submit 
monitoring reports.  
 
The Framework Travel Plan (FTP) submitted follows best practice guidance and contains a 
package of measures tailored to the site with the objective of facilitating and supporting 
sustainable travel to and from the site and reduce reliance on the car. The FTP provides 
details of a range of measures which will be incorporated into the overall design of site and 
the need for individual tenant detailed travel plans to conform to the umbrella of the FTP.  A 
planning condition is proposed requiring a detailed Travel Plan once plots are occupied.  
These would be expected to include regular monitoring and review schedules of progress 
against objectives. By delivering the link road at such an early stage the opportunities for 
developers to come forward to access the employment site will be significantly increased 
and is a positive aspect of the proposal. 
 
The development is located adjacent to residential areas of Hoyland and is served by a 
several bus services with stops located along Tankersley Lane, and along A61 Sheffield 
Road. The application proposal provides for five bus stops including on the new link road. 
 
Potential users and visitors should be able to access and navigate all appropriate footpaths 
and areas of each building and surrounding public realm. Appropriate tactile paving, wide 
footways without obstacles, signage and street lighting will be provided to ensure an 
attractive pedestrian environment is provided. 
 
New pedestrian infrastructure will be provided throughout the site. The new link road has 
appropriate pedestrian and cycle facilities, and continuous routes through the development 
will be accommodated by means of the proposed internal street network. Covered and 
secure cycle parking will be provided in accordance with BMBC adopted parking standards. 
The early delivery of the link road, and associated bus stops, will ensure that the 
development is accessible by bus from the outset. This will also provide a legible network of 
routes for pedestrians and cyclists. 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



Sustainable Construction 
 
For the full application for plot 1, a BREEAM pre- assessment has been undertaken which 
demonstrates that the Hermes scheme is intended to achieve BREEAM Very Good in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy CC2 
 
The supporting statement suggests this is based on environmentally responsible materials 
design and orientation. Additionally, energy efficient measures are proposed including Air-
source heat pump, low NOx high efficiency condensing gas boilers, hybrid heat recovery 
ventilation to the office spaces and solar thermal and solar pv to the roof of the offices. 
 
For the outline  plots 2 and 3 a Sustainability Statement has been submitted  which intends 
to provide a BREEAM ‘Very Good’ rating; to support the move towards a circular economy, 
reducing embodied carbon emissions, considering carbon offsetting etc;  to future-proof the 
development for the transition to zero carbon; to maximise biodiversity net gain, create a 
development that adds significant social value to the area.  Proposals intended to achieve 
these aspects would be submitted at reserved matters stage. 
 
It is therefore considered that the proposals are in accordance with Local Plan Policies CC1, 
CC2, RE1 and Poll1 and paragraph 148 of the NPPF. 
 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
The masterplan states that a majority of the employment units created on site will require a 
large footprint and associated hard standing features, and as such it is important that 
adequate drainage infrastructure is provided. 
 
A comprehensive drainage strategy has been submitted and sustainable surface drainage is 
proposed via an attenuation pond to the south of the built element of the site similar to that 
developed in the junction 36 phase 1 development. The Authority’s drainage engineer notes 
the application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment which describes the outline 
proposals for drainage of this site, and that there is an existing watercourse crossing the site 
for will require a CCTV inspection to ascertain its condition and location. 
 
Whilst there are no objections in principle to the proposals due to the size of the 
development and potential impact on the watercourse, full drainage details should be sought 
early on in any reserved matters application and conditions required on the full application to 
secure suitable drainage in line with the strategy. 
 
Although one objector had concerns about drainage, the highway drainage engineer is 
satisfied subject to conditions and the proposal accords with Policy CC3 and CC4. 
 
Summary 
 
Whilst there will be impacts on biodiversity  as a result of the proposal the delivery of 10% 
net gain will meet the requirements of the masterplan.  Together with the substantial tree 
planting and extensive landscaping  proposed, including along the link road, the southern 
boundary and to the motorway,  to address impacts on Green Belt and satisfy Policy ES13.  
Sustainable travel measures, sustainable construction proposals and drainage through an 
attenuation pond suitable for ecology and wildlife all contribute towards reducing carbon 
emissions and promoting an environmentally responsible scheme in accordance with the 
adopted Masterplan, Policy ES13, T3, CC1, CC2, CC3 and CC4. 
 
 
 

Page 29



Other Issues 
 
Air Quality  
 
The proposed development is nearby Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) Barnsley 
AQMA 1 which covers 100 metres either side of the central reservation between junction 35a 
and Junction 38 of the M1. Two Air Quality Assessments have been submitted to support the 
application covering both construction and operational effects for the application site (ES13) 
and the wider Hoyland West Masterplan area (cumulatively). Air Quality is also considered 
as part of the Environmental Statement (ES) submitted with this application and an 
ecological air quality assessment was also undertaken  
 
Sensitive receptor locations were chosen to assess predicted air pollution concentrations 

due to vehicular emissions associated with the proposed development.  These receptors 

were selected to evaluate the impact of impact adjacent to the proposed link road, as well as 

the existing road network 

The assessments considered various stages in the development emissions for vehicle 

movements associated with the construction of the road infrastructure and buildings; 

predicted emissions for vehicle movements with the opening of Plot 1 in 2022; sensitivity 

testing for  predicted traffic emissions in 2029 ( when Plots 1, 2 and 3 may be operational);  

and for 2029 based on Plots 1-6  being operational (Hoyland West masterplan area) plus 

future Hoyland South Development.  It should be noted that vehicle emissions are expected 

to reduce with time due to improving technology. 

The assessment concluded that no legal human health based air quality standards would be 

breached as a consequence of the development, and that “the operational vehicular impacts 

of Plot 1 in 2022 upon human receptors are anticipated to range from ‘’moderate (beneficial) 

to moderate (adverse)” but not significant. The operational vehicular impacts upon ecological 

receptors are anticipated to be negligible but not significant.” 

It should be noted that the moderate adverse impact occurs at an existing receptor which will 

be located close to the proposed link road, however concentrations at this receptor are 

predicted to remain well below legal air quality standards.  Conversely, the moderate 

beneficial impact is predicted for receptors close to the junction of the A6135 Sheffield Road 

and B6096 Hoyland Road (Allots’ Corner), due to redistribution of traffic associated with the 

link road. 

For the 2029 scenario, the assessment concluded that “a cumulative assessment of Plots 1, 

2, 3 (Proposed Development), 4, 5 & 6 of the Hoyland West Masterplan and Hoyland South 

Masterplan and committed developments indicates compliance of the air quality objectives.”   

On this basis therefore, there are no objections to the proposed development on operational 

phase air quality grounds.  Clearly however, there will be an increase in road traffic 

emissions as a consequence of the proposed development.  Consequently, an additional 

assessment has been undertaken in accordance with the Barnsley MBC Air Quality and 

Emissions Good Practice Planning Guidance in order to determine appropriate mitigation 

measures for the increase in road traffic emissions, along with a damage cost calculation 

due to impact of increased vehicle emissions from plots 1, 2 and 3.  Various mitigations are 

proposed, such as Travel Plan actions and the installation of electric vehicle charge 

points.  It is recommended that these are brought together into an operational phase air 

quality mitigation strategy, and a planning condition is proposed. 

Page 30



Taking account of all the above the application is therefore considered to be consistent with 
the aims of Local Plan Policy AQ1 and paragraph 170 of the NPPF 
 
Archaeology 
 
With respect to Archaeology, Barnsley Local Plan Policy ES13 has a requirement to 
consider archaeological issues and include an Archaeological Assessment as part of any 
planning application A desk-based Archaeological Assessment by Oxford Archaeology ( 
December 2019) which found small parcel of land within the north-eastern part of the Site 
Area appears to have survived impact from large-scale mining. The area is west of Green 
Lane Farm, an antecedent of which was depicted on the early eighteenth-century engraving 
of Tankersley Park, immediately to the north of the deer park wall. This land parcel is a 
significant survival of the medieval landscape in the heavily industrialised Coal Measures 
area.  However, the adopted Masterplan acknowledges that initial evidence suggests that 
there are no buried archaeological remains of value, this is due to the open cast mining of 
the site previously. 
 
The applicant also commissioned a geophysical survey the report (May 2020 by Magnitude 
Surveys) in the area of the proposed attenuation pond to the south of the site.  The 
attendant report states that in this part of the site “no anomalies suggestive of significant 
archaeological features were identified and much of the dataset has been impacted by 
historic industrial activity related to the extensive mining which occurred within the vicinity of 
the survey area”.   
 
No objections have been received from The South Yorkshire Archaeology Service and it is 
therefore considered that the proposals are in accordance with Local Plan Policies HE1 and 
HE3 with respect to Archaeology.  
 
Coal Mining Legacy 
 
The applicant has provided comprehensive Geo-environmental desk top study report, Coal 
Mining Risk assessment report and Ground investigation report for the northern 
development area. A coal mining risk assessment has been provided for the southern 
balancing pond which recommends further investigative work is required to confirm ground 
conditions. 
 
The reports evaluate the coal mining legacy risks and provide guidance upon possible 
mitigation measures including over-excavation and reengineering of opencast fill areas and 
buildings/highways/service designs to accommodate some settlement.  The Coal Authority 
has confirmed there are no objections and the South Yorkshire Mining Advisory Service has 
no objection subject to a condition. 
 
Public Rights of Way  
 
The masterplan requires that any works required along existing PROWs should result in a 
betterment to surfacing. Utilising S106 sustainable travel contributions, the Trans Pennine 
Trail should be enhanced to ensuring it remains fit for purpose for cyclists and a new green 
link will be created connecting to the eastern Tankersley Lane entrance, encouraging 
pedestrians and cyclists and also linking to existing public rights of way 
Hoyland FP 27 / Tankersley FP 26 runs along the southern site boundary, heading south 
west from Sheffield Road and level changes are proposed where it will connect to Sheffield 
Road. The PROW officer has no objections subject to a planning condition. 
 

Page 31



The Council has already been contacted regarding temporary closure orders for off-site 
works at Black Lane. These fall outside the application site and are dealt with under different 
legislation and do not directly impact on the consideration 'of the planning application  
 
Overall, the proposal is considered to accord with the Hoyland North Masterplan on this 
point, and Local Plan Policy GS2. 
 
Other matters 
 
Objectors raised several concerns set out below that have not been addressed elsewhere in 
the report 

 Masterplan process including community involvement and publicity – this is not 
material to the consideration of this planning application.  The masterplan was 
publicised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 

 Poor quality jobs from storage and distribution uses – for the Hermes building, the 
applicants state that 22% will be management/team leader roles with a salary of 
between £23K and £80K. 

 Impact on local infrastructures such as schools, doctors, dentists etc – employment 
uses are not expected to impact on these types of infrastructure to a great degree 
compared to housing development. 

 Masterplan process – a sizeable number of objectors’ including the Parish Council 
raised concerns about the masterplan procedure including publicity and the nature of 
public involvement, inadequate public consultation and that it is a “whitewash” .  
Community involvement and publicity has been challenging throughout the current 
Covid 19 pandemic, but every effort has been made to undertake robust public 
consultation of the masterplan through online participation.  Other objectors 
considered that the Council should not have accepted the submission of a planning 
application prior to the adoption of the masterplan.  However, the regulations do not 
allow the Council to refuse to accept the submission of a valid planning application.  
Importantly though, this application has not been considered by Planning & 
Regulatory Board until after the masterplan framework has been adopted. 

 Objectors considered there would be an impact on public health including mental 
health.  Such public health impacts were considered at the masterplan stage with a 
Health Impact Assessment undertaken.  No objections have been received from 
public health in response to this application and for many residents there will be an 
improvement as the link road will remove traffic away from Sheffield Road. 

 Some objectors are concerned about  on-line public consultation only – This has 
been council procedure for some time in line with Government guidelines.   

 Comments were made in relation to impact on house prices – This is not a material 
planning consideration and cannot affect the outcome of a planning application.,  

 Comments were made that the Council is selling of this land to make money – land 
ownership is not a material planning consideration   

 Comments were made that the application should not be supported as there is 
opposition by the community – opposition alone is not a material planning 
consideration  

 moving the proposed buildings to avoid visual impacts from the local dwellings – 
there is no legal right to a view. 

 
Sustainable Development 
 
The NPPF requires new development to be sustainable (paragraph 11). To achieve 
sustainable development the planning system should give consideration to three overarching 
objectives – economic, social and environmental  
 

Page 32



Economic Objective 

The proposal complies with the Local Plan in land use planning policy terms in that the 
proposed development is for a variety of B use buildings that is required by site specific 
allocation policy ES13 and policy E3 ‘Uses on Employment Sites’.  The economic 
development benefits associated with the proposal in that the development is forecast to 
yield approximately 500 permanent jobs at the operational stage with seasonal jobs in 
November and December adding a further 800 for Plot 1 which is expected to be operational 
in 2022. Other jobs would be created during the construction phases and in operational 
phases of the other plots resulting in significant levels of investment. Other plots coming 
forward in future would generate additional jobs.  This is a vast site 53.42 ha (approximately 
18% of the total land allocated for employment in the Local Plan). 

Its location directly adjacent to the M1 Motorway means that it is ideally located in relation to 
the strategic highway network and the provision of a new link road that will serve the wider 
community beyond Hoyland and link  to the Hoyland South Area will open up further sites 
and ease congestion. The proposal is also envisaged to deliver a range of financial benefits 
including an estimated £58 million in investment in the site from Newlands and subsequent 
business rates revenue for the authority.  
 
Having regard to all of the above, the proposal meets with the aspirations set out in the 
masterplan and is in compliance Local Plan Policy ES13 and E3 on these points.  It is 
therefore considered that substantial weight can be attributed to the economic benefits that 
arise from the application proposal. 
 
Social Objective 
 
The site is allocated in the Barnsley Local Plan for employment use (Policy ES13). The 
proposals represent the first phase of the development of the Hoyland West site and the 
delivery of a key employment site. The site will generate employment for local people 
consistent with the Local Plan objective to provide opportunities for the creation of new jobs.  
 
The proposals include a Section 106 contribution towards the reconfiguration of Rockingham 
Sports Ground and the first phase of a new replacement facility which will have a wider 
social benefit to the local area.  This will result in an increase in the quality and quantity of 
facilities available without a loss of continuity.  The first phase to be delivered by the 
applicant and the second phase is envisaged to be delivered by the Council and Forge 
Community Partnership utilising S106 monies or equivalent from the housing development 
envisaged when the Hoyland South site comes forward.  This accords with the site-specific 
policy and the masterplan framework and weighs in favour of the proposal.  
 
The site is in a sustainable location close to public transport links and has good pedestrian 
and cycle links. This sustainable location will provide people with an alternative to the private 
car and contribute to improvements in resident’s health and wellbeing and support the vitality 
and viability of the nearby Hoyland Common local centre.   
 
However, some adverse impacts to residential amenity have been established, primarily as a 
result of the proposed building on plot 2 and there will also be unavoidable disruption during 
the construction phase.  Having regard to all of the above, the proposal is deemed to also 
comply with Local Plan objective to improve the conditions in which people live, work, travel 
and take leisure but the as there are some negative impacts to residential amenity, only 
modest weight can be attributed to the social benefits. 
 
 

Page 33



Environmental Objective 
 
The application site is not located in an area with an environmental designation and is a 
former coal mine which has since greened over and become a greenfield site of pasture, 
hedgerows and trees forming a countryside landscape. The development proposals will 
achieve a 10% net gain in respect of biodiversity mitigation measures secured through a 
s106 agreement for offsite locations. Information has been submitted which indicates that 
the building on Plot 1 is on track to meet BREEAM Very Good. These are positive aspect of 
the proposal. 
 
However, the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has concluded that there will be 
significant long-term impacts on visual amenity and landscape as a result of changes in land 
levels to form development platforms, and by the very large scale buildings both proposed 
(full) and indicative(outline).  Tree planting and landscape planting are the only mitigations 
proposed which will only partially mitigate the impacts after many years. This negative 
impact of the proposal offsets the benefits associated with the 10% net gain to biodiversity 
such that overall environmental impacts are deemed neutral. 
 
Planning Balance & Conclusion 
 
Substantial weight is attributed to the significant direct and indirect economic benefits of the 
proposal given its compliance with Local Plan policies ES13 and ES3 as well as the adopted 
Masterplan Framework.  Further modest weight is attributed to the social benefits of the 
proposal which, whilst significant, are offset by some detrimental impacts to residential 
amenity.  Similarly, the positive environmental credentials of the scheme, including a 
minimum 10% net gain to biodiversity, are offset by the adverse impacts to the landscape 
and visual amenity arising from the scale of the buildings.   
 
The site was always envisaged to appeal to logistics uses due to its proximity to the M1 and 
since then other commercial uses have become less resilient due to the pandemic and wider 
economic uncertainty.  Accordingly, in order to achieve the substantial economic benefits 
arising from the proposal, there are no obvious alternatives to this type of proposal on the 
proposed site.  As such, given that the costs of funding the required infrastructure are so 
substantial and can only be met with a viable commercial scheme, these adverse impacts 
are considered unavoidable. 
 
The proposal is therefore finely balanced, but overall, substantial weight is afforded to the 
economic benefits, modest weight is attributed to the net social benefits and environmental 
considerations are broadly neutral in that the negative impacts offset the identified positive 
elements. On this basis, the proposal is deemed a sustainable form of development and is 
acceptable in planning terms subject to the recommended Section 106 agreement and 
planning conditions.     
 
 
Recommendation 
Grant subject to conditions and a S106 to: 
1. Carry out temporary sports facility works south of Parkside Road 
2. To provide a contribution for seeding the new and replacement pitches at Parkside 
3. Provide a contribution towards maintenance for a period of 5 years 
4. Biodiversity offsetting measures to achieve 10% biodiversity net gain 
 
 

 

Page 34



Conditions 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 

from the date of this permission. 

Reason:  In order to comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 

2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 

plans (Nos) and specifications as approved unless required by any other conditions 

in this permission 

4400-001 P28 Masterplan 

4400-209-P02 Roof Plan ( solar panels on office) 

4400-100-P06 Location Plan 

4400-101-P10 Site Plan 

4400-102-P05 Application Redline Plan 

4400-103 -P07 External Materials Plan 

4400-104-P02 Site Sections 

4400-200-P04 GA Unit Plan 

4400-201-P05 GA Office Plans 

4400-202-P01 VMU Plan Elevations Sections 

4400-203-P01 Security Gatehouse Type A and B 

4400-300-P06 Building elevations 

VC-103210-EN-AQRP-001 Air Quality Assessment 

VC-103210-EN-AQRP-0003_R00 Air Quality Assessment Addendum 

Hoyland DBA-161219 

9295 DAS Rev D 

9295-L-103B Illustrative layout 

9295-L-104C Parameters Plan 

9295-L-105B GI Plan 

9295-L-106A site Plan 

DS01 P04 Bound 

D-0300 P06 Drainage Strategy Sheet 

D-0301 P07 Drainage Strategy Sheet 

D-0302 P09 Drainage Strategy Sheet 

D-1300-P05 Proposed Surface and Foul Drainage 

D-1030-P02 Plot 1 Hermes Drainage Design 

Page 35



RCEF76268 Flood Risk Assessment -001 

DS01-P03 Drainage Strategy Report 

9295 Biodiversity Enhancement Management Plan REV A  

9295 Biodiversity Enhancement Management Plan REV A Appendix A  

9295 Biodiversity Impact Assessment Report REV A 

9295 bat and Barn Owl Report  

9295 Ecological Appraisal Final 

9295 GCN and Reptile Report Final 

9295 WBS Report Final 

AG3080-19-AJ70 Desk Study Report for Hoyland Common 

AG3080-19-AJ77 Phase 1 Coal Mining Risk Assessment for Hoyland Common 

AG3080-19-AK38 Coal Mining Risk Assessment for Balancing Pond 

AG3080-19-AK21 Ground Investigation Report for Hoyland Common 

DR-CR-001 P02 Link Road General Arrangement 1 of 3 

DR-CR-002 Link Road General Arrangement 2 of 3 

DR-CR-003 Link Road General Arrangement 3 of 3 

0890 P02 Swept Path analysis 1 of 4 

0891 P02 Swept Path analysis 2 of 4 

0892 P02 Swept Path analysis 3 of 4 

0893 P02 Swept Path Analysis 4 of 4 

DR CR SK0896 P04 Link Rd Bus Stops swept paths 

0894-P01 Link Road General Arrangement Plot 4 access 

001-P04 Link Road Design Statement 

DR-C-1600 P02 Proposed levels 

DR-C-0802-P04 Longitudinal Sections 

DR-CR-0807-P05 Link Road legal areas 

DR-CR-0808-P05 Design parameters 

DR-CR-809-P05 Pavement types 

DR-CR-810 P04 General Arrangement 

DR-CR-811 P02 Alterations to existing signage 

DR-CR-811-P02 Proposed Direction signage 

DR-CR-880-P03 typical sections 

Page 36



2020-09-01-3560 Hoyland Commercial Land Transport Assessment Issue v1.1 Rev 

C 

2020-06-10-3560-Hoyland Commercial Land Framework Travel Plan Issue v1.1 

Noise sensitivity test VC-103210-EN-RP-003 

Hoyland L10 data no mitigation 

Hoyland Receptor R5 EDIT 

Receptor R5 change 

d260520_ Newlands Barnsley Breeam 2018 New Construction Rev B 

Hermes Hoyland energy Statement for Planning - Rev C 

NWK 200022 Hoyland West Newlands Sustainability Statement 

Arboricultural method Statement by FPCR REV A 

Arboricultural Assessment 

Appendix C Tree Plans 

Tree Pit staking and plant protection details HOY-BCA-ELS-X.X-DR-L-2044/20-02-

S8 P1 

3502-UCL-FR-MU-001 Desktop summary 

Environmental Statement volumes 1, 2 and 3 

Planning Statement 

Statement of Community Involvement 

Health impact Assessment 

LSUK.20-0564 REV 10 Cricket Boundary Risk Assessment 

Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policy D1 High Quality Design and Place Making. 

3 Other than the works agreed under the Construction Method Statement for Enabling 

Works document, no earthworks, engineering cut/fill operations, construction or 

highway construction shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 

the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 

throughout the period of engineering operations,  highway construction or 

construction period 

The Statement shall provide for: 

i. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

ii means of access for construction traffic 

iii Routing of and means of access for construction traffic including any temporary 

traffic signing proposals 

iv. Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

Page 37



v. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

iv. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 

and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 

vi. Wheel washing facilities; 

vii. Details of the provision of an on-site water supply or water storage facility; 

viii  Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during earthworks/cut/fill or 

construction works using dust methodology as set out in Construction Method 

Statement for Enabling Works document  

ix Measures to control noise emissions during earthworks or cut/fill based on BS 

5228-1 and using dust methodology as set out in Construction Method Statement for 

Enabling Works  document 

x Measures to control surface water run off / site drainage and/or attenuation 

xi. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from earthworks or cut/fill 

xii. temporary surface treatment of all development plots within the site following 

completion of cut/fill operations.   

xiii additional measures to protect the amenity of residents in Green Lane Farm from 

noise, dust or other impacts during engineering or cut/fill operations 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, residential amenity and visual amenity, in 

accordance with Local Plan Policies D1, Local Plan policies T4 and Poll 1.  

4 Other than the works agreed under the Construction Method Statement for Enabling 

Works document, no works shall commence until a phasing plan and arrangements 

have been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

Thereafter the development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 

details.  

Reason: In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Local Plan Policy T4.  

5 No vegetation clearance shall take place between the months of March and August 

inclusive unless nesting birds have been shown to be absent by a suitably qualified 

ecologist in accordance with written details to be submitted and approved by the 

Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and in accordance with Local Plan Policy 

POLL1 Pollution Control and Protection. 

6 Prior to any works commencing on-site, a condition survey (including structural 

integrity) of the highways to be used by construction traffic shall be carried out in 

association with the Local Planning Authority. The methodology of the survey shall 

be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall assess the existing 

state of the highway.  Appropriately timed interim surveys will be agreed with the 

Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of initial survey. On completion of 

the development a final condition survey shall be carried out and shall be submitted 

for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority, which shall identify defects 

attributable to the traffic ensuing from the development. Agreement shall include 

provision for:  

Page 38



(i) a condition survey (including structural integrity) of the adopted highways to be 

used by construction traffic to be carried out in association with the Local Highway 

Authority. The extent of the area to be surveyed must be agreed by the LHA prior to 

the survey being undertaken which shall comprise 

a.  A plan to a scale of 1:1250 showing the location of all defects identified 

b.  A written and photographic record of all defects with the corresponding location 

references accompanied by a description of the extent of the assessed area and a 

record of the date, time and weather conditions at the time of survey. 

(ii) The methodology of subsequent surveys of the state of the highways, on 

completion of each plot or phase of development (or other milestone in the 

development) identifying defects attributable to the traffic ensuing from the said 

phase of the development.  

(iii) The timing of any necessary remedial works to be completed which shall be at 

the developer's expense.  

The details once approved shall be carried out in accordance with the said approval. 

Reason: In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Local Plan policy T4.  

7 Development of the proposed link road and connection to existing roundabout to the 

north of the site shall not be commenced until full engineering, drainage and street 

lighting and constructional details of the proposed link road and connection to the 

existing roundabout have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.  

Details for each of the bus stops shall be provided and include the location, shelter 

design, seating, realtime information provision and, formation including layby 

requirements and timing of provision of the bus stops. The development shall, 

thereafter, be constructed in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Local plan Policy 

T4 New development and Transport Safety 

8 No phase of works shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management Plan 

(CTMP) for that phase of development is submitted to and subsequently approved in 

writing by the LPA. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the 

construction phase. The CTMP shall contain information relating to (but not be limited 

to): 

1. Volumes and types of construction vehicles 

2. Identification of delivery routes 

3. Identification of agreed access point 

4 Contractors method for controlling construction traffic and adherence to 

routes 

5 Construction period 

6. Temporary signage in consultation with Highways England 

7 Measures to control mud and dust being transferred to the public highway 

8 Temporary traffic management arrangements required to the existing highway  

Page 39



            network 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Local Plan Policy T4 

9 The Noise Rating Level either measured or derived by calculation  (as determined in 

line with BS4142;2014) from operations at all plots shall not exceed 51 dB (LAeq 15 

mins) at Green Farm Lane at any time 

Reason : To minimise noise impacts of existing residents and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policy Poll1 

10 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted visibility splays shall 

be provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the approved plan. The 

splay shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction exceeding 

900mm above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.  

Reason: In interests of highway safety and in accordance with Local Plan Policy T4. 

11 Upon commencement of development of Plot 1, a scheme shall be submitted for 

approval in writing to the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall identify which 

species of tree listed in the approved Landscape Species Schedule HOY-BCA-ELS-

XX-DR-L-2044/20-01-S8 REV P5 shall be planted in the locations identified on the 

approved landscape plans.  Once approved the scheme shall be implemented in full.    

Reason: To ensure a high a proportion of large growing native species are planted to 

ensure maximum longevity and amenity and environmental benefit and In the 

interests of the visual amenities of the locality and in accordance with Local Plan 

Policy D1 High Quality Design and Place Making. 

12 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping in 

the approved landscaping plans and in condition 11 above shall be carried out in the 

first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the building or the 

completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants 

which die within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development, are 

removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 

planting season with others of similar size and species.  

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality, in accordance with 

Local Plan Policy D1 Design 

13 Prior to the construction of Plot 1, details or the proposed roof colour shall be 

submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  Thereafter the 

approved details shall be implemented in full for the duration of the development. 

Reason: To minimise the long distance impact of the roofscape and in the interests of 

good design and in accordance with Local Plan Policies D1 and GD1 

14 A landscape management plan, including long term design objectives, for a minimum 

of 10 years, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all 

landscaped areas for the landscape plans hereby approved, shall be submitted to 

and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the 

development or any part thereof, whichever is the sooner, for its permitted use. The 

landscape management specifications shall include but not be limited to proposals 

for maintenance of the ecological enhancement areas where not covered in condition 

42 below, boundary treatment (excluding on-plot boundary treatment),  fencing to 

public rights of way, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all 

Page 40



the non-plot landscape areas. The measures in the approved landscape 

management plan shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 

plan.  

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policy BIO1 Biodiversity and Geodiversity and D1 Design 

15 The Travel Plan hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the 

measures set out therein.  Within three months of occupation, detailed travel plans, 

for each individual unit, shall be prepared, submitted to and agreed in writing with the 

LPA together with evidence of the implementation of measures set out in the 

Framework Travel Plan.  

Reason: To support sustainable transport objectives in accordance with Local Plan 

Policy T3 . 

16 On commencement of construction of Plot 1 and with each reserved matters 

application, details shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority of the type and 

design of boundary treatments to be erected for each plot.  The boundary treatment 

shall include dry stone walls at the mouth of the plot access to the new link road and 

at the mouth of the plot access to Sheffield Road.  The details shall identify the 

location, height, extent, materials of all boundary treatments including coursing of the 

dry stone wall.  Thereafter the agreed boundary treatments and dry stone walling 

shall be constructed prior to the  occupation of the plot. 

Reason: To reflect local character and in the interests of good design in accordance 

with Local Plan Policy D1 and GD1 

17 Construction or remediation work comprising the use of plant, machinery or 

equipment, or deliveries of materials shall only take place between the hours of 0800 

to 1800 Monday to Friday and 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays 

or Bank Holidays. 

Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of local residents and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policies GD1 General Development Policy and POLL1 Pollution Control 

and Protection. 

18 Upon completion of Plot 1 a certificate shall be provided to the Local Planning 

Authority demonstrating that the very good standard for BREEAM as set out in the 

preliminary report by Couchperry Wilks  has been achieved and the measures 

provided to achieve the standard shall be retained as operational thereafter. 

Reason: To enable delivery of efficient and sustainable design and construction in 

accordance with Local Plan Policy CC2. 

19 The development of each plot or plots hereby permitted shall not be commenced 

unless and until approval of the following reserved matters for each plot or plots has 

been obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority:-  

(a) the layout of the proposed development.  

(b) scale of building(s) 

(c) the design and external appearance of the proposed development.  

(d) landscaping 

Page 41



Reason:  In order to allow the Local Planning Authority to assess the details of the 

reserved matters with regard to the development plan and other material 

considerations 

20 Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made for Plots 2 and 3 as 

shown on indicative masterplan 4400 01 P28 within the expiration of 5 years of the 

date of issue of this permission. Thereafter development shall be begun before the 

expiration of 2 years from the date of approval of the last reserved matters to be 

approved. 

Reason: In order to comply with the provision of Section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 and in accordance with Hoyland West Masterplan 

21 The proposed layout in reserved matters submissions shall substantially accord with 

the approved masterplan.  Buildings shall be located no closer to the southern 

boundary of the site than is shown on the indicative masterplan 4400 01 P28. 

Reason: To ensure the development conforms with the approved outline planning 

permission, to protect residential amenity, provide and to provide sufficient space for 

landscape screening to reduce impacts on visual amenity and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policy D1 and GD1 

22 Other than Plot 1, buildings heights shall not exceed 12.5m to eaves where the 

building is 20,000sqm or less, and shall not exceed 15m eaves height where area of 

buildings are over 20,000sqm.  

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in the locality and wider landscape and in 

accordance with adopted Hoyland West Masterplan and Local Plan GD1.  

23 The development of Plot 2 hereby approved shall not exceed a maximum of 

46,154sqm B8 use as identified on indicative masterplan 4400 01 P27.  Plot 3 shall 

comprise only B1 and B2 uses. The details of both plots shall be submitted as part of 

the application for approval of reserved matters.  

Reason: To ensure the development conforms with the approved outline planning 

Permission and stays with the maximum assessed level of development as set out in 

the adopted Hoyland West Masterplan 

24 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015 as amended by The Town and Country Planning (Use 

Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 (or any Order revoking or re-

enacting that Order with or without modification),  business uses (previously B1a, b) 

and c) and B2 uses will permitted on plot 3 only. 

Reason: To ensure that types of development permitted within the adopted 

masterplan area is limited to the levels within the masterplan area to protect 

employment uses and in accordance with Local Plan Policy E4 and the Hoyland 

West Masterplan Framework 

25 The site is located within a Coal Authority coal mining referral area due to extensive 

mining history. As detailed in the Applied Geology desk top study report ref AG3080-

19-AJ70, Applied Geology Coal Mining Risk Assessment ref AG3080-19-AJ77, 

Applied Geology Ground investigation reports ref AG3080-19-AK21 and AG3080-19-

AK40 the development must therefore be designed in consideration of the mining 

legacy subsidence risks and shall include but not be limited to the reengineering of 

Page 42



opencast fill and the use of appropriate building foundation and service designs to 

mitigate mining legacy risks. 

The development must be undertaken in compliance with Construction Industry 

Research and Information association publication C758D "Abandoned Mine 

Workings Manual" where applicable. 

Responsibility for securing a safe and development rests with the developer and/or 

landowner"   

Reason: To satisfactorily deal with unstable land, in accordance with Local Plan 

Policy CL1 Land stability NPPF sections 178 a,b,c. 179 and 170 e & f 

26 Other than the approved enabling works no development shall take place on any plot 

unless the following details for that plot have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. 

1. full foul and surface water drainage details  

2. a scheme for the provision and implementation of a surface water run-off 

limitation 

3. full details of structural condition including CCTV survey and exact route of 

the watercourse 

4. works to provide outfall or surface water 

Thereafter no part of the development shall be occupied or brought into use until the 

approved scheme has been fully implemented. The scheme shall be retained 

throughout the life of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 

Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: To ensure proper, sustainable drainage of the area in accordance with Local 

Plan Policy CC3 and CC4 and to maintain the structural integrity and proper 

functioning of the existing culverted watercourse. 

27 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or 

without modification), no building or structure shall be placed or erected within 3 

metres, measured horizontally, of any watercourse.  

Reason: To prevent damage to the existing culverted watercourse in accordance with 

Local Plan policy CC3 and CC4 

28 The following detailed plans shall accompany the application for the approval of 

reserved matters for plots 2 and 3; 

a) Details of the proposed external facing materials for each plot.  The details, 

specifications, and colours shall be of neutral greens, browns or beige as set out on 

page 42 of the adopted Hoyland West Masterplan Framework document and shall be 

shown on the elevation plans and any associated imagery that is submitted in 

support of the application.  Roof colours should be darker shades. 

b) photo montages of the proposals within a Landscape and Visual Impact 

Assessment.  

Page 43



c)  3D aerial view and 3D perspective views shall be submitted to illustrate the 

submitted details, the latter as seen from ground level  which shall show the buildings 

in their setting of:  

1.the Hoyland Gyratory to the north of the site 

2.the proposed housing of the Hoyland West Masterplan Framework area,   

3. Heritage areas eg Wentworth,  

4. existing housing bordering the Hoyland West Masterplan Framework Area. 

Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance with the details 

approved by the Local Planning Authority  

Reason: to enable the built form to be considered in their wider setting, and to ensure 

their visual impact on important views and existing residential properties is able to be 

adequately assessed and in accordance with Local Plan Policy D1 High Quality 

Design and Place Making 

29 Detailed plans shall accompany the reserved matters submission indicating existing 

ground levels, finished floor levels of all structures, road levels and any proposed 

alterations to ground levels. Thereafter the development shall proceed in accordance 

with the approved details.  

Reason: To enable the impact arising from need for any changes in level to be 

assessed in accordance with Local Plan Policy D1 design. 

30 Notwithstanding the submitted within the ecological appraisal, detailed plans shall be 

submitted with each Reserved Matters application indicating biodiversity mitigation 

and enhancement measures to be undertaken within each plot, including long term 

management, for each plot. Thereafter the development shall proceed in accordance 

with the approved details.  

Reason: To conserve and enhance biodiversity in order to achieve 10% net gain from 

FPCR baseline in accordance with Local Plan Policy BIO1. 

31 On commencement of the development, details of proposals to mitigate the air 

quality impact of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be thereafter be undertaken in 

accordance with the approved details  

Reason: In the interests of minimising the impact of the proposal on air quality in 

accordance with Local Plan Policy Poll 1 

32 Details shall accompany each reserved matters application setting out a preliminary 

assessment of the buildings BREEAM rating which shall be submitted for approval in 

writing to the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall:  

a) Identify what measures shall be used to achieve BREEAM standard of 'very good' 

or equivalent;  

b) consider the use of green roofs or partial green roofs to achieve BREEAM 

standard of "very good" or equivalent standard 

c) Where the BREEAM standard of 'very good' or equivalent standard cannot 

reasonably be achieved the assessment shall justify why not; and  

Page 44



d) Shall identify what standard shall be achieved.   

e) Upon completion of the development, a certificate shall be provided to the Local 

Planning Authority demonstrating that the agreed standard has been achieved and 

the measures provided to achieve the standard shall be retained as operational 

thereafter. 

Reason: To enable delivery of efficient and sustainable design and construction in 

accordance with Local Plan Policy CC2. 

33 Each reserved matters application shall be accompanied by the following documents 

in accordance with British Standard 5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition 

and construction  

• Arboricultural impact assessment 

• Tree protective barrier details 

• Tree protection plan 

• Arboricultural method statement 

Reason:  To ensure the continued wellbeing of the trees in the interests of the 

amenity of the locality.  

34 Each reserved matters application shall be accompanied by full details of both hard 

and  soft landscaping works, including details of the species, positions and planted 

heights of proposed trees and shrubs; together with details of the position and 

condition of any existing trees and hedgerows to be retained shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved hard 

landscaping details shall be implemented prior to the occupation of each building. 

Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policy BIO1 Biodiversity. 

35 Other than the approved enabling works, no construction works shall commence until 

measures to protect the public water supply infrastructure that is laid within the site 

boundary of each plot have been implemented in full accordance with details that 

have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The details 

shall include but not be exclusive to the means of ensuring that access to the pipe for 

the purposes of repair and maintenance by the statutory undertaker shall be retained 

at all times. If the required stand -off or protection measures are to be achieved via 

diversion or closure of the water main, the developer shall submit evidence to the 

Local Planning Authority that the diversion or closure has been agreed with the 

relevant statutory undertaker and that, prior to construction in the affected area, the 

approved works have been undertaken. 

Reason:  In the interest of public health and maintaining the public water supply and 

in accordance with Local Plan Policy Poll1. 

36 Prior to the start of construction of any plot, details of measures to facilitate the 

provision of gigabit-capable full fibre broadband for the development hereby 

permitted, including a timescale for implementation, shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details 

Page 45



Reason: In order to ensure compliance with Local Plan Policy I1 Infrastructure and 

Planning Obligations 

37 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, all pedestrian and 

cycle access and egress links, bicycle and motorised vehicle parking areas and 

space for all vehicles turn and re-enter the highway in a forward gear, shall be 

constructed in accordance with the approved plans and in accordance with cycle 

parking standards set out in adopted SPD Sustainable travel in accordance with 

cycle parking standards  Section 8 and table 2 contained therein. 

All such areas shall be levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with a detailed 

scheme submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA and retained thereafter 

available for that specific use 

Reason: In interests of satisfactory development and highway safety in accordance 

with Local Plan Policy T4 new development and Transport Safety 

38 On commencement of engineering/construction operations for any plot or phase, 

details of temporary lighting shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 

Planning Authority.  Details shall include the location, orientation, angle and 

luminance of the lighting and shall be designed to ensure light pollution does not 

affect residential amenity or harm wildlife. Thereafter the approved details shall be 

implemented in full. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of local residents and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policies GD1 General Development Policy and POLL1 Pollution Control 

and Protection 

39 Prior to the occupation of each plot full details of permanent security lighting shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Details shall 

include the location, orientation, angle and luminance of the lighting and shall be 

designed to ensure light pollution does not affect residential amenity or harm wildlife. 

The approved details shall be implemented on each plot prior to occupation of the 

building of the use and retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of local residents and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policies GD1 General Development Policy and POLL1 Pollution Control 

and Protection 

Any oil and chemical storage tanks to be constructed within the application site shall 

be sited on an impervious base and surrounded by a liquid retentive bund wall. The 

bunded area shall be capable of containing 110% of the volume of the largest tank 

and all fill pipes, draw pipes and sight gauges shall be enclosed within its curtilage. 

The construction should be in line with the most up to date guidance for design of 

storage tanks. 

Reason: For the purposes of avoiding pollution of groundwater and in accordance 

with Local Plan Policy POLL1. 

40 Each reserved matters application shall be accompanied by a noise impact 

assessment at sensitive receptors.  The assessment shall be accompanied by details 

of all mechanical services and ventilation plant to be installed and details of all 

external operations (e.g. loading/unloading, vehicle manoeuvring etc) within the plot 

boundary.  The assessment shall demonstrate that the background noise levels at 

receptors identified in Noise Impact Assessment VC-103210-EN-RP-001 dated 16th 

Page 46



June 2020 and Noise sensitivity test VC-103210-EN-RP-003 dated 4 September 

2020 shall not be exceeded.  Any mechanical services and ventilation plant must be 

installed and operated in accordance with manufacturers' instructions at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of local residents and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policies GD1 General Development Policy and POLL1 Pollution Control 

and Protection 

41 The development hereby approved shall comply with the biodiversity set out in the 

recommendations in the ES volumes 1, 2 and 3 unless otherwise superseded by 

later ecological reports detailed below. 

Biodiversity Impact Assessment report REV A by FCPR  received 1/10/20. 

Biodiversity Enhancement Management Plan REV A and Appendix A by FCPR 

received 2/10/20. 

Reason: For reasons of clarity and to secure appropriate biodiversity and ecology 

mitigation and enhancement in accordance with Hoyland West Masterplan 

Framework, and Local Plan Policy BIO1. 

42 Notwithstanding submitted details, a further great-crested newt survey of off-site 

pond P5 (as detailed in the GCN report from FPCR dated June 2020 contained within 

the ES Vol 3) shall be undertaken in spring 2021.  Subsequently a report of the 

survey findings shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority by 31 July 2021.  

Reason: In the interests of identifying local of protected species to prevent potential 

impacts as a result of development and in accordance with Local Plan Policy BIO1 

43 Prior to undertaking any alterations to the access point onto Hoyland public footpath 

no. 27 from Sheffield Road, a scheme detailing existing and proposed levels, extent 

of works, existing and proposed surfaces,  and including but not limited to 

specification of works, details of signage and/or barriers, shall be submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  Thereafter the agreed scheme shall 

be implemented in full. 

Reason: To safeguard public access on the public footpath in the interests of Local 

Plan Policy T3 and GS2 

44 Upon commencement of development details of the design, height and layout of ball 

stop mitigation based on the Labosport Boundary Risk Assessment LSUK.20-0564  

in relation to the cricket field, including details of the management and maintenance, 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, after 

consultation with Sport England. The approved details shall be installed prior to 

commencement of the 2021 cricket season and shall be retained, managed and 

maintained as such thereafter.  

Reason: To enable the cricket field to be used for sport without causing nuisance and 

damage to users of the access road and to accord with Local Plan Policy T4 

45 No development shall commence on the existing football pitch until details of the 

method and type of seeding to the infill area over the running track of the realigned 

football pitch including a timetable for the completion have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority after consultation with Sport 

England. The approved details shall be carried out in full in accordance with the 

approved timetable.  

Page 47



Reason: To ensure the realigned football pitch is fit for purpose and safe to play pitch 

sport on and to accord with Local Plan Policy GS1 

 

Page 48



 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



2019/0577 
Applicant: South West Yorkshire NHS Trust and Orion Homes 
Description: Demolition of vacant former hospital buildings and residential 
development of 70 no dwellings and associated works.  
Site Address: Mount Vernon Hospital, Mount Vernon Road, Worsborough, Barnsley 

 
The application is presented to Members as the proposed number of dwellings 
exceeds 50 and as the recommendation is the subject of a proposed S106 
Agreement. Objections from the residents of 8 neighbouring properties have been 
received. 
 
Site Description 
 
The site is located off Mount Vernon Road linking to Sheffield Road and Barnsley 
Town centre to the north.  The vacant hospital building has been demolished, having 
closed in early 2018.  The site is 2.67ha in size and is raised above the highway 
behind a high stone wall, with an existing access.  The site is bounded mainly be 
residential properties comprising a mix of semi-detached and detached dwellings. To 
the west of the site is Worsborough Common Primary school and a children’s centre. 
A belt of trees in the southern end of the site are protected by a tree preservation 
order.  The topography of the site rises from Mt Vernon Road.  A narrow private road 
Coach House Lane runs along the northern boundary, bounded by a stone wall and 
hedgerow, both of which are to be retained.  A listed building at Elmhist Farm lies to 
the east beyond Mt Vernon Road. 
 
Proposed Development 
 
Pre-application advice was provided prior to the adoption of the Local Plan and the 
proposal has been amended through protracted negotiations to reach the layout 
which is before members.   
 
The planning application if for a residential development of 70 dwellings in the 
following mix: 
 
9 no. 2 bed dwellings 
31 no. 3 bed dwellings 
30 no 4 bed dwellings 
 
The dwellings would be a mix of terraced, semi-detached and detached properties, 
all of 2 storeys in height. Parking is provided either to the front or side of the 
properties, some of the house types have integral garages.  
 
The developer has provided 10 different property types. Elevations are simply 
designed though some have canted bay windows to ground floor and some have 
gable elements to front elevations. All the properties are proposed to be of a choice 
of 2 colour schemes of brick and concrete roof tile.  Existing hedgerow is proposed to 
be retained and extended, and the existing stone wall fronting Mount Vernon Road is 
proposed to be retained.  A viability assessment has been submitted as the applicant 
considers the site is not sufficiently viable to provide all necessary contributions. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51

Item 4



 
History 
 
2018/0379 - Prior notification for demolition of former Mount Vernon Hospital. 
Decision issued 26/06/18.  
 
Policy Context 
 
Planning decisions should be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations.  The Local Plan was adopted by the Council in January 2019 
and the Council has also adopted a series of Supplementary Planning Documents 
and Supplementary Planning Guidance Notes, which are other material 
considerations. 
 
Site Allocation: The site is allocated for residential development under reference 
HS29 in the Local Plan, with an indicative number of dwellings of 74 
 
SD1 ‘Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development’. 
 
GD1 ‘General Development’ provides a starting point for making decisions on all 
proposals for development setting out various criteria against which applications will 
be assessed.  
 
LG2 ‘The Location of Growth’  
 
H1 ‘The Number of New Homes to be Built’ sets the target of new homes for the plan 
period 2014 to 2033 at 21,546 
 
H2 ‘Distribution of New Homes’ states 43% of new homes to be built in Urban 
Barnsley 
 
H6 ‘Housing Mix and Efficient Use of Land’ proposals for residential development are 
expected to include a broad mix of house size, type and tenure  
 
Policy H7 ‘Affordable Housing’ seeks 10% affordable housing in this area 
 
Policy T3 ‘New Development and Sustainable Travel’ 
 
Policy T4 ‘New Development and Transport Safety’ 
 
Policy D1 ‘High Quality Design and Place Making’ 
 
Policy GS1 ‘Green Space’ requires new development to provide or contribute 
towards green space in line with the Green Space Strategy.  
 
Policy BIO1 ‘Biodiversity and Geodiversity’ requires development to conserve and 
enhance biodiversity and geodiversity. 
 
CC1 ‘Climate Change’ 
 
CC2 ‘Sustainable Design and Construction’  
 
CC3 ‘Flood Risk’ 
 
CC4 ‘Sustainable Urban Drainage’ 

Page 52



 
CL1 ‘Contaminated and Unstable Land’ 
 
Poll1 ‘Pollution Control and Protection’ 
 
PI1 ‘Infrastructure and Planning Obligations’ 
 
SPD’s 
 
- Design of Housing Development 
- Parking 
- Open Space Provision on New Housing Developments 
- Sustainable Travel 
- Planning Obligations 
- Financial Contributions For Schools 
- Trees and Hedgerows 
- Affordable Housing 
- Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
 
Other 
 
South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide  
 
NPPF 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied. At the heart is a presumption 
in favour of sustainable development. Development proposals that accord with the 
development plan should be approved unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-
of-date, permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework as a whole; or where specific policies in the Framework 
indicate development should be restricted or unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 
Sections of relevance would be: 
 
57. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify 
the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to 
a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard to all the 
circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and the viability evidence 
underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site circumstances since the plan 
was brought into force. All viability assessments, including any undertaken at the 
plan-making stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national planning 
guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly available 
 
62. Where a need for affordable housing is identified, planning policies should expect 
it to be met on-site unless: 
(a) off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly 
justified; and 
(b) the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating mixed and balanced 
communities. 

Page 53



64. Where major development involving the provision of housing is proposed, 
planning policies and decisions should expect at least 10% of the homes to be 
available for affordable home ownership. 

Consultations 
 
Affordable Housing – Would ideally wish to see the provision of 10% affordable 
housing but accept the findings of the independent review of the viability assessment. 
Furthermore, they have expressed a preference for an off-site contribution in this 
case rather than on site provision taking into account the healthy supply of 2 and 3 
bed social rented properties in the sub-market area where the site is located. 
 
Air Quality - No objection subject to provision of EV charging points in accordance 
with the SPD. 
 
Biodiversity – No objections have been received. 
 
Civic Trust – Comment that the house styles appear to propose an appealing 
development in this desirable area.  Concern about number of affordable houses 
proposed. 
 
Conservation – No objection providing the front wall is retained. Note that the site 
allocation policy requires archaeological assessment. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer - No objection subject to further investigation which can 
be secured by condition. 
 
Highways Drainage – No objections subject to conditions. 
 
Education – Contributions to both primary and secondary pupil places would be 
required. 
 
Highways DC - No objections subject to conditions. 
 
Forestry officer – No objections subject to conditions. 
 
Pollution Control – No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Superfast Broadband – SF broadband to be installed as per informative. 
 
SYMAS – No objections subject to informative. 
 
SYAS – No objections subject to a planning condition. 
 
SY Police – Recommend that development is secured by design – informative 
proposed. 
 
Yorkshire Water -No objections subject to conditions 
 
Waste Management – No assisted collections until site complete. Initial charge for 
bins – Informative proposed 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



Representations 
 
The initial application was advertised in the press, by neighbour notification letters 
and site notices. Objections from the residents of 8 neighbouring properties have 
been received, although some residents have written several times following two 
reconsultation exercises due to the receipt of amended plans in July 2019 and in 
early March 2020.  Comments raised related to the following: 

• Noise and dust during demolition and construction 
• Dangerous access and highway concerns 
• Inaccurate drawings, insufficient drawings, inaccurate levels, inadequate 

layout. 
• Concern about who will be responsible for trimming hedgerow along Coach 

House Lane and boundary along south of site along access adj 91 Mt Vernon 
as the hospital used to trim both sides of vegetation.   

• Access to substation should be from within the site and not front Coach 
House Lane – the substation is already accessed from Coach House Lane 
and this will continue unchanged. 

• Loss of privacy and light. 
• The nursing home should not be demolished but should remain as a tribute to 

previous use, a statue should be erected or plaque, and a communal electric 
point for a Christmas Tree installed as it has been since 1971. 

• The development would provide zero community value. 
• Short-sighted to dispose of publicly sector owned land. 
• Maximum number of houses possible. 
• Not zero carbon footprint. 
• Houses not in character.  
• Should be smaller dwellings not more large ones. 

 
Assessment 
 
Principle of development 
 
The site is allocated in the local plan for housing under an allocation HS29 with an 
indicative number of dwellings of 74. The application is therefore acceptable in 
principle. The development should therefore be determined in accordance with the 
Local Plan. An assessment of how the site accords with other policies is below. 
 
Housing density and Mix 
 
One objector considers that the scheme is too dense, and the developer is trying to 
fit in the maximum number of dwellings possible.  However, the site-specific policy for 
this site gives an indicative number of dwellings at 74. 
 
The initial scheme was for 65 units which were deemed to be too low and did not 
include a suitable mix of house types, comprising only large 3+ bedroom dwellings, 
contrary to Local Plan Policy H6. The applicant has submitted a revised layout with 
the overall numbers increased to 70 units with an improved housing mix with 9 no 2 
bed dwellings, 31no. 3 bed dwellings and 30 x 4 bed dwellings.  This is now 
considered to be sufficiently close to the indicative number of units set out in the site-
specific local plan allocation policy and would provide a suitable mix of properties in 
accordance with policy H6 (detached, semi-detached and terraced dwellings). As 
such the proposal is in accordance with Local Plan Policy H6 Housing Mix and 
Efficient use of Land. 
 
 

Page 55



Contributions and Viability 
 
Planning law requires that application for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise (para 2 NPPF). 
 
Plans should set out the contributions expected from development. This should 
include setting out the levels and types of affordable housing provision required, 
along with other infrastructure (such as that needed for education, health, transport, 
flood and water management, green and digital infrastructure). Such policies should 
not undermine the deliverability of the plan (para 34 NPPF). 
 
Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from development, 
planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. It is up 
to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for 
a viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to a viability 
assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard to all the 
circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and viability evidence 
underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site circumstances since the plan 
was brought into force. All viability assessments, including any undertaken at the 
plan making stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national planning 
guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly available (para 
57 NPPF). 
 
Education 
Based on 70 dwellings the following contributions would be required in accordance 
with the SPD: 
Primary contribution – 15 pupils at £16000 = £240,000 
Secondary contribution – 11 pupils at £16000 = £176,000 
A total contribution would therefore be required of £416,000. 
 
Sustainable travel 
The adopted supplementary planning document supplementary travel identifies 
contributions which are required to deliver the infrastructure priorities for the local 
plan.  In accordance with the SPD a contribution of £52,500 is required 
 
Off site Public Open Space 
It was determined at the pre-application stage that it would be appropriate for an off-
site contribution to be made to improve existing open space in the locality rather than 
providing open space on site.  Based on the housing mix proposed, a contribution 
of £134,478 is required 
 
Affordable Housing 
Initially, only one affordable dwelling was proposed as during pre-application 
discussion the NPPF indicated that vacant building credit was relevant which takes 
into account the area of demolished building.  However, since then, national 
guidance in the NPPF has been updated and the Barnsley Local Plan has been 
adopted.  Whilst the applicant has argued that vacant building credit still applies, 
officers have taken the view that the proposal does not meet any of the exemptions 
set out in the current NPPF.  Instead, both the NPPF and the Barnsley Local Plan 
require 10% affordable housing to be provided on site unless it can be demonstrated 
through a viability assessment that the required figure would render the scheme 
unviable. As such of 70 proposed dwellings, 7 should be made affordable, subject to 
viability.   
 

Page 56



A viability assessment has been submitted by the applicants in support of their 
assertion that the proposal would not be sufficiently viable to provide all the 
contributions and affordable housing requirements generated by the proposal and as 
set out in Local Plan polices and adopted supplementary planning guidance. This is 
not overly surprising considering that the site is previously developed, which means 
increased building costs associated with demolition and remediation.   
 
The viability assessment has been independently assessed and has concluded that 
the site would be sufficiently viable to provide all contributions for education, public 
open space and sustainable transport, and a commuted sum equal to 3 no. 
affordable dwellings.  The applicant has agreed to this level of contribution and 
payment will be secured through a S106 agreement as follows: 
 
Education Contribution                                        £416,000 
Public Open Space Contribution                         £134,478 
Sustainable Travel                                               £ 52,500 
Commuted Sum for 3 no. affordable dwellings    £193,180 

                                      Total                £796,158 

 
In recognition of the findings of the independent review of the viability exercise the 
Housing officers are on board with the proposed approach. Furthermore, they have 
expressed a preference for an off-site contribution in this case rather than on site 
provision taking into account the healthy supply of 2 and 3 bed social rented 
properties in the sub-market area where the site is located. 
 
Visual amenity 
 
One objector considered that the initial plans were inadequate and/or inaccurate 
particular relating to levels.  However subsequent iterations and cross sections have 
provided more detailed and accurate information to better illustrate the proposal.  The 
objector further considered that the proposal is of poor layout due to some dwellings 
facing away from Mt Vernon Road, and that the dwellings are not in character with 
the existing surroundings.  Another objector considered that the proposal should 
include more smaller dwellings.   
 
The Senior urban design officer provided detailed comments and guidance at the 
pre-application stage to help ensure that an acceptable layout was designed and 
considered that the dwellings facing Mt Vernon Rd in this case would be acceptable 
due to the significant level differences.  The officer has raised no objections in 
response to the planning application. 
 
The proposed scheme is for residential development on a former hospital site.  It is 
surrounded by residential properties.   The types of dwelling proposed reflect the mix 
of uses in the area and in this respect, there will be a visual benefit in bringing a 
disused site back into use.  
 
The design of the scheme is such that it will fit within the surrounding residential 
area, the scale of houses is appropriate and the introduction of a mix of house types 
will add some interest to the street scene although the site is set above Mt Vernon 
Road and the majority of the site will not be visible from the highway.   
 
Despite the different types and sizes of dwelling there is limited differentiation 
between their elevations which are all very simply designed; however, this is a 
medium scale scheme and the development itself will being some variation in the 

Page 57



house styles when viewed in the wider context of this residential area. Therefore, in 
this instance the variation in elevational treatments and the uniform approach to 
materials is accepted. Soft landscaping is also proposed to the front which will soften 
the appearance along the street and break up the tarmac areas.  
 
There are a number of protected trees on the southern boundary of the site, which 
are to be retained, though the remainder of the trees within the hospital site have 
been removed to enable demolition of the former hospital to take place.  The tree 
officer has agreed this approach subject to a detailed landscaping scheme including 
some replanting. This can be secured through condition.  
 
Based on this assessment and taking account the benefits associated with bringing 
the site back into use and delivering housing to meet local needs, the visual impact is 
acceptable in this case and the application complies with Local Plan Policy D1. 
 
Residential Amenity  
 
The proposed layout provides more than the minimum external spacing requirements 
as set out in the Designing New Housing Development SPD. As such it does not give 
rise to any unacceptable overshadowing or overlooking impacts or loss of light, in 
relation to the residential amenity of existing residents and it is considered that 
privacy of existing dwellings will be retained despite concerns from objectors. 
 
The internal space provided by the proposed house types has been checked against 
the standards as set out in the SYRDG and meet the minimum requirements.  Some 
of the house types are generous in size 
 
Concern has been raised by properties on Coach House Lane about impacts on 
outlook and changes in levels of the new dwellings.  Without doubt, there will be a 
change in the view from the exiting dwellings on Coach House Lane, as previously 
the view was of low-lying hospital buildings set in a generous green space.  However, 
there is no legal right to a view and external distances between existing and 
proposed dwellings are acceptable and meeting with adopted guidance.  Cross 
sections have also been provided which demonstrate that the new dwellings will not 
appear overbearing.   
 
Of particular concern was the impact on outlook from No 4 Coach House Lane, a 
dormer bungalow with a rear elevation facing the site but separated from it by Coach 
House Lane which runs to the rear of the property.  Initially, it was proposed to place 
a 2.5 storey dwelling to the north of this dwelling, however, this was considered to be 
too high and have an unacceptable impact on the dwelling.  This has now been 
reduced to a 2-storey dwelling, with distances which now meet adopted guidelines in 
terms of distance and is considered to be acceptable. 
 
Overall the proposed is acceptable in residential amenity terms and complies with 
Local Plan Policy D1 and the Designing Residential Housing SPD.    
 
Trees 
 
The updated proposal now confirms that trees can be satisfactorily retained subject 
to the necessary protection measures. Some replacement tree planting details have 
been provided as part of the application; however, the Forestry Officer considers 
there is room to provide some larger growing native species more in keeping with the 
surrounding tree cover. A full landscaping scheme will therefore be required by 
condition. 

Page 58



 
Taking the above comments in to account there are no objections to the proposed 
scheme from an arboricultural perspective. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
Although concerns were raised by objectors about highways safety entering and 
exiting using the existing access, a Transport Assessment has been undertaken that 
demonstrates that the access  has the capacity to support the development and no 
objections have been raised from the Highways Development Control on highways 
safety grounds, subject to the imposition of planning conditions. The site was 
previously used as a hospital and the principle of using the existing access is well 
established.  Pedestrian and vehicle visibility splays are acceptable and electric 
vehicle charging points are proposed.    
 
Separate cycle parking is to be provided to each unit in a covered and secure shed to 
rear which is acceptable.  In addition, electric vehicle charging points are considered 
necessary to meet changes vehicle technologies. These can be secured through 
planning conditions.  
 
Taking the above into account the proposal accords with Local Plan Policy T3 ( new 
development and sustainable travel) and T4 ( new development and transport 
safety). 
 
Pollution Control 
 
Concerns have been raised by objectors about the noise and dust impacts during 
demolition and construction operations.  During the processing of this application the 
hospital buildings have been demolished in accordance with the prior approval 
notice.  Noise and dust would have been controlled through the conditions pertaining 
to that through the Building Act.  With respect to construction impacts, the Pollution 
Control Officer has no objections subject to conditions controlling hours of operations 
and noise and dust mitigation measures. 
 
Other matters 
 
Objectors raised several concerns set out below that have not been addressed 
elsewhere in the report 

• Concerns about who will be responsible for trimming the hedgerow along 
Coach House Lane and access adjacent to 91 Mt Vernon Road on southern 
boundary of the site.  Responsibility will rest with the owner and is not a 
material planning consideration 

• Access to substation should be from within the site and not front Coach 
House Lane – the substation lies with the application site and access is 
expected to be taken from within the site 

• Short-sighted to dispose of publicly sector owned land – land ownership is not 
a planning issue 

• Not zero carbon footprint – there are currently no government or local plan 
requirements to build to carbon zero, but an energy statement has been 
submitted which demonstrates that the dwellings will be energy efficient and 
improve on Building regulations Part L. 

• The nursing home should not be demolished but should remain as a tribute to 
previous use, a statue should be erected or plaque,  and a communal electric 
point for a Christmas Tree installed as it has been since 1971 – the provision 

Page 59



of such items are not a material planning consideration, however, the 
applicant can be requested to consider provision of such. 

 
Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
The proposal is an allocated housing site in the Local Plan and is in a sustainable 
location.  The design and layout of the dwellings meet internal and external space 
standards in relation to  our adopted Local Plan policies and SPD’s and does not 
impact significantly on the amenity of existing dwellings that are located adjacent, 
meeting separation distances as set out in adopted guidance and are of a suitable 
housing mix and design.  The protected trees on the site shall be retained and 
highways are satisfied that a suitable access and street layout is proposed. 
Conditions can minimise construction impacts on nearby dwellings.   
 
A significant level of contributions has been agreed which meet all Local Plan 
requirements, other than fully 10% affordable housing which provides a commuted 
sum for partial provision due to viability issues. On that point it should be borne in 
mind the findings of the viability appraisal have been reviewed independently in order 
to arrive at the final contribution amounts. The site is previously developed, which 
increases the cost of carrying out the development due to demolition and remediation 
costs. However, it is a major positive to see derelict land recycled in this manner for 
sustainable development reasons, especially within existing built up areas set within 
Urban Barnsley. The proposals would yield housing growth during uncertain period in 
the housing market and taking all of the above points into consideration they are 
supported by Housing as well as Planning Officers. 
 
Overall the proposal meets all relevant Local Plan policies, requirements and 
contributions.  The application is therefore considered acceptable and is 
recommended for approval accordingly. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Grant planning permissions subject to conditions and a S106 Agreement (Education, 
Greenspace, Sustainable Travel and Affordable Housing) 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 

from the date of this permission. 
Reason:  In order to comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out strictly in accordance with 
the amended plans and specifications as approved: 
SK001 REV S Site Layout Plan 
01-2017-220 The Exeter 
01-2017-252 The Falmouth 
01-2017-254 and 255 The Patterdale 
01-2017-258 and 259 The Preston 
01-2017-268 and 269 The Chichester 
01-2017-270 and 271 The Salisbury 
01-2017-272 and 273 The Coniston 
SLIG.01 Split level 
SLIG.01 Split level 
2019-100 Location Plan 
2019.115 Drainage Connection 
H2 181003.1C Landscape Proposals 

Page 60



2019.05 12 and 13 The Arlington 
11-2019-03 and 04The Bamburgh 
11-2019-01 and 02 The Edinburgh 
2019 0111 Materials Layout Plan 
2019.115 REV A site sections 4 
2019.112 REV D Site sections 1 
2019.113 REV C site sections 2 
2019.114 REV C site sections 3 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment AR-3716-01.03 by Brooks Ecological amended 
February 2020 
Window Sections 2019.116 
split level with integral garage 
preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Brooks Ecological 
unless required by any other conditions in this permission. 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality in accordance 
with Local Plan Policy D1 High Quality Design and Place Making. 
 

3. Upon commencement of development plans to show the following levels shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; finished floor levels of 
all buildings and structures; road levels; existing and finished ground levels.  
Thereafter the development shall proceed in accordance with the approved 
details. 
Reason:  To enable the impact arising from need for any changes in level to 
be assessed and in accordance with Local Plan Policy D, High Quality 
Design and Place Making. 
 

4. Upon commencement of development a plan indicating the position of boundary 
treatment(s) to be erected shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The boundary treatment shall be completed before any 
dwelling is occupied.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and shall thereafter be retained. 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and the 
amenities of occupiers of adjoining property in accordance with Local Plan 
Policies GD1 General Development Policy and D1 High Quality Design and 
Place Making. 
 

5. Prior to any construction being undertaken the applicant shall submit to the LPA, 
for approval in writing, a noise management plan which details how noise will be 
controlled during the construction stage of the site. The noise management plan 
shall be based on the provisions provided in BS 5228-1 2009.  Once approved the 
development shall proceed in accordance with the approved plan. 
Reason: For the protection of the residential amenity of existing residents in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy Poll 1 
 

6. Prior to any construction being undertaken the applicant shall submit to the LPA, 
for approval, a dust management plan which details how dust will be controlled 
during the construction stage of the site.  Once approved the applicant shall 
strictly adhere to the dust management plan. Prior to work commencing the 
applicant shall ensure that there is an adequate supply of water at the site and 
shall provide the LPA of details of this. 
Reason: For the protection of the residential amenity of existing residents in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy Poll 1. 
 

Page 61



7. Construction and deliveries shall only take place between Monday to Friday 0800-
1800 and Saturday 0900-1300. There shall be no work or deliveries on Sundays 
or Bank Holidays. 
Reason: For the protection of the residential amenity of existing residents in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy Poll 1. 
 

8. No development or other operations being undertaken on site shall take place 
until the following documents in accordance with British Standard 5837:2012 
Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction - Recommendations have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 
Tree protective barrier details 
Tree protection plan 
Arboricultural method statement 
Reason:  To ensure the continued wellbeing of the trees in the interests of 
the amenity of the locality. 
 

9. Upon commencement of development, full details of soft landscaping works, 
including details of the species, positions and planted heights of proposed trees; 
together with details of the position and condition of any existing trees and 
hedgerows to be retained shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy D1 High Quality Design and Place 
Making. 
 

10. All in curtilage planting, seeding or turfing or ecological mitigation measures 
comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out on each plot 
no later than the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the 
individual dwellinghouse/s; and any trees or plants which die within a period of 5 
years from first being planted, are removed, or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species. 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality, in accordance 
with Local Plan policies GD1 'General Development' and D1 'High Quality 
Design and Place Making' 
 

11. All out of curtilage planting, seeding or turfing or ecological mitigation measures 
comprised in the approved details of shall be carried out in full in accordance with 
a timetable to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority upon commencement of development. Thereafter the landscaping shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and timescales. Any which 
die within a period of 5 years from first being planted, are removed, or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species. 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality, in 
accordance with Local Plan policies GD1 'General Development' and D1 
'High Quality Design and Place Making'. 
 

12. A landscape management plan, including long term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
occupation of the development or any part thereof, whichever is the sooner, for its 
permitted use.  The landscape management plan shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved plan. 

Page 62



Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy BIO1 Biodiversity. 

 
13. 

 
Prior to the commencement of any development works, a remediation scheme, 
endorsed by a competent engineer experienced in ground contamination, shall be 
submitted to the local Planning Authority for approval.  This report shall, amongst 
other matters, include the following:- 
1.  Methodology to identify and remove any contaminated material. 
2.  Measures to test and evaluate any imported soils onto the site to ensure they 
     are suitable for the intended use. 
3.  Chemical testing suite, frequencies and threshold levels. 
4.  Procedures to confirm capping levels have been achieved on plots. 
5.  The subsequent validation that the site has been satisfactorily remediated and 
that the development of the site can be safely undertaken and occupied.   
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in full accordance with the 
submitted reports. 
Reason: To protect the environment and ensure the site is suitable for the 
proposed end use and in accordance with Local Plan Policy CL1. 
 

14. No development shall be commenced until full engineering, drainage and street 
lighting and constructional details of the streets proposed for highway adoption 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.  The development 
shall, thereafter, be constructed in accordance with the approved details unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the LPA.  
Reason: In interests of highway safety in accordance with Local Plan Policy 
T4 New development and Transport Safety. 
 

15. Before any dwelling is first occupied the roads and footways shall be constructed 
to binder course level from the dwelling to the adjoining public highway at Mount 
Vernon Road in accordance with details of a completion plan to be submitted and 
approved in writing by the LPA in consultation with the LHA.   
Reason: To ensure satisfactory development of the site in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy T4 New development and Transport Safety. 
 

16. Prior to the first occupation of the development the proposed driveway and 
associated crossings, car and cycle parking, servicing, turning and electric vehicle 
charging points shall be laid out, surfaced and drained in accordance with the 
approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.  
Reason: To ensure the permanent availability of areas for accessing the 
dwelling units, parking and manoeuvring areas, in the interest of highway 
safety in accordance with Local Plan Policy T4. 
 

17. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details for the 
provision of electric vehicle charging points (EVPC's) shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These EVCP's shall 
be installed in accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of the 
development and retained thereafter available for that specific use. 
Reason: In interests of promoting sustainable travel opportunities in 
accordance with Policy I1 of the Local Plan. and in accordance with Local 
Plan Policy T3 New Development and Sustainable Travel. 
 

18. No development shall take place including any works of demolition until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period. The Statement shall provide for: 

Page 63



 The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors. 

 Means of access for construction traffic. 

 Loading and unloading of plant and materials. 

 Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development. 

 Measures to prevent mud/debris from being deposited on the public highway.  
Reason: In the interests of retaining highway efficiency and safety in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy T4. 
 

19. No development shall take place until a survey of the condition of the adopted 
highway condition to be used by construction traffic has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA.  The extent of the area to be surveyed must be 
agreed by the LHA prior to the survey being undertaken.  The survey must 
consist of: 
 
i. A plan to a scale of 1:1250 showing the location of all defects identified 
ii. A written and photographic record of all defects with the corresponding 
location references accompanied by a description of the extent of the assessed 
area and a record of the date, time and weather conditions at the time of survey. 
On completion of the development, a second condition survey of the adopted 
highway shall be carried out to identify defects attributable to the traffic 
associated with the development. It shall be submitted for the written approval of 
the Local Planning Authority.  Any necessary remedial works shall be completed 
at the developer's expense in accordance with a scheme to be agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure that any damage to the adopted highway sustained 
throughout the development process is identified and subsequently 
remedied at the expense of the developer in interests of highway safety and 
in accordance with Local Plan Policy T4.    
 

20. No development shall take place unless and until full surface water drainage 
details, including Yorkshire Water Permission to discharge, have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter no part of 
the development shall be occupied or brought into use until the approved scheme 
has been fully implemented. The scheme shall be retained throughout the life of 
the development unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.  
Reason: To ensure proper drainage of the area in accordance with Local 
Plan Policy POLL1 Pollution Control and Protection. 
 

21. On commencement of the development, a detailed scheme of ecological 
mitigation, enhancement and maintenance shall be submitted for approval in 
writing.  The scheme shall broadly follow the measures set out in the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal on pages 18 and 19 by Brooks Ecological.  The scheme 
shall identify a timetable for implementation and maintenance for 5 years.  The 
scheme shall be accompanied by a plan which clearly identifies what ecological 
features are proposed to be retained, mitigated and enhanced Thereafter the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved measures. 
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and in accordance with Local Plan 
Policy POLL1. 
 

22. On commencement of the development, a Construction Environment 
Management Plan (CEMP Biodiversity) prepared in accordance with BS:42020 
shall broadly follow the measures set out in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

Page 64



on pages 18 and 19 by Brooks Ecological. Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved measures. 
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and in accordance with Local Plan 
Policy POLL1 and BIO1. 
 

23. Upon commencement of development details of measures to facilitate the 
provision of gigabit-capable full fibre broadband for the dwellings/development 
hereby permitted, including a timescale for implementation, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: In order to ensure compliance with Local Plan Policy I1 and in 
accordance with paragraphs 42 and 43 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

24. The existing wall on the eastern boundary of the site fronting Mt Vernon Road and 
on northern boundary of the site along Coach House Lane, shall be retained at all 
times. 
Reason: In the interests of good design and to preserve the setting of the 
nearby Listed Building, in accordance with Local Plan Policy D1 and HE1 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

Page 66



BARNSLEY METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
Report of Senior Conservation Officer, Planning Policy to Planning Regulatory 
Board on 20th October 2020 
 
Proposed Listed Building Enforcement (Repairs) Notice, Worsbrough Hall, 
Worsbrough Village.   
 
1.0 Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To make members aware of the long standing and deteriorating condition 

of Worsbrough Hall and its grounds - a listed building. To explain the reasons 

why statutory enforcement action is necessary and to seek authorisation to 

serve a Listed Building Repair Notice (Repairs Notice)  

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 

(i) The Council withdraws the current (in force) Repairs Notice that was 
served on the 15th of September 2014 that was restricted to numbers 
6 and 7 Worsbrough Hall. 
 

(ii) That, in exercise of statutory powers, the Council serves a new 
Repairs Notice under Section 48 of the Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas Act 1990 on the whole of Worsbrough Hall. This 
Notice would include numbers 4, 5, 6 and 7 Worsbrough Hall 
specifying all repairs and works necessary for the long-term 
preservation of the listed building. A full version of the Repairs 
Notice can be found in the accompanying - Schedule 2. 

 
3.0 Background and Proposal 
 
3.1 Worsbrough Hall is situated at the northern edge of Worsbrough Village 

Conservation Area. The building is grade II listed and is located close to Worsbrough 

Hall Flats which is also listed at grade II. The Hall was the former seat of the 

Edmunds family and was built (or remodelled) by Thomas Edmunds in the 

seventeenth century. However, fragments of earlier building fabric remain within the 

current structure. This suggests the building has an earlier (perhaps post Medieval) 

origin. Thomas Edmunds was a notable member of the minor gentry being secretary 

to Thomas Wentworth 1st Earl of Strafford (1593 – 1641) who resided at Wentworth 

Woodhouse. Worsbrough Hall stayed in the ownership of the Edmunds (Martin – 

Edmunds) family until the late nineteenth century when it was leased to a succession 

of local colliery owners. Subsequently, The Hall was purchased by the NCB who 

auctioned it for sale in the 1960’s. Since then The Hall and its grounds has remained 

in, or partly within (Numbers 6 and 7) the ownership of the (redacted) family. By 

virtue of its age, its architecture, and its past associations, the building has high 

historic significance, and lends much to setting of Worsbrough Conservation Area.  

Arguably, the current grade II listing does not reflect the true importance of the 

building. A location plan showing The Hall and its grounds is included in appendix 1. 

Page 67

Item 5



A photograph of The Hall from the 1960s is included within appendix 2.  By the mid-

1970s The Hall had fallen into a state of disrepair (see further photographs in 

appendix 2). 

Note: Worsbrough Hall Flats which is adjacent to Worsbrough Hall are in a good 

state of repair.  

Previous Attempts to Repair & Restore 

By the late 1970s planning and listed building applications had been granted to 

subdivide The Hall and for enabling development to erect dwellings that would have 

provided finance to undertake the necessary repairs to The Hall. Unfortunately, most 

of these permissions were not implemented. However, demolition at the rear of The 

Hall which linked it with Worsbrough Hall Flats was carried out. This demolition work 

was carried out in the early 1980’s but was not accompanied by the approved works 

to repair and restore the building. By the 1980’s The Hall was subdivided into four 

units (nos. 4, 5, 6 & 7 Hall Close) with nos. 4 & 5 sold off and no longer owned by the 

(redacted) family.  

During the early 1990s a housebuilder (George Longdon Homes) obtained 

permission to repair The Hall and convert the building at its rear (Worsbrough Hall 

Flats) and to erect 4 dwellings. Whilst the building at the rear was converted to flats, 

George London Homes went into receivership before The Hall itself was restored 

and the 4 dwellings were erected. 

During the late 1990’s the Council became increasingly concerned over the lack of 

progress in repairing The Hall and warned the owner repeatedly that this may result 

in enforcement action.  

Following the turn of the millennium, temporary measures were put in place to 

attempt to prevent deterioration of the middle section of the building (see photograph 

in appendix 2). Further permissions for enabling development were granted to 

companies owned by the (redacted) family between 2008 & 2010 but again, these 

have not been implemented.   

Currently, the net result of the demolition of the rear extension / linking range and the 

failure to implement restoration works has been to accelerate the deterioration of 

numbers 6 and 7 Worsbrough Hall.  

 

More Recent Events 

In 2013, land within the grounds of The Hall owned by the (redacted) was 

repossessed by a lending bank and sold at auction to a third party. This third partly 

approached the Council to establish whether it would be possible to work in 

partnership with a view to providing enabling development that would secure the 

repair and restoration of The Hall. For approximately a year officers attempted to 

broker a partnership with the current owners of The Hall and the third party to 

achieve the repair. However, despite numerous attempts by Council officers to 

encourage the owners to work in partnership, it became apparent that this was not 

Page 68



something they would entertain. Instead, the owners attempted to form a partnership 

with a neighbour at Hall Flats with a view to reconstructing the linking range between 

the rear of The Hall and Hall Flats whilst simultaneously repairing The Hall. In due 

course Planning Permission and Listed Building Consent were approved for these 

works. However, the proposal came to nothing and remained unimplemented. As a 

result of the Council’s concern over the state of the building, a Repairs Notice was 

served on the owner of 6 and 7 Worsbrough Hall in September 2014. Despite some 

ad-hoc repairs of poor quality, this Repairs Notice has not been abided by. In 2018 

the owners attempted to resurrect the linking range proposal but this was refused 

due to serious concerns over the details of the application and the accelerating 

deterioration of The Hall. Objections were also received from Historic England. In 

2019 the owners applied to construct a detached annex immediately in front of the 

principal elevation of The Hall, but this was also refused due to concerns over 

serious harm to the setting of The Hall and objections by Historic England. The 

application was appealed to the Planning Inspectorate; however, the appeal failed 

and was not upheld.  

It is worth noting that since 1972, in excess of 35 Planning Applications, Listed 

Building Consents and Appeals have been submitted by the owners for 

developments in and around Worsbrough Hall. However, to date none have resulted 

in the repair of the listed building.  

2017  

In 2017 a large parcel of woodland immediately adjacent and to the east of The Hall 

was sold by the (redacted family name) to a Mr (redacted). The woodland is 

protected by a blanket (woodland) TPO. Following the sale of the wood, the land has 

been developed with road access points, walls, hardstanding’s and is currently 

occupied by numerous caravans, vans and other items. Trees have allegedly been 

damaged, felled or lopped to accommodate this use which has all taken place 

without Planning Permission. The Council is currently engaged in enforcement action 

in relation to these activities.   

2019 

Following discussions with Historic England over concerns over the long-term 

survival of the building, a detailed survey of the whole building (4, 5, 6 and 7) was 

planned the summer of 2019. Unfortunately, access was initially denied by the owner 

of Number 6 and 7. Following further negotiation and the threat of access via a 

Warrant, access was agreed in December 2019. The survey included a detailed 

analysis of the wants and needs of repair of the building both internally and 

externally and included an itemised schedule of repairs. As expected, the results of 

the survey suggest that the central section of The Hall which is missing it’s roof and 

is derelict inside is in the worst condition. Number 7 (West Wing) is in a poor 

condition, and Numbers 4 and 5 need remedial repairs of a less serious nature. The 

survey was carried out by a conservation accredited Architect, and a Valuer 

Surveyor and was part funded by Historic England with a view to supporting The 

Council in resolving the situation. As part of this support, the Head of Legal Services 

at Historic England advised that Repairs Notices should be served on the whole of a 

Page 69



listed building and not part. This is because under legislation, the building is 

protected as a single asset. As such, the aim of a long-term conservation strategy 

(including any statutory action) should be to protect the listed building as a whole 

even though it may be in multiple ownerships.   

 
4.0 Statutory Criteria 
   
Section 48 of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 enables local authorities to serve a 

Repairs Notice on an owner of a listed building specifying those works it considers 

reasonably necessary for the proper long-term preservation of the building.  

Repairs Notices are used when a building is seriously neglected and the need for 
permanent repair accumulates to the point where there is potential for serious 
harm or loss. The condition of a building at the date of listing is crucial in 
determining the extent of repairs that may be specified. In this case the first listing 
occurred in November 1966 at which point the building appeared in a reasonable 
state of repair.  

Following the serving of a Repairs Notice, if after a period of not less than two 

months it appears that reasonable steps have not been taken for the proper 

preservation of a building, the Authority can begin compulsory purchase proceedings 

under section 47 of the Act.  

It is important to note that serving a Repairs Notice under section 48 does not 

commit the authority to proceed to compulsory purchase action immediately. 

However, it does allow an application to me made (for a CPO) if this subsequently 

becomes the only option likely to safeguard the listed building in the long term.  

 Under section 47 and the authority can withdraw the Repairs Notice at any 

time. 

 
5.0 Options 
 
5.1 Withdraw the current Repairs Notice served in 2014 and replace this with a 
comprehensive new Repairs Notice covering the whole of the building. The details of 
the necessary repairs will be taken from the Conservation Architect’s itemised survey 
carried out in December 2019.   
 
5.2 Section 54(I) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 allows local authorities to serve 
and execute an Urgent Works Notice to preserve unoccupied buildings.  This 
alternative option allows for emergency repairs to keep a building wind and 
weatherproof and safe from collapse. Service of an Urgent Works Notice allows the 
council to carry out immediate minor repairs (to a roof for example) and pursue costs 
with the owner. However, it is generally understood the intended scope of works of 
an Urgent Works Notice are aimed at arresting or avoiding serious deterioration and 
are usually not applicable where serious neglect and decay has already occurred. 
Additionally, any listed building that is occupied cannot be served with an Urgent 
Works Notice. The central section of The Hall (Number 6) is unoccupied (in fact it 
appears uninhabitable) but Numbers 4, 5, and 7 are clearly occupied.     

Page 70



  
5.3 Do nothing. This option would result in the continued deterioration of the listed 
building to such an extent that it becomes structurally unsafe. Moreover, delay will 
inevitably result in even greater costs for re-instatement which could escalate 
beyond the point where repair becomes uneconomic. Ultimately this could lead to 
the demolition and loss of a historically and architecturally significant building. 
Additionally, there is a reputational risk to the council in its role as a Planning 
Authority, where Worsbrough Hall becomes an unfortunate precedent, providing a 
template for other owners of derelict listed buildings.  
 
6.0 Local Area Implications 
 
6.1 There are implications for the local area in so much as the current condition of 
The Hall harms the amenity and setting of the conservation area and the adjacent 
listed Hall Flats due to the poor state of the grounds and The Hall. If this were 
rectified, the conservation area setting, and the setting of Hall Flats would be 
improved.   
 
7.0 Compatibility with European Convention on Human Rights 
 
7.1 These proposals are considered compatible with the Convention. 
 
8.0 Ensuring Social Inclusion 
 
8.1 These proposals will have no negative impact on social inclusion.  
 
9.0 Reduction of Crime and Disorder 
 

9.1 These proposals are not considered to have any effect on crime and disorder. 

10.0 Financial Implications 
 
10.1 These proposals are considered to have no financial implications at this point. 
However, if the Council agreed to pursue a Compulsory Purchase Order following 
the serving of the Repairs Notice, there may be financial implications at that point.  
 
11.0 Risk Assessment 
 
11.1 The Council has powers under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to enforce the repairs of listed building where it feels this is 
necessary. The parlous condition of Worsborough Hall is a long-standing issue that 
has implications for the neighbouring area. However, there are also reputational risks 
to the Council associated with inaction which may become an unfortunate precedent.  
 
12.0 Consultations 
 
12.1 Historic England, Planning Regulatory Board 
 
13.0 Proposal 
 

Page 71



13.1 Councillors approve the recommendations in section 2. 
14.0 Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Location  
 

 
 
Appendix 2 – Photographs / Sketches 
 

 
J.C. Nattes 1805 

Page 72



 
1957 

 
1981 

Page 73



 
1987 

 
2016 
 

Page 74



 
2019 

 
2019 
 

Page 75



 
2020 
 
Officer Contact: Tony Wiles Tel: ext 2576 
Date: 1st October 2020 

Page 76



 
 
 
 
 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, section 48 
 
REPAIRS NOTICE IN RESPECT OF 
Numbers 4, 5, 6 and 7 
Worsbrough Hall 
Hall Close 
Worbrough Village 
Barnsley 
S70 5LN 
 
ISSUED BY Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 
  
THIS IS AN IMPORTANT NOTICE AFFECTING YOUR PROPERTY 
LISTED BUILDINGS REPAIRS NOTICE 
 
To:  
 

 (Redacted) of 4 Hall Close 

 (Redacted) of 5 Hall Close 

 (Redacted) of 6 and 7 Hall Close 
 

At Worsborough Village, Barnsley, South Yorkshire, S70 5LN. 
 

1. The building known as Worsbrough Hall (‘The Building’) is a listed building under 
section 1(5) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
(hereinafter known as ‘the 1990 Act’).   The Building is shown edged in red on the 
map attached to this Notice and described for identification purposes only in 
Schedule 1 of this Notice. 

 
2. It appears to Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council (‘the Local Authority’) whose 

area includes the Building and being the Local Authority for the purposes of section 
48 of the 1990 Act that the works specified within Schedule 2 (‘the Works’) of this 
Notice are reasonably necessary for the proper preservation of the Building. 
 

3. NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Local Authority considers the works specified 
within Schedule 2 of this Notice reasonably necessary for the proper preservation of 
the Building. 
 

4. If after two months from the date of service of this Notice the Local Authority have not 
withdrawn the Notice, the Local Authority may ask the Secretary of State to authorise 
it to acquire compulsorily the Building and any land contiguous or adjacent to it which 
appears to the Secretary of State to be required for preserving the Building or its 
amenities, or for affording access to it, or for its proper control or management. 
 

5. The Secretary of State may make or confirm an order for the compulsory purchase of 
the Building and any land contiguous or adjacent to it if: 

a) it appears to him/her that reasonable steps are not being taken for the proper 
preservation of the Building 

b) s/he is satisfied that it is expedient to make provision for the preservation of the 
Building  

c) and s/he is satisfied that it is expedient for that purpose for it to be acquired 
compulsorily. 

 
6. If compulsory purchase procedures are initiated then any person having an interest in 

the Building which it is proposed to acquire compulsorily may, within 28 days after 
the service   of the Notice required under section 12 of the Acquisition of Land Act 
1981, apply to a magistrates’ court for an order staying the proceedings on the 
ground that reasonable steps have been taken to properly preserve the Building. 

 
 
 

Page 77



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
7. On compulsory purchase of the Building, it shall be assumed for the purpose of 

assessing compensation that listed building consent would be granted for any works: 
a) for the alteration or extension of the Building or 
b) for the demolition of the Building for the purpose of development of any class 

specified in Schedule 3 to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (development 
not constituting new development). 

 
8. If the Secretary of State is satisfied that the Building has been deliberately allowed to 

fall into disrepair for the purpose of justifying its demolition and the development or 
re-development of the site, or any adjoining site, he may include in the compulsory 
purchase order a direction for minimum compensation. 
 

9. The effect of such a direction is that for the purpose of assessing compensation that 
is payable for compulsory purchase it is assumed that: 

a) planning permission would not be granted for any development or re-development of 
the site of the Building, and 

b) that listed building consent would not be granted for any works, other than works 
necessary for restoring the Building to and maintaining it in a proper state of repair. 

 
10. Where such direction is included in a compulsory purchase order or draft order any 

person having an interest in the Building may, within 28 days after service of the 
Notice of minimum compensation direction, apply to a magistrates’ court for an order 
that no such direction should be included. 
 

11. If you wish to discuss this Notice or any related matter you should contact the Local 
Authority’s Conservation Officer on telephone number 01226 772576 or by email at 
tonywiles@barnsley.gov.uk as soon as possible. 

 
 
 
 
DATED    XX October 2020              
 
 
Signed 
 
 
 
On behalf of:    

    Director of Legal and Governance 

 

    Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 

    Town Hall 

    Barnsley 

    S70 2TA 

   

  Ref:  LEGAL REF REQUIRED 

  

Page 78



 
 
 
 
 
SCHEDULE 1 
The Building as shown for the purposes of identification only edged red on the attached plan. 
 
SCHEDULE 2 
Specification of works to be carried out to the Building in order to secure its proper 
preservation. 
 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Schedule 1 – Worsbrough Hall 

 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
SCHEDULE 2 REPAIR NOTICE WORKS 
 
 
1  ACCESS, SAFETY AND SECURITY PROVISIONS 
 
1.1 Provide and maintain while works are being carried out all scaffold, boarding, screens, 
sheeting and barriers necessary to keep the building secure, and protect workers / 
occupants during the duration of the works. 
 
1.2 Install temporary propping in accordance with the directions of a structural engineer in 
order to stabilise any unsupported stairs, floor joists, and the structure generally. Provide 
suitable fixed access between floors where stairs do not exist. Provide boarding of a 
suitable strength wherever floor boarding is missing to prevent people falling through or 
where stair treads are missing. Cordon off floor areas where joists are missing or 
unsupportable and display warning signs for duration of works. 
 
1.3 Clear out rubbish and materials from internal spaces so that all areas are open to 
inspection and free from nesting places.  
 

• Prepare an inventory of all surviving historic features.  
 
Protect any affixed historic items for the duration of the course of works by plastic sheeting 
or other appropriate method. All loose historic materials shall be retained and stored within 
a secure area within the building. 
 
1.4 Install and maintain (for the duration of the works) a temporary roof cover to protect 
areas of the building that do not have a complete or continuous permanent roof covering.  
 
1.5 All new external and internal works, and works of making good to the existing fabric, 

should match the existing adjacent work with regard to the methods used and to 

material, colour, texture and profile, unless specified otherwise in the above schedule, or 

agreed in writing by the local planning authority. It is strongly advised that contractors 

engaged to carry out the works should be experienced in dealing with historic and listed 

buildings. 

 

PLEASE NOTE: elements of the Repairs Notice may require the submission of a further 

detailed listed building consent application where either: 

 

• Any unapproved demolition or removal of original fixtures has taken place or: 

 

• If in the course of repair there is a need to deviate from the original building 

arrangement / detail / fabric or appearance*.    

 
*This might for example include the imposition of structural steel for load bearing of floors 

or roof or relieving lintels over window openings, or the re-creation / installation of stairs 

(which are currently missing) to re-connect floors.  

 
The following schedule of works includes a descriptive element of the condition of each part 
of the building in question. Following this is a list of repair needs for each respective section.   
 
A complete version of the condition survey that informs the Repairs Notice and a unit 
itemised schedule of works is available on request.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



 
 

WORKS 

 
Repair wants and needs noted are detailed to meet the following objectives: 
 
Priority U:  Urgent (works required within 1 year to preserve value and utility of the building 

if development isn’t viable at the present time. 
 
Priority E:  Essential (as part of any development to meet statutory obligations associated 

with new use, to maintain wind and watertightness or deferral would lead to 
increased costs at a later date). 

 
Priority D:  Desirable (as part of any development to save in running or operational costs, to 

improve function or performance or to enhance or reinstate features, character or 
setting). 

 
 

 
 
2.0 THE ROOFS 
 
Description: The roof over the majority of the 17th century Jacobean Hall has dual pitched 

stone roofs over the East and West wings and the link building between the 
two. 
 
The roof is generally stone tiles of diminishing courses, with stone ridges, 
stone chimneys and verge copings with decorative finials. 

 
The West Wing has a dual pitched roof which runs North to South with gables 
at each end and a stone chimney straddling the ridge. Both gables have stone 
copings forming water tabling with stone finial at the apex. 
The Link Building has a dual pitched roof which runs west to east and meets 
the roof over the West and the East Wing. The north side of this roof at one 
time did have three dual pitched roofs running from south to north facing 
gables. One of these three is present in full over property number 5, one is 
partly present in a state of disrepair and the third central roof has been 
demolished to be replaced with the return pitch of the dual pitched roof over 
the main Link Building. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 84



Records suggest the height of the East Wing was increased in the 18th century 
to include an additional storey of accommodation and the associated roof over 
which has a dual pitch running north to south with gables at each end. 
The only remaining stone chimney is located at the north gable along the ridge 
line. 
 
South gable has stone copings forming water tabling with stone finial at the 
apex. 

 
 
Condition: The following condition was recorded from ladder access to gutter level and 

visual inspection from ground level. 
 
To identify which roof is being described, the existing roof areas have been 
divided up in to the areas A, B, B1, B2 and C. 
 

• Roof A:   
Over the West Wing, property no. 7, coloured yellow. 
 

• Roof B:   
Over the Link Building, property no. 6 and parts of property 5 & 7, 
coloured red. 
 

• Roof C:   
Over the East Wing, properties nos. 4 & 5. 

 
 
 
2.1  Roof A: West Wing (coloured yellow) 
 
Description / 
Condition: Chimney stack no. 1 has open pointing to all joints. Constructed from large 

stone sections with a smooth face. Top course above feature stone string 
course looks loose with each joint widening and open. Lead cover flashings 
have been fitted into saw cuts within face of stone. The lead cover flashings 
are in poor condition, split and torn, falling away from where they were installed 
on East and West sides of the ridge. North East corner of the chimney just 
above the cover flashing a top corner of the stone is missing. 

 

                           
 

         
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



 
 
All the stone ridge sections appear to be present and mortar bedded. However, 
the ridge line does undulate due to poor workmanship as sections have been 
re-bedded, particularly adjacent the chimney on the South side. Also poor 
bedding and workmanship to the South end towards gable no. 1 and North 
end towards gable no. 2. Open pointing to the majority of joints. 

 
Stone water tabling to gable no. 1 has open pointing with heavy mortar bedding 
and flaunching against roof tiles, no indication of lead soakers or flashings 
present.  
 

       
 
Stone water tabling to gable no. 2 west facing has open pointing with heavy 
mortar bedding and flaunching which has cracked and come away from the 
copings. On the east facing side there are less coping stones due to the 
abutment with the adjoining roof. Mortar bedding looks in poor condition and 
copings look loose. As the copings run down towards the adjoining roof the 
last coping is broken with some stone coping missing. 

 
Both gables have stone finials at the ridge, weather worn with open joints. 

 
West facing side of roof A has a slight sag down from gable no. 2. Stone roof 
tiles are approximately 20-25mm thick and generally in good condition 
estimated 70% salvageable from visual inspection from the ground and ladder. 
There are locations where 1 or 2 tiles have slipped out of position. At ridge 
level to the south end of the roof there are roof tiles missing and poor quality 
repair works. 

    
 
East facing side of roof. With restricted access in this area it was still possible 
to see from the ground that this side of the roof is in a much worse condition. 
Stone tiles cracked and missing throughout estimated 40% salvageable. In 3 
locations there is a full tile missing. North of the chimney there is a run of 3 to 
4 roof tiles missing at ridge level. Roof A has a slight sag down from gable no. 
1 at the south end. The South end of this roof has been subject to inappropriate 
repair works with heavy mortar pointing which is very poor. The lead valley 
where the roof meets roof B is present and in decent condition but does look 
to have steep sides. The roof on the east side of the valley has a cross fall 
towards the valley. 
 
The condition of the underlying roof structure could not be determined due to 
lack of internal access. 
 
Roof A is generally in poor condition.  There appears to have been on-going 
issues with areas of slipped slate due potentially to decayed retaining pegs 
and roof battens. 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 
 
The high number of defects and possible deterioration of the timber roof 
structure in places justifies full re-roofing. 
 

Roof A 
Repair Needs:  
   

1. Commission a timber condition report. E 
 

2. Repair / replace all defective timbers. E 
 

3. Re-roof allowing 60% import of matching reclaimed 
slate. 

E 
 

4. Reset verge tabling on lead tray making allowance for 1 
no. replacement stone. 
 

 
E 

5. Repoint chimney stack no. 1 and indent 1 no. stone, 
rebed top course and reflaunch. 

 
E 
 

6. Repoint finial. E 
2.2   
 
Description / Condition:  
 

Roof B: Link Building (coloured red) 
 

Chimney stack no. 2 is in the process of being re-constructed with new / re-
claimed stone. 

 
The ridge running West to East over the Link Building is stone ridged mortar 
bedded in poor condition. Approximately half of the ridge tiles are missing.  A 
number of stone ridges circa 10 are located within the roof void. 
 
The ridge running South from gable 3 is undulating badly due the un-even roof 
construction. Heavily mortar bedded towards gable 3 and then open joints with 
mortar bedding and stone tiles below missing at the south end. 
The ridge running South from gable 4 is in good condition. Stone ridge sections 
mortar bedded and pointed. 

 
South facing side of roof B, with restricted access in this area it was still 
possible to see from the ground that this side of the roof is in very poor 
condition. A large aperture where an original chimney has been taken down 
circa 4 x 3m. Stone roof tiles are not of good quality, missing, slipped out of 
position and many broken tiles everywhere. Estimated no more than 30% 
salvageable. At the roof abutment with the wall to the upper floor of property 
No. 5 there is a cross fall towards the facing stone. Lead abutment flashing in 
this area requires closer inspection, lead soakers present and visible the cross 
fall of the roof may have exposed them. The cover flashing is large and straight 
dressed into a saw cut rather than stepped and dressed in to horizontal joints. 

 
The roof over the full height entrance porch can only be estimated to be in a 
similar condition as the previously mentioned roof due to restricted access, 
however it was possible to see that the lead valley flashings were present. 
Stone tabling has open pointing and significant overhang to horizontal sections 
at eaves. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



 
 

            
 

Roof B1:  West side adjacent gable no. 3 area inspected from ladder and 
existing scaffold. The roof in this area is deteriorating badly and in very poor 
condition. Stone roof tiles removed in areas and covered with temporary 
sheeting. Both sides of the roof adjacent gable no. 3 are in poor condition with 
exposed rotten rafters and stone tiles missing, slipped and broken slate. 
Estimated that 40-30% salvageable where stone roof tiles are actually present 
for a reconstruction of the roofs. 

 
Roof B2:  East side. Adjacent gable no. 4 area inspected from existing scaffold 
and ground level. This roof has been recently reconstructed and appeared to 
be in good condition. 

 
North Porch: Single storey entrance porch adjacent gable no. 3 in very poor 
condition. Stone ridge sections are broken and not fit for re-use. Stone water 
tabling and eaves parapet gutter copings have open joints with some sections 
out of alignment. Eaves coping at the abutment with the Link Building on north 
side of the porch is missing. Stone finial at ridge line in fair condition. 
Stone roof tiles are not of good quality, missing, slipped and broken tiles 
throughout. Estimated no more than 30% salvageable. Lead lined parapet 
gutters are present but full of debris and vegetation. At the abutment with the 
external wall lead flashings consist of lead soakers and lead cover flashing 
dressed into saw cut. The cover flashing not in good condition and falling out 
of the saw cut in areas. 

 
The flat roof over the single storey entrance area. Roof falls towards an outlet 
in the East elevation. The roof has received a very recent coating of chromopol 
fibre paint covering, colour light grey. The application of the fibre paint is 
thorough but the perimeter detail is not good, lead flashings have not been 
lifted prior to application of the paint and then replaced. The fibre paint has 
been painted on with the lead cover flashings remaining in place which isn’t a 
strong perimeter detail and looks untidy.  However, this roof is currently not 
leaking and therefore no action currently recommended. 

 
 
Roof B 
Repair Needs:  
 

Following full roof timber repairs noted elsewhere: 
 

1. Replace leadwork valleys and layboards where Roof B 
meets Roof B1, B2, A & C and South Porch. 
 

 
U 
 

2. Re-roof all areas outlined in colour red. U 
 

3. North Porch:  Check box gutter substrate, replace if 
necessary and reline gutter in Code 6 leadwork. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
U 
 

Page 88



 
 
2.3  Roof C: East Wing  
 

East facing side of Roof C inspected from ground level.  West facing slope was 
not visible due to restricted access. 
 
Where visible this roof appears to be in fair to good condition with all slate 
intact. 
 
Gable no. 5 has a typical mortar pointed verge each side of chimney no. 3, in 
fair condition. 
 
Gable no. 6 is capped with stone verge tabling with some eroded and open 
joints and defective bedding and flaunching mortar with stone roof slate.  No 
indication of lead soakers or flashings present. 
 
Gable no. 6 south-east corner verge tabling stone has a large corner missing 
and the joint with horizontal section is open. 
 
Chimney stack no. 3 is mostly original to string, 1 no. metre below ridge level.  
The stack above this level has been rebuilt with leadwork flashings in place 
and all in good condition. 
 
String course, 1 no. metre below ridge, is heavily eroded and has a crack 
running diagonally through the course at the north-east corner.  Some erosion 
of stonework below the thin string course due to water shed but sound enough 
for now. 
 
Chimney stack no. 4 has been reduced in height with top of chimney just below 
gutter level.  Capping detail and ventilation require checking, as does the back 
gutter leadwork and flashings. 

 
Roof C 
Repair Needs:  
   

1. Gable no. 6:  Rake out and repoint all verge cappings 
with roof slate. 
 

 
E 
 

2. Repoint finial. E 
 

3. Stitch dowel stack quoin block and repoint. D 
 
 
 
 
3.0 RAINWATER GOODS AND DISPOSAL SYSTEM 
 

GUTTERS AND FALLPIPES 
 
Description: Profiled timber gutters generally around the hall with lead stop ends and gutter 

outlets into cast iron hoppers or directly into cast iron downpipes. 
 

West wing gutters supported via cast iron drive in gutter brackets of various 
types. 

 
Link Building gutters where present supported by cast iron gutter brackets and 
fixed to timber fascia boards. 
 
East wing gutters supported via cranked metal gutter straps fixed back to top 
of rafters. 

 
Fallpipes are predominantly circular cast iron but with modern replacement 
sections in plastic. 
 
 

Page 89



 
 

The following condition information relates to the roof plan above and 
numbered fallpipe locations. 

 
Condition: West wing, west facing timber gutter is in fair condition but would benefit from 

cleaning and painting.  West gutter has only one fallpipe and this should be 
supplemented with a second located at the south-west corner. Lead gutter 
outlet is good, in place and working. Cast iron gutter brackets are showing rust 
and types vary.  

 
3.1 RWP 1: Cast iron box hopper painted black collecting surface water from the 

lead outlet. Hopper is showing rust with deteriorating fixings. 80mm diameter 
cast iron fallpipe painted black showing rust, fixed with 6 no. cast iron fixing 
straps showing rust and unevenly spaced. Drainage connection at base of 
fallpipe is present however not connected and not in-line with fallpipe. Clay 
gully present but not in place. 

 
The gutters to the single storey entrance porch adjacent gable no. 3 are lead 
lined parapet box gutters full of debris and vegetation. 
 

3.2  RWP 1A:  Install an additional fallpipe. 
 
3.3 RWP 2: Circular lead outlet from the parapet box gutter approx. 50mm 

diameter is in poor condition misshapen and squashed in places and doesn’t 
extend into the fallpipe. 80mm diameter cast iron fallpipe painted black 
showing rust, fixed with 1 no. cast iron fixing strap showing rust. No gully 
present. 

 
The timber gutter adjacent gable no. 3. east side is missing, west side is in 
very poor condition and almost ready to fall from it’s current location due to a 
large lead flashing slipping out of position. Gutter, lead flashing and stone roof 
tiles need removing to ensure safety of people below. 

 
3.4 Missing RWP: Record photo’s suggest there was a fallpipe on the north west 

corner that must have been removed when the link building was demolished. 
 

The timber gutters adjacent gable 4. East and west side are both present in 
good condition, recently painted and fixed to timber fascia boards. Lead gutter 
outlets and stop ends. 

 
3.5 RWP 3: 80mm diameter cast iron fallpipe in fair condition, painted black 

showing minimal rust, fixed with cast iron fixing straps. Pipework and brackets 
need painting. 

 
3.6 RWP 4: 80mm diameter cast iron fallpipe in fair condition, painted black 

showing minimal rust, fixed with cast iron fixing straps. Pipework and brackets 
need painting. Fallpipe discharges on to flat roof. 

 
Flat roof outlet discharges under the parapet copings via lead flashings and in 
to the hopper. 

 
3.7  RWP 5: 75mm diameter Upvc fallpipe black, fairly new, good condition. 
 

East wing, east facing timber gutter serving property no. 5 looks to have been 
recently renewed and is in fair condition painted white. Lead gutter outlet is 
located between properties no. 4 & 5 and connects in to cast iron fallpipe. 
Gutter supported via cranked metal gutter straps fixed back to top of rafters. 
The east facing gutter serving property no. 4 is not in the same condition as 
no. 5. This gutter is in poor condition. Adjacent the fallpipe the gutter doesn’t 
look too bad but it deteriorates as it runs towards the south east corner. This 
gutter has not been maintained and the south east corner has rotted away to 
nothing. Gutter supported via cranked metal gutter straps fixed back to top of 
rafters. 

 
 

Page 90



 
 
3.8 RWP 6: 100mm diameter cast iron fallpipe which may have been a combined 

fallpipe at one time due to 2 no. 50mm diameter stub connections located at 
both stone string course levels. Upper sections look to be in fair condition but 
lower sections are cracked and need replacing. Fallpipe disharges in to clay 
gully at ground level. 

 
East wing, west facing timber gutter is in fair condition but would benefit from 
cleaning and painting.  Lead gutter outlet connects to hopper via cranked Upvc 
section. Gutter supported via cranked metal gutter straps fixed back to top of 
rafters. 

 
3.9 RWP 7: Cast iron box hopper painted black collecting surface water from the 

gutter outlet. Hopper and 80mm diameter cast iron fallpipe painted black with 
both showing rust. 

 
3.10 RWP 8: 75mm diameter Upvc downpipe at high level discharging on to link 

building roof. 
 

Link Building south facing gutters are timber and look to be a similar age and 
condition to those on the adjacent return east wing, unable to fully assess the 
condition due to restricted access. 

 
3.11 RWP 9: East side internal corner of the full height entrance porch fallpipe is 

present and looks to be in working order; unable to survey due to restricted 
access. 

 
3.12 RWP 10: West side internal corner of the full height entrance porch was not 

possible to confirm the presence of a fallpipe due to restricted access. 
 

West wing, east facing timber gutter is in fair condition but would benefit from 
cleaning and painting.  Due to access restrictions it is hard to say if a lead 
outlet is present. It is clear to see there is a long sanding leak in the centre of 
the gutter and a large portion of the external wall is water soaked and green. 

 
3.13 RWP 11: Fallpipe should be located on the south west corner but not visible 

due to vegetation and restricted access. 
 
3.14 SVP 1, 2 & 3: 100mm diameter uPVC grey plastic ventilation pipes. Situated 

internally and taken up through roof construction, collar flashings present and 
appear to be in fair condition. All three pipes missing top grille. 

 
 
Repair Needs: Rainwater Pipes: 
 
   

1. RWP 1A: 
Introduce new fallpipe in 100 dia cast-iron. 
 

 
E 
 

2. RWP 1, 3, 4, 7, 9 & 10: 
Check all fixing brackets and re-decorate with rust 
inhibiting paint system. 
 

 
 

E 

3. RWP 2: 
Form new 100 dia lead chute outlet to parapet box gutter.   
Cast-iron fallpipe:  Decorate in rust inhibiting paint 
system. 
Construct new gulley and soakaway. 
 

 
 
 

E 

4. RWP 5 & 11: 
Desirable to exchange for 100 dia cast-iron. 
 
 
 
 

 
D 
 

Page 91



 
 

5. RWP 6: 
Renew lower section in matching pipework. 
 

 
E 

6. RWP 8: 
No action – difficult to see at high level. 
 

 
- 

  Gutters: 
 
   

7. West wing, west: 
Decorate gutter inside and out and prepare and apply 
rust inhibiting paint to all support brackets. 
 

 
 

E 

8. West wing, east: 
Take down gutters, prepare and redecorate with rust 
inhibiting paint system. 

 
 

E 
9. East wing, west: 

Clean and decorate.  Prepare and decorate metal 
support brackets. 
 

 
 

E 

10. East wing, east: 
Unit 5:  Clean and decorate. 
Unit 4:  Replace timber gutter and decorate. 
 
 

 
D 
U 

4.0 WINDOWS 
 

Refer to window references indicated on the existing floor plans below. 
 
 

                           

 
                                      Ground Floor Plan                                     
 
 
 

Page 92



 
 

 
 
                                                                   First Floor Plan 
 
Description / Condition:  
 
4.1 GFW1 to GFW4: Metal framed windows within stone jambs, cills and heads 

with stone mullions and transoms. Metal ‘T’ bar framework with window putty 
securing single glazed window panes. Framework painted white, showing rust 
in various locations. Fair to poor condition. 

 
4.2 FFW1 to FFW5: Timber framed sash windows within stone jambs, cills and 

heads. Sash windows are single glazed with framework and beading painted 
white. Window FF/W4 has a pane of glass missing with a plywood 
replacement. The paint finish is in poor condition and as a result so are the 
timber frames and beading. Window cills are rotting, in particular window 
FF/W5.  

 

                
 
4.3 GFW5: Timber framed windows within stone jambs, cills and heads with stone 

mullions and transoms. Fixed single glazed windows with perimeter framework 
painted white. Overall these windows are in a fair / poor condition. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 
 
4.4 FFW6: Lead framed within stone jambs, cills and heads with stone mullions 

and transoms. Single glazed with small panes, framework heavily painted 
white. Broken and missing window quarries missing over all 4 lights. Lead 
framework is bellied, bowed and twisted throughout. Overall window in very 
poor condition. 

 

                                            
 
4.5 SFW1: Lead framed windows within stone jambs, cills and heads with a stone 

mullion. Single glazed windows with small quarries in a square formation, 
framework heavily painted white. Lead framework is bowed inwards. The 
second window has been replaced with a solid panel. Overall these windows 
are in very poor condition. 

 

                                     
 
4.6 GFW6 & GFW7: Stone jambs, cills and heads with a central stone mullion. 

Windows boarded over unable to survey condition. 
 
4.7 FFW7: Blocked with tooled facing stone, good workmanship all existing stone 

jambs, cills and heads in existing locations. 
 
4.8 FFW8: Metal framed windows within stone jambs, cills and heads with stone 

mullions and transoms. Metal ‘T’ bar framework with window putty securing 
single glazed window panes. Framework painted white, showing rust in various 
locations. Overall these windows are in a poor condition. 

 

                                      
 
4.9 FFW9 & SFW2: Timber framed sash windows within stone jambs, cills and 

heads. Single glazed with framework and beading painted white. Recently 
painted. Overall these windows are in a fair condition. 

 
 
 
 

Page 94



 
 
4.10 GFW8: Timber framed window within stone jambs, cills and semi-circular head 

stone. Fixed single glazed window with perimeter framework painted white. 
Overall this window is in good condition. 

 
4.11 FFW10 & SFW3: Metal framed windows within stone jambs, cills and heads. 

Metal ‘T’ bar framework with window putty securing single glazed window 
panes. Framework painted white, showing rust in various locations. Overall 
these windows are in a fair condition. 

 
4.12  TFW1: White uPVC window colour white, overall condition good. 
 
4.13 GFW9, GFW10, FFW11 to FFW13, SFW4 & SFW6: Timber framed sash 

windows within stone jambs, cills and heads. Single glazed with framework 
and beading painted white. Recently painted. Overall these windows are in a 
fairly good condition. 

 
4.14 SFW6: Timber framed casement window within stone jambs, cills and heads. 

Single glazed with framework and beading painted white. Recently painted. 
Overall this window is in a fairly good condition. 

 
4.15 GFW11, GFW12, FFW14 to FFW16, SFW7 to SFW9: Timber framed sash 

windows within stone jambs, cills and heads. Single glazed with framework 
and beading painted white. These windows are in need of refurbishment and 
repair. Cracked pane to window GFW12. Generally window putty missing in 
various places with some rotting to window framework in particular the cills. 
Overall these windows are in a fairly poor condition. 

 
4.16 GFW13, FFW17 & SFW10: Metal framed windows within stone jambs, cills 

and heads with stone mullions and transoms. Metal ‘T’ bar framework with 
window putty securing single glazed window panes. Framework painted white, 
showing rust in various locations. Window SFW10 showing more rust and 
deterioration than the two windows below. Broken pane to window GFW13. 
Overall these windows are in a fair condition. 

 
4.17 GFW14, FFW18, SFW11 & SFW12: Metal framed windows within stone 

jambs, cills and heads with stone mullions and transoms. Metal ‘T’ bar 
framework with window putty securing single glazed window panes. 
Framework painted white, showing a little rust in various locations. Overall 
these windows are in a fairly good condition. 

 
The following windows were surveyed from a distance due to restricted 

access. 
 
4.18 GFW15, 16 & 17 FFW19 to 25: Metal framed windows within stone jambs, cills 

and heads with stone mullions and transoms. Metal ‘T’ bar framework with 
window putty securing single glazed window panes. Framework painted white, 
showing rust in various locations. Windows FFW21 & FFW25 showing more 
rust and deterioration than others in this area with at least two broken panes. 
Overall these windows are in a poor condition. 

 

                                   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



 
 
4.19 GFW18, GFW19: Metal framed windows within stone jambs, cills and heads 

with stone mullions and transoms. Metal ‘T’ bar framework with window putty 
securing single glazed window panes. Framework painted white. Recently 
painted. Overall these windows are in a fairly good condition. 

 
4.20 GFW20 & FFW26: Very little of these windows visible due to vegetation. Metal 

framed windows within stone jambs, cills and heads with stone mullions and 
transoms. Metal ‘T’ bar framework with window putty securing single glazed 
window panes. Framework painted white, showing rust in various locations. 
Overall these windows seem to be in a fairly poor condition. 

 
Repair Needs:  

1. FFW1 to FFW5:  Overhaul timber windows and include 
for 3 no. splice cill repairs and 1 no. replacement of 
window quarry and full sand mastic replacement. 
 

 
 

E 
 

2. GFW5:  Renew and reglaze with micro double glazing. U 
 

3. FFW6:  Replace broken panes and overall repair 
including insertion of saddle bar to arrest twist and 
distortion. 
 

 
E 
 

4. SFW1:  Overhaul left hand light and restrain internally 
with saddle bar and replace right hand light with metal 
casement with leaded light. 
 

 
 

E 

5. GFW6 and GFW7:  Allowance to be made for 
replacement metal casement, 4-pane lights to match 
window FFW8. 
 

 
E 

6. FFW7:  Blind window:  No action. 
 

- 

7. FFW8:  Overhaul window. 
 

E 

8. GFW11, GFW12, FFW14, FFW15, FFW16, SFW7, 
SFW8, SFW9: Timber framed 6 over 6 sash windows. 
Overhaul all windows including replacement putty 
glazing, sand mastic.  Allowance to be made for 2 no. full 
and 2 no. part cill splice repairs and full redecoration. 
 

 
 
 
 

U 

9. GFW14, FFW18, SFW11 and SFW12:  Metal framed 
windows, overhaul and redecorate windows. 
 

 
E 

10. GFW1 – GFW4, GFW15, 16 & 17, FFW19 to 25:  Metal 
frame windows, overhaul all windows including 
replacement putty glazing, sand mastic.  Allowance to be 
made for 3 no. replacement panes. 
 

 
 

U 

11. GFW20 & FFW26:  Overhaul including replacement 
putty glazing, sand mastic and full redecoration. 

 
U 

 
 
5.0 DOORS 
 

Refer to door references indicated on the existing floor plans above. 
 
Description / Condition:  
 
5.1 GFD1: Solid core timber panelled double doors with three single glazed vision 

panels to each door. Paint finish is fair to poor and missing in various places. 
Frame seal is not good. These doors are in poor condition. 

 
 
 

Page 96



 
 

                                         
 
5.2 GFD2: Solid core timber double doors with glazed vision panels to each door. 

Paint finish is good. Doors look to have been recently installed. These doors 
are in good condition. 

 
5.3 GFD3: Solid core timber panelled single door with obscure single glazed fan 

light over. Paint finish is fair to poor and missing in various places especially 
the threshold area. Concrete steps leading up to the door are un-even and 
need reconstructing. This door is in fairly poor condition. 

 

                        
 
5.4 GFD4: Solid core timber single door. Paint finish is not good and missing in 

various places. Restricted access in this area didn’t allow a close inspection 
but from a distance this door looks in fair condition. 

 

          
5.5 GFD5: Unable to assess the condition of this door due to restricted access and 

obstructed line of sight. 
 
Repair Needs:  
  

1. GFD1: Full overhaul and repair including replacement 
mastic and full decoration. 
 

 
E 
 

2. GFD3: Overhaul door. E 
 

3. GFD5: Repair unknown. Allowance for full overhaul and 
repair. 

E 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



 
 
6.0 EXTERNAL WALLS 
 
Description: External walls are built with local sandstone with tooled face flush pointed 10-

15mm joints. Tooled face type varies from punched, parallel punched and 
diagonal punched. 

 
Windows and door openings are generally dressed with stone surrounds with 
splayed heads, cills, jambs, mullions and transoms. 

 
Chamfered stone string courses to west wing at first floor level and another 
just below gutter level. East wing has string courses at first and second floor 
level with a decorative stone string course at gutter level to south facing gable 
6. 
 
Generally all walls have ben repointed in a cement based mortar which is not 
recommended for use on historic buildings due to tendency to encourage 
accelerated erosion of the stonework.  However, removal can do more harm 
than good and unless it is found to be attributing to erosion our 
recommendation is that the pointing should remain.  This point will not be noted 
again. 

 
Condition:  
 
6.1  West wing, west elevation: 

Eroded stone at high level below gutter string course adjacent gable 1. 
Line of external stone leaf is not straight and steps back adjacent window 
GFW3.  Some external leaf disconnect is suspected as a consequence of the 
earlier fabric alterations – see historic photographs.  No immediate action 
required but wall should be monitored for further movement. 
 

                           
 
Light cracking within the vertical joint adjacent window FFW5 between stone 
jamb and facing stonework which ends just below cill level where there is a 
crack through 1 facing stone. 
                                               
One facing stone below window FFW4 is wrongly bedded and has suffered 
weather damage to it’s face.  No immediate action required. 
 
Bricks laid on their side as make shift air bricks at low level.  Replace and insert 
3 no. decorative steel grilles. 

 
6.2  West wing, North elevation: 

Facing stones above and adjacent window SFW1are weather eroded with 
pitted face but considered satisfactory.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



 
 

                   
 

Window GFW5 Lower stone mullion and right hand stone transom are in poor 
condition, heavily eroded and unsightly with loss of definition and integrity. 
Replace stonework and refurbish windows 

 
                                         

6.3  Link Building, West elevation: 
The west corner return at first floor level where it meets window FFW8 the 
external facing stonework and internal leaf and infill requires reconstruction. At 
low level the return towards the porch has brickwork infill between quoins, 
which is inappropriate and should be replaced in matching stonework. There 
is an anomaly at ground level with the alignment of the external fabric. 
 

                            
   
At high level a triangular area below the roof verge has been constructed with 
inappropriate blockwork and brickwork.  

 
The masonry forming the upper gable parapets and verge water tabling of the 
entrance porch adjacent gable no. 3 is loose and displaced. Open joints 
generally. Upstand wall to pediment and verge copings generally misaligned 
as is the door lintel, possibly due to the outward movement of the decayed 
gutter and roof structure timbers. 
 
Generally poor quality pointing in various locations. The underside of the door 
lintel and shield carving is lightly eroded losing some definition and requires 
minor descaling.  
 
The whole of the upper portion of the porch from head of the door upwards 
should be rebuilt and the whole porch repointed. 

 
6.4  Link building, North elevation: 

Gable no. 3 at ground floor level the facing stone has been re-constructed with 
a good quality facing stone which requires repointing. Outer leaf above first 
floor level missing.  
 
Drawing 1 below shows the extent of rebuilding still to be completed.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



 
 

 
 

 
North Elevation 

 
 
 

 
 

East/West of North Elevation 
 

 
Between gables nos. 3 and 4 there is a temporary blockwork wall built with 
restraining pier to height of 6 metres built to provide security and weather 
protection.  
 
Gable no. 4 stonework and pointing in fair to good condition along with the 
return wall towards gable no. 5. 

 
6.5  East wing, North elevation: 

Masonry and pointing to the single storey entrance area with the flat roof is in 
fair to good condition flush pointed. Gable no. 5 facing stone is weather eroded 
throughout the gable peak.  Worst areas below the verge pointing. 
 
The local / uneven erosion may be due to the use of cement rich pointing and 
I recommend that the upper gable joints are raked out and repointed in a lime 
based mortar. 
 

6.6  East wing, East elevation: 
Vast majority of the facing stonework is in good condition, flush pointed. 
Fine crack running up from head of window GFW9 to cill of window FFW11 
mostly within the mortar joints but has cracked the corner off one facing stone. 
Upper section of the stone jamb to window FFW12 missing a significant piece 
of stone from the inner edge. To indent missing sections of stone and rake out 
and repoint cracked masonry joints in lime based mortar. 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



 
 

                                  
 
                                              Window FFW12 
 

6.7  East wing, South elevation: 
The vast majority of the facing stonework is in good condition, flush pointed. 
There are however several stones with weather eroded faces dotted around 
the elevation. As per Gable no. 5, I recommend the stonework is raked out and 
repointed with a lime based mortar. 
 
Fine crack running up the jamb past the head of window GFW13 to the jamb 
of window FFW17 mostly within the mortar joints but has cracked the corner 
off one facing stone.  Potentially thermal movement.  Rake out and repoint 
crack joint. 

 

                               
 

       
 
Stone jamb damaged in top corner to window SFW10. 
 
Feature stone string course at high level is weather eroded and has small 
pieces missing at various locations along it’s length.  The string has little water 
shedding purpose and is considered satisfactory for now. 

 
6.8  East wing, West gable elevation: 

Close access denied. However it was possible to see from a distance using 
binoculars the vast majority of the facing stonework is in fair to good condition, 
flush pointed. 
 
There are very few stones showing weather eroded damage to the face around 
the elevation.  Wall appears true to line and level.       

       
6.9  Link Building, South elevation: 

Close access denied.  Again, it was possible to see via use of binoculars the 
vast majority of the facing stonework is in fair to good condition, flush pointed.  
Walls appear relatively true to line and level. 
 
 

Page 101



 
 
There are a few stones showing weather eroded damage to the face 
sporadically positioned around the elevation.  The erosion is relatively minor 
and should be monitored long term as the stone does not appear to be 
currently attributing to water ingress. 
 

                                   
 
The face of stone lintel over door GFD4 is eroded with some loss of definition.  
The lintel has received mortar repairs which are now failing. It would be 
desirable to carry out some stone indent and mortar repairs on this feature 
entrance lintel. 

 

        
 
Iron lamp bracket is in poor condition and needs a full refurbishment. 
Lower string course over windows has wide cement rich pointing which is 
inappropriate and needs removing and repointing in a lime based mortar. 
 
Recent pointing work appears to be in a cement rich mix contrary to good 
conservation recommendations.  These areas should be monitored for signs 
of accelerated erosion of stonework and removed at a later date if necessary. 
 
Below the first floor string a wide cement based ‘strap pointed’ joint has been 
applied.  This should be removed and repointed in lime based mortar. 
 
Feature porch gable stonework is eroded at high level window head and verge 
copings but considered satisfactory  
 
2 no. holes are present at first floor level assumed to be formed to allow 
insertion of internal steelwork.  Holes to be made good to match existing 
construction. 

 
6.10  West wing, East elevation: 

Access denied in this area and obstructed line of sight made it hard to assess 
the condition accurately. However, the facing stonework where visible appears 
to be in fair to poor condition, flush pointed. Two areas water soaked and 
showing green mould due to gutter leaks. 

 
6.11  West wing, South elevation: 

Very little of the facing stonework is visible due to overgrown vegetation. 
However, the facing stonework that was visible appears to be in fair to good 
condition, flush pointed. Overgrown with ivy up to verge level. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 
 
Repair Needs: West wing, West elevation: 
   

1. GFW3 and window surround:  Outward movement to be 
monitored. 
 

 
E 
 

2. Fine cracking to left hand side and below FFW5 to 
monitor for further movement. 
 

 
E 

3. Cut out 3 no. makeshift brick airgrates and replace with 
decorative steel grilles. 
 

 
D 

 
West wing, North elevation: 
 

4. GFW5:  Replace lower stone mullion and right hand 
stone transom and repoint. 
 

 
D 

 
Link Building, west elevation: 
 

5. Cut out brickwork infill to ground floor quoins and rebuild 
in matching stonework. 
 

 
D 

6. Complete external leaf stonework and consolidate wall 
to eaves level; inserting stainless steel remedial ties as 
work proceeds. 
 

 
 

E 

7. Remove triangular verge walling 2.5m2 approximately 
and replace with matching stonework. 
 

 
D 

8. Reconstruct porch masonry from door head level 
upwards and all masonry repointed.  Work to be carried 
out in conjunction with re-roofing and roof timber repairs. 
 

 
 

E 

 
Link Building, North elevation and return walls: 
 

9. Reconstruct external leaf incorporating planned windows 
and chimney stack complete to all areas shown in 
drawing no. (0-) 05 and repoint all areas on completion. 
 

 
 

E 

10. Remove temporary blockwork screen and remove waste 
arising and reinstate ground to former levels. 
 

 
E 

 
East wing, North elevation: 
 

11. Upper gable: Rake out and repoint all masonry joints in 
lime based mortar. 
 

 
D 

 
East wing, East elevation: 
 

12. Movement from head of GFW9 to cill of window FFW11 
to be monitored. 
 

 
E 

13. Window FFW12, upper jamb, indent large spalled 
section. 

D 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103



 
 
East wing, South elevation: 
 

14. Descale all loose stonework and rake out and repoint 
entire gable lime based mortar. 

 
E 

 
 
Link Building, South elevation: 
 

15. Due to use of cement rich mortar pointing, monitor 
performance of stonework for accelerated erosion. 
 

E 
 

16. Porch, door lintel GFD4:  Remove cement mortar and 
repair with traditional lime based mortar repair.  Replace 
adjacent quoin block. 
 

 
 

D 

17. Refurbish lamp bracket and refix. D 
 

18. Cut out cement rich strap pointing below first floor string 
course and repoint flush in lime based mortar. 
 

 
E 

19. Make good 2 no. holes at first floor level in matching 
stonework, consolidating inner leaf and wall core. 

 
E 

 
 

West wing, East and South Elevations: 
 
  

20. Remove ivy and eradicated root system.  Make good 
pointing as required in lime based mortar. 

 
E 

 

 
 
 

Page 104



BARNSLEY METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPEALS 
 

01 to August to 30 August 2020 
 
APPEALS RECEIVED 
 
4 appeals were received in August 2020 
 

Reference Details Method of 

Appeal 

Committee/ 

Delegated 

2020/0270 Erection of detached garage/workshop (re-submission) 
39 Mayfield, Oxspring, Barnsley, S36 8YN 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

2019/1262 Demolition of 49 Woodstock Road and residential development 
of 3 no. dwellings (Outline with all matters reserved apart from 
means of access) 
51 Woodstock Road, Wilthorpe, Barnsley, S75 1DX 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

2020/0110 Erection of outbuilding to be used as a store, games area and 
hobby workshop (Application for a Lawful Development 
Certificate for a Proposed Development) 
4 Burton Crescent, Monk Bretton, Barnsley, S71 2QD 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

2020/0464 Attachment of insulation boarding to front of property, including 
front and sides of porch, and rendered an off white colour 
9 Windermere Road, Penistone, Barnsley, S36 8HL 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

 
APPEALS WITHDRAWN 
 

0 appeals were withdrawn in August 2020  
 

APPEALS DECIDED   
 

6 appeal were decided in August 2020 
 

Reference Details Decision Committee/ 

Delegated 

2019/0203 Demolition of existing building and erection of 19 no. dwellings 
and associated access and landscaping 
A and E White Bakers Ltd., Charles Street, Worsbrough 
Bridge, Barnsley, S70 5AF 

Dismissed 
03/08/2020 

Delegated 

2019/1322 Single storey rear extension with a flat roof (Part Retrospective) 
31 Croft Close, Mapplewell, Barnsley, S75 6FN 

Dismissed 
05/08/2020 

Delegated 

2019/1411 Two storey side extension including provision of integral garage 
6 Fearnley Road, Hoyland Common, Barnsley, S74 0AU 

Allowed 
05/08/2020 

Delegated 

2019/1479 Erection of wooden fence (Retrospective) 
2 Inglewood, Darton, Barnsley, S75 5NY 

Dismissed 
05/08/2020 

Delegated 

2020/0213 Erection of digital advertisement board on gable wall 
FG Tyres and Garage, Race Street, Barnsley, S70 1BY 

Dismissed  
11/08/2020 

Delegated 

2020/0012 Extension to existing building to create a third storey to allow the 
formation of 2 no. additional flats and alterations to access and 
parking provision 
Land at 21 to 24 Wentworth View, Wentworth View, 
Wombwell,  Barnsley, S73 0LA 

Dismissed 
12/08/2020 

Delegated 

 

 
 
 

Page 105

Item 6



2020/2021 Cumulative Appeal Totals 
 

 15 appeals have been decided since 01 April 2020 

 14 appeals (93%) have been dismissed since 01 April 2020 

 1 appeals (7%) have been allowed since 01 April 2020 
 

 Audit Details Decision Committee/ 
Delegated 

1 2019/0906 Removal of existing outbuildings and erection of two storey 
detached dwelling and associated works including provision 
of new private drive. 
119 Cross Lane, Royston, Barnsley, S71 4AR 

Dismissed 
06/04/2020 

Delegated 

2 2019/1221 Erection of detached double garage 
Martins Nest Farm, Grime Lane, Whitley Common, 
Barnsley, HD9 7TG 

Dismissed 
09/04/2020 

Delegated 

3 2019/0864 Erection of detached 1 ½ storey building to be used as 
motorcycle garage at ground floor and storage within attic 
space 
South Grove House, South Grove Drive, Hoyland, 
Barnsley, S74 9DY 

Dismissed 
06/05/2020 

Delegated 

4 2019/1106 Erection of double garage 
Middle Farm, Edderthorpe Lane, Darfield, Barnsley, S71 
5EY 

Dismissed 
01/06/2020 

Delegated 

5 2019/1102 Erection of detached triple garage 
54 Jebb Lane, Haigh, Barnsley, S75 4BU 

Dismissed 
02/06/2020 

Delegated 

6 2019/0239 Residential development of 250 dwellings with associated 
access, parking, engineering, landscaping and ancillary 
works. 
Land to the south of Lee Lane, Royston, Barnsley 

Dismissed 
17/06/2020 

None 
Determination 

7 2019/0712 Change of use of dwelling (use class C3) to a mixture of a 
dwelling and a venue for wedding/civil ceremonies, seasonal 
events and afternoon teas (use classes C3, A3 and Sui 
Generis) The Hawthorns, Keresforth Hall Road, 
Kingstone, Barnsley, S70 6NG 

Dismissed 
01/07/2020 

Delegated 

8 2019/0769 Extension of garage to enable conversion into residential 
annex associated with No.7 Hall Close (Listed Building 
Consent)  
7 Hall Close, Worsbrough Village, Barnsley, S70 5LN 

Dismissed 
13/07/2020 

Delegated 

9 2018/0380 Erection of 1 residential dwelling and associated 
infrastructure (Amended Plans) 
Land to rear of The Greenland Cottage, High Hoyland 
Lane, High Hoyland, Barnsley 

Dismissed 
31/07/2020 

Delegated 

10 2019/0203 Demolition of existing building and erection of 19 no. 
dwellings and associated access and landscaping 
A and E White Bakers Ltd., Charles Street, Worsbrough 
Bridge, Barnsley, S70 5AF 

Dismissed 
03/08/2020 

Delegated 

11 2019/1322 Single storey rear extension with a flat roof (Part 
Retrospective) 
31 Croft Close, Mapplewell, Barnsley, S75 6FN 

Dismissed 
05/08/2020 

Delegated 

12 2019/1411 Two storey side extension including provision of integral 
garage 
6 Fearnley Road, Hoyland Common, Barnsley, S74 0AU 

Allowed 
05/08/2020 

Delegated 

13 2019/1479 Erection of wooden fence (Retrospective) 
2 Inglewood, Darton, Barnsley, S75 5NY 

Dismissed 
05/08/2020 

Delegated 

14 2020/0213 Erection of digital advertisement board on gable wall 
FG Tyres and Garage, Race Street, Barnsley, S70 1BY 

Dismissed  
11/08/2020 

Delegated 

15 2020/0012 Extension to existing building to create a third storey to allow 
the formation of 2 no. additional flats and alterations to 
access and parking provision 

Dismissed 
12/08/2020 

Delegated 

Page 106



Land at 21 to 24 Wentworth View, Wentworth View, 
Wombwell,  Barnsley, S73 0LA 

 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



BARNSLEY METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPEALS 
 

01 to September to 30 September 2020 
 
APPEALS RECEIVED 
 
7 appeals were received in September 2020 
 

Reference Details Method of 

Appeal 

Committee/ 

Delegated 

2020/0161 Change of use of agricultural barn to dwelling (Prior 
Notification Change of Use) 
Land off Hartcliffe Lane, Hillside, Thurlstone, Sheffield, 
S36 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

2020/0464 Attachment of insulation boarding to front of property, including 

front and sides of porch, and rendered an off white colour 

9 Windermere Road, Penistone, Barnsley, S36 8HL 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

2020/0487 Erection of two storey extension to rear of dwelling 

26 Harry Road, Gawber, Barnsley, S75 2PA 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

2019/1415 Loose boxes for agricultural purposes. 
Land at Thurlstone Road, Penistone, Sheffield S36 9EF 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

2019/1260 Demolition of 49 Woodstock Road and residential development 
of 3 no. dwellings (Outline with all matters reserved apart from 
means of access) 
51 Woodstock Road, Wilthorpe, Barnsley, S75 1DX 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

2020/0489 Demolition of stables and erection of 1 no. dwelling. 
Land off Bar Lane, Mapplewell, Barnsley, S75 6DQ 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

2020/0492 Rendering to front elevation of dwelling. 
24 Field Drive, Cudworth, Barnsley, S72 8RH 

Written 

Reps 

Delegated 

 
APPEALS WITHDRAWN 
 

0 appeals were withdrawn in September 2020  
 

APPEALS DECIDED 
 
1 appeal was decided in September 2020 
 

Reference Details Decision Committee/ 

Delegated 

2019/1453 Erection of two storey dwellinghouse and associated works 
Land at Station Road, Lundwood, Barnsley, S71 5LD 

Dismissed 
22/09/2020 

Delegated 

 

 
2020/2021 Cumulative Appeal Totals 
 

 16 appeals have been decided since 01 April 2020 

 15 appeals (94%) have been dismissed since 01 April 2020 

 1 appeals (6%) have been allowed since 01 April 2020 
 

 

Page 109



 Audit Details Decision Committee/ 
Delegated 

1 2019/0906 Removal of existing outbuildings and erection of two storey 
detached dwelling and associated works including provision 
of new private drive. 
119 Cross Lane, Royston, Barnsley, S71 4AR 

Dismissed 
06/04/2020 

Delegated 

2 2019/1221 Erection of detached double garage 
Martins Nest Farm, Grime Lane, Whitley Common, 
Barnsley, HD9 7TG 

Dismissed 
09/04/2020 

Delegated 

3 2019/0864 Erection of detached 1 ½ storey building to be used as 
motorcycle garage at ground floor and storage within attic 
space 
South Grove House, South Grove Drive, Hoyland, 
Barnsley, S74 9DY 

Dismissed 
06/05/2020 

Delegated 

4 2019/1106 Erection of double garage 
Middle Farm, Edderthorpe Lane, Darfield, Barnsley, S71 
5EY 

Dismissed 
01/06/2020 

Delegated 

5 2019/1102 Erection of detached triple garage 
54 Jebb Lane, Haigh, Barnsley, S75 4BU 

Dismissed 
02/06/2020 

Delegated 

6 2019/0239 Residential development of 250 dwellings with associated 
access, parking, engineering, landscaping and ancillary 
works. 
Land to the south of Lee Lane, Royston, Barnsley 

Dismissed 
17/06/2020 

None 
Determination 

7 2019/0712 Change of use of dwelling (use class C3) to a mixture of a 
dwelling and a venue for wedding/civil ceremonies, seasonal 
events and afternoon teas (use classes C3, A3 and Sui 
Generis) The Hawthorns, Keresforth Hall Road, 
Kingstone, Barnsley, S70 6NG 

Dismissed 
01/07/2020 

Delegated 

8 2019/0769 Extension of garage to enable conversion into residential 
annex associated with No.7 Hall Close (Listed Building 
Consent)  
7 Hall Close, Worsbrough Village, Barnsley, S70 5LN 

Dismissed 
13/07/2020 

Delegated 

9 2018/0380 Erection of 1 residential dwelling and associated 
infrastructure (Amended Plans) 
Land to rear of The Greenland Cottage, High Hoyland 
Lane, High Hoyland, Barnsley 

Dismissed 
31/07/2020 

Delegated 

10 2019/0203 Demolition of existing building and erection of 19 no. 
dwellings and associated access and landscaping 
A and E White Bakers Ltd., Charles Street, Worsbrough 
Bridge, Barnsley, S70 5AF 

Dismissed 
03/08/2020 

Delegated 

11 2019/1322 Single storey rear extension with a flat roof (Part 
Retrospective) 
31 Croft Close, Mapplewell, Barnsley, S75 6FN 

Dismissed 
05/08/2020 

Delegated 

12 2019/1411 Two storey side extension including provision of integral 
garage 
6 Fearnley Road, Hoyland Common, Barnsley, S74 0AU 

Allowed 
05/08/2020 

Delegated 

13 2019/1479 Erection of wooden fence (Retrospective) 
2 Inglewood, Darton, Barnsley, S75 5NY 

Dismissed 
05/08/2020 

Delegated 

14 2020/0213 Erection of digital advertisement board on gable wall 
FG Tyres and Garage, Race Street, Barnsley, S70 1BY 

Dismissed  
11/08/2020 

Delegated 

15 2020/0012 Extension to existing building to create a third storey to allow 
the formation of 2 no. additional flats and alterations to 
access and parking provision 
Land at 21 to 24 Wentworth View, Wentworth View, 
Wombwell,  Barnsley, S73 0LA 

Dismissed 
12/08/2020 

Delegated 

16 2019/1453 Erection of two storey dwellinghouse and associated works 
Land at Station Road, Lundwood, Barnsley, S71 5LD 

Dismissed 
22/09/2020 

Delegated 

 

Page 110



BARNSLEY METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

SUMMARY OF OUTCOMES - PLANNING APPLICATIONS AGENDA PACK ISSUED AS 
A BOARD MEMBER CONSULTATION IN ADVANCE OF THE PLANNING REGULATORY 

BOARD MEETING HELD ON 1st SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
 
LIST OF APPLICATIONS WITHIN THE AGENDA PACK:- 
 

Reference Details Committee/ 

Delegated 

2020/0765 Variation of condition 8 relating to opening hours on 
planning application 2019/0518 'Erection of a 1,394 sq.m 
(gross) retail unit (Use Class A1) with access, car parking, 
hard and soft landscaping, trolley bays, electricity 
substation and associated works 
Former Goldthorpe Primary School Site, High Street, 
Goldthorpe,  
 
Summary of consultation comments received:- 
 
1. Comment supporting recommendation 
 
Officer response – Comment noted to be in line with 
Officer recommendation 
 
 

To proceed delegated for 

approval in accordance with 

the officer recommendation 

and subject to the signing of 

the S106 and conditions set 

out in the officer report. 

2020/0257 Change of use of building from residential (one-
bedroomed dwelling) into an office including external 
changes to building and user access. 
39 John Street, Great Houghton, Barnsley 
 
Summary of consultation comments received:- 
 
1. Comment supporting recommendation 
 
Officer response – Comment noted to be in line with 
Officer recommendation 
 
2. Comment declaring an interest 
 
Officer response – Comment noted. 
 
 

To proceed delegated for 

approval in accordance with 

the officer recommendation 

and conditions set out in the 

officer report. 

2020/0409 Alterations to shop front. 
The Glass Works, Unit SU3, Cheapside, Barnsley 
 
Summary of consultation comments received:- 
 
1. Comment Supporting recommendation 
 
Officer response – Comment noted to be in line with 
Officer recommendation 
 

To proceed delegated for 

approval in accordance with 

the officer recommendation 

and subject to the conditions 

set out in the officer report 

2020/0069 

(Full) and 

Conversion of building into 17no self-contained flats and 
associated internal and external alterations 
Holden House, Race Street, Barnsley, 
 
Summary of consultation comments received:- 

To proceed delegated for 

approval in accordance with 

the officer recommendation 

and subject to the signing of 

Page 111

Item 7



2020/0071  

(Listed 

Building) 

 
1. Comment supporting recommendation 
 
Officer response – Comment noted to be in line with 
Officer recommendation 
 

the S106 and conditions set 

out in the officer report. 

 
 
Signed: 
 

 
 
 
Joe Jenkinson 
Head of Planning and Building Control 

Page 112


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	3. Land to the west of Sheffield Road, Hoyland, Barnsley - 2020/0647 - For approval
	4. Mount Vernon Hospital Mount Vernon Road, Worsborough - 2019/0577 - For approval
	5. Proposed Listed Building Enforcement (Repairs) Notice, Worsbrough Hall, Worsbrough Village
	Repairs Notice dated XX October 2020 - Worsbrough Hall
	Schedule 1 October 2020
	SCHEDULE 2 October 2020 REPAIRS SCHED Wors Hall

	6. Planning Appeals - August and September 2020
	PRB Appeals September 2020

	7. Member Consultations September 2020

